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ACT OF 1934
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or
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PART |

Item 1. Business
General

PFSweb is a leading provider of outsourcing sumpply chain solutions. PFSweb’s service breamfludes logistics and fulfillment, freight
and transportation management, real-time order geanant, kitting and assembly, customer care, fa@lerations and management, tlkey
web-commerce infrastructure, payment processindiaadcial services and more. Collectively, we defour offering as Business Process
Outsourcing because we extend our clients infragtre and technology capabilities, addressing dinegnusiness transaction cycle from
demand generation to product delivery. Our solgisumpport both business-to-business (“B2B”) andnass-to-consumer (“B2C”) sales
channels.

PFSweb serves as the “brand behind the bifandbmpanies seeking to increase their operatiefiisiencies. As a business process
outsourcer, we offer scalable and cost-effectivetgms for manufacturers, distributors, onlineaitetlrs and direct marketing organizations
across a wide range of industry segments, fromwuoes goods to aviation. We provide our clients vegtamless and transparent solutions to
support their business strategies, allowing thefodas on their core competencies. Leveraging PB&iechnology, expertise and proven
methodologies, we enable client organizations telig and deploy new products, and implement nesinegs strategies or address new
distribution channels rapidly and efficiently thgfuour optimized solutions. Our clients engageath bs a consulting partner to assist them in
the design of a business solution as well as aalignd physical infrastructure partner providihg mission critical operations required to bi
and manage that business solution. Together, weniptelp our clients define new ways of doingibass, but also provide them the
technology, physical infrastructure and profesdioasources necessary to quickly implement this hasiness model. We allow our clients to
quickly and dramatically change how they ‘go-to-kedr

Each client has a unique business model aimpli@rstrategic objectives that require highly cogized solutions. PFSweb supports clients in
a wide array of industries including technologydwots, consumer goods, aviation, collectibles, tyxgoods, food and beverage, apparel and
home furnishings. These clients turn to PFSwelhé&p in addressing a variety of business issudsrthiide customer satisfaction and
retention, time-definite logistics, vendor managedntory and integration, supply chain compresstmst model realignments, transportation
management and international expansion, amongothég also act as a constructive agent of changeiding clients the ability to alter their
current distribution model, establish direct redaships with end-customers, and reduce the ovaredl and costs associated with existing
distribution channel strategies. Our clients aeks®y solutions that will provide them with dynansigpply chain and multi-channel marketing
efficiencies, while ultimately delivering a worldass customer service experience.

Our technology and business infrastructurerof is flexible, reliable and fully scalable. $Hiexibility allows us to design custom, varis
cost solutions to fit the business requirementsufclients’ strategies. We earn revenue from tigtirttt business segments, yet operationally
similar business models:

. First, we earn service fee revenues from chargpsoiwess individual business transactions on dents behalf through our technolc
and infrastructure capabilities. These business#etions may include the answering of a phoneocalh e-mail, the design and
hosting of a client web-site, the receipt and geraf a client’s inventory, the kitting and asseyndfl products to meet a client’s
customer’s specifications, the shipping of produetsur client’s customer base, the managementohgplex set of electronic data
transactions designed to keep our client’'s supph@d customers accounting records in balancéegorbcessing of a returned
package. In the service fee revenue business ségwedo not own the inventory or the resultingaots receivable, but provide
management services for these c-owned asset:

. Secondly, we earn product revenue through outendsstributor relationship with certain clients.the product revenue business
segment, we purchase inventory and upon sale gfrtiduct, own the accounts receivable. We haventiscexpanded our product
revenue business segment in 2006 through our Fgb2086 merger with eCOST.com, Inc. ("*eCOST"), altincategory online
discount retailer of nev“close-out” and refurbished bra-name merchandise and other prodi
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Our capabilities are expansive. To offer trestmecessary and resourceful solutions to ountslieve are continually developing capabili
to meet the pressing business issues in the méaketgOur business objective is to focus on “Legdire Evolution of Outsourcing.” As our
tagline suggests, we will continue to evolve ouwise offering to meet the needs of the marketpkaue the demands of unique client
requirements. We are most successful when we deeefew capability to enable a client to pursuew mitiative and we are then able to
leverage that revolutionary development acrossratlient or prospect solutions, as it becomes “peattice” in the marketplace. Our team of
experts design and build diverse solutions for loet1000, Global 2000 and major brand name clieraisnd a flexible core of technology and
physical infrastructure that includes:

. Technology collaboration provided by our suitdexfhnology services, called the Entente Suite($ht, are e-commerce and
collaboration services that enable buyers and gergpb fully automate their business transactisitkin their supply chain. Entente
supports industry standard collaboration technidgnelsiding XML based protocols such as Biztalk &abettaNet, real-time
application interfaces, text file exchanges viaused FTP, and traditional electronic data intergea“EDI”);

. Managed hosting and Internet application develogrservices, including web site design, creatiotedgnation and ongoin
maintenance, support and enhancement of web

. Order management, including order processing fagnsource of entry, back order processing anddutrder processing, tracking
and tracing, credit management, electronic paymertessing, calculation and collection of salesatack VAT, comprehensive freight
calculation and email naotification, all with muligcurrency and language optio

. Customer Relationship Management (“CRM"), inchglinteractive voice response (“IVR”) technologydameb-enabled customer
contact services through world-class call centélizing voice, e-mail, voice over internet protd¢tvOIP”) and internet chat
communications that are fully integrated with réale systems and historical data archives to peemmplete customer lifecycle
managemen

. International fulfillment and distribution sereis, including warehouse management, inventory neanegt, vendor managed
inventory, inventory postponement, product warelraysorder picking and packing, freight and tramsgiion management and
reverse logistics

. Facility Operations and Management (“FOM”) thatludes process reengineering, facility designeargineering and employee
administration

. Kitting and assembly services, including light asbéy, procurement services, Supplier Relationshgnlyement, specialized kittir
and supplier consigned inventory hub in our distiitn facilities or c-located in other facilities

. Information management, including r-time data interfaces, data exchange services aadaing;

. Financial services, including secure on-line itre@rd processing related services, fraud prasecinvoicing, credit management and
collection, and working capital solutions; a

. Professional consulting services, including a ctinue team of experts that customize solutionsaoh client and continuously se
out ways to increase efficiencies and produce litsrfef the client

We are headquartered in Plano, Texas wherexagautive and administrative offices are locatewvall as our primary technology
laboratories and hosting facilities. We operatéestd-the-art call centers from our U.S. facilitiesated in Plano, Texas, and Memphis,
Tennessee, and from our international facility tedan Liege, Belgium. We have approximately 2.0ioni square feet of warehouse space in
our leased and managed facilities in Memphis, Tdutgaven, MS, Grapevine, TX, Toronto, Canada aegé,i Belgium allowing us to provi
global distribution solutions. The majority of tieedistribution facilities are highly automated amhtain state of the art material handling and
communications equipment. We provide solutiondients that are often regarded as market leadeassariety of different industries.

2
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Industry Overview

Business activities in the public and priveg¢etors continue to operate in an environmentmitireechnological advancement, increasing
competition and continuous pressure to improveatpey and supply chain efficiency while decreagingts. We currently see the following
trends within the industry:

. Manufacturers strive to restructure their supgigins to maximize efficiency and reduce costsihiB2B and B2C markets and to
create a variable-cost supply chain able to sughertultiple, unique needs of each of their itii@s, including traditional and
electronic commerc

. Companies in a variety of industries seek outsogras a method to address one or more busines8dns that are not within their
core business competencies, to reduce operatitig ot improve the speed or cost of implementa

Supply Chain Management Trend

As companies maintain focus on improving theisinesses and balance sheet financial ratiasfisant efforts and investments continue to
be made identifying ways to maximize supply chdfitiency and extend supply chain processes. Warkiapital financing, vendor managed
inventory, supply chain visibility software solutig, distribution channel skipping, direct to consucommerce sales initiatives, and comj
upstream supply chain collaborative technologypaeglucts that manufacturers seek to help them eelyeeater supply chain efficiency.

A key business challenge facing many manufacsiand retailers as they evaluate their suppyncéifficiency is in determining how the
trend toward increased direct-to-customer busiaessity will impact their traditional B2B and B2 mmerce business models. Order
management and small package fulfillment and digtidon capabilities are becoming increasingly intpor processes as this trend evolves. We
believe manufacturers will look to outsource thr&in-core competency functions to support this miedibusiness model. Forrester Research
reports US online retail sales, which they defiad82C sales of goods including auctions and travidlgrow from $172 billion in 2005 to
$329 billion in 2010. Without travel, online sal&8l grow to $210 billion in 2010, accounting fof/Qof total retail sales. They attribute this
growth to the rapid pace of consumer adoption afre@erce, cataloguers aggressive campaigns to udeotthe benefits of eCommerce
shopping, the higher earning/higher spending deapigcs of Web buyers and the convenience buyedsaith online shopping. We believe
that companies will continue to strategically ptanthe impact that e-commerce and other new tdolggcadvancements will have on their
traditional commerce business models and theitiagisechnology and infrastructure capabilities.

Manufacturers, as buyers of materials, are iatposing new business practices and policieshein supplier partners in order to shift the
normal supply chain costs and risks associated imwithntory ownership away from their own balanceeth. Through techniques like Vendor
Managed Inventory (“VMI”) or Consigned Inventorydgrams (“CIP”), manufacturers are asking their siepp as a part of the supplier
selection process, to provide capabilities wheeentlanufacturer need not own, or even possess,tiomyeprior to the exact moment that unit of
inventory is required as a raw material componeffdoshipping to a customer. To be successfulfbparties, business models such as these
often require a sophisticated collection of tecbgalal capabilities that allow for complete intetipa and collaboration of the information
technology environments of both the buyer and sapgfor example, for an inventory unit to arrivelee precise required moment in the
manufacturing facility, it is necessary for the Méacturing Resource Planning (“MRPsystems of the manufacturer to integrate with tR&X
systems of the supplier. When hundreds of suppleiners are involved, this process can become gaihplex and technologically
challenging. Buyers and suppliers are seeking isoisithat utilize XML based protocols like BiztaRpsettaNet and other traditional EDI
standards in order to ensure an open systems ipletf@t promotes easier technology integratiomésé collaborative solutions.

Outsourcing Trend

In response to growing competitive pressunestachnological innovations, we believe many comgs both large and small, are focusing
their critical resources on the core competendi¢eir business and utilizing business processawting to accelerate their business plans in
a cost-effective manner and perform non-core bgsine
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functions. Outsourcing provides many key beneifitsluding the ability to:
. Enter new business markets or geographic areadlya
. Increase flexibility to meet changing business dtorks and demand for products and servi
. Enhance customer satisfaction and gain competiilvantage
. Reduce capital and personnel investments and cofixed investments to variable cos
. Improve operating performance and efficiency;

. Capitalize on skills, expertise and technologyasfructure that would otherwise be unavailablexpeasive given the scale of t
business

As a result, the market for business processonrcing services continues to grow. Internati@rata Corporation (“IDC”) predicts that the
worldwide business process outsourcing (“BPQO”) reawkill reach $641.2 billion in 2009, an 11% annimarease from the estimated $382.5
billion spent in 2004.

According to IDC’s Worldwide and U.S. Businéa®cess Outsourcing Forecast, the market hasthomegh profound changes in recent
years that have forced companies to reevaluatelibsiness operations. Many companies have beg‘explore and evaluate the applicability
of BPO to their business operations and its roleeiping them achieve the new goals they are thgnkbout. This process is causing
unprecedented demand for BPO services across aegpanding list of business functions.”

Typically, outsourcing service providers aseudsed on a single function, such as informatichrielogy, call center management, credit
card processing, warehousing or package delivérig fbcus creates several challenges for compéaéing to outsource more than one of
these functions, including the need to manage pialbutsourcing service providers, to share infaromewith service providers and to integt
that information into their internal systems. Adualially, the delivery of these multiple servicessnhhbe transparent to the customer and enable
the client to maintain brand recognition and cusiohayalty. According to IDC, the ability to proveda total package of services continues
one of the key buying trends of BPO services. Faurttore, traditional commerce outsourcers are fretiyproviders of domestic-only services
versus international solutions. As a result, congmrequiring global solutions must establish addél relationships with other outsourcing
parties.

Another vital point for major brand name comigsa seeking to outsource is the protection of theind. When looking for an outsourcing
partner to provide infrastructure solutions, braathe companies must find a company that can etiseisame quality performance and
superior experience that their customers expeat fteeir brands. Working with an outsourcing partregjuires finding a partner that can
maintain the consistency of their brand image, Whscone of the most valuable intangible assetsréwgnized brand name companies
possess.

The PFSweb Solution
PFSweb serves as the “brand behind the bifandbmpanies seeking to increase the efficienafed| aspects of their supply chain.

Our value proposition is to become an extensioour clients’ businesses by delivering a sugregkperience that increases and enhances
sales and market growth, customer satisfactioncastbmer retention. We act as both a virtual aptyaical infrastructure for our clients’
businesses. By utilizing our services, our cliarsable to:

Quickly Capitalize on Market Opportunitiedur solutions empower clients to rapidly implemtair supply chain and e-commerce
strategies and to take advantage of opportunitifeut lengthy integration and implementation effoWe have ready built technology and
physical infrastructure that is flexible in its dgs which facilitates quick integration and implemtation. The PFSweb solution is designed to
allow our clients to deliver consistent quality\dee as transaction volumes grow and also to hashaily and seasonal peak periods. Through
our international locations, our clients can dedlit products almost anywhere in the world.

Improve the Customer Experient®e enable our clients to provide their customet wihigh-touch, positive buying experience thereby
maintaining and promoting brand loyalty. Through ose of advanced technology, we can respond birectustomer inquiries by e-mail,
voice or data communication and assist them witlirmordering and product information. We offer @lients a “world-class” level of
service, including 24-hour, seven-




Table of Contents

day-a-week, Web-enabled customer care servicersentetailed CRM reporting and exceptional ordeusaacy. We have significant
experience in the development of Internet web $itasallows us to recommend features and functioaisare easily navigated and understood
by our client’s customers. Our technology platfasndesigned to ensure high levels of reliabilitg dast response times for our clients’
customers. Because our technology is “world-clagst’clients benefit from being able to offer theekt in customer communication and
response conveniences to their customers.

Minimize Investment and Improve Operating EfficieagOne of the most significant benefits that outsaugdb us provides is the ability
transform fixed costs into variable costs. By efiating the need to invest in a fixed capital infirasture, our clients’ costs typically become
directly correlated with volume increases or desdinFurther, as volume increases drive the den@rgtéater infrastructure or capacity, we
able to quickly deploy additional resources. Wevjge services to multiple clients, which enablesausffer our clients economies of scale,
resulting cost efficiency, that they may not hagerbable to obtain on their own. Additionally, besa of the large number of daily transacti
we process, we have been able to justify investsianevels of automation, security surveillancgality control processes and transportation
carrier interfaces that are typically outside tbals of investment that our clients might be abledst justify on their own. These additional
capabilities can provide our clients the benefitsrthanced operating performance and efficienauced inventory shrinkage, and expanded
customer service options.

Access a Sophisticated Technology Infrastructdfe.provide our clients with ready access to a stated technology infrastructure
through our Entente Suite, which is designed terfate seamlessly with their systems. We providecbents with vital product and customer
information that can be immediately available terthon their own systems or through web based gragsar interfaces for use in data mining,
analyzing sales and marketing trends, monitoringmtory levels and performing other managementtfans.

The PFSweb Strategy

We continue to maintain our simple but effeetstrategy statement to drive our actions foryéer, QGP. This acronym stands for Quality,
Growth and Profit. We believe that if we can ackieutstanding performance on these three basieeksithey will provide for a stable
foundation for our future. As the evolution of dwrsiness model continues, we will remain focusethese three fundamentals:

Quality : To exceed our client’s service level requirememtd enhance the value of their “bramdiile providing their customers a positi
memorable and efficient experience.

Growth: To increase our revenue and gross profit fronsutsent levels. To aggressively market simplifigdduct messages to drive new
clients and revenue and profit growth. To becortegger company and create career and additionaloyiment opportunitieS. Embrace
strategic partnering to accentuate strengths andmnizie weaknesses.

Profit: To generate positive cash flow and continue teatior consistent profitable results. To incredsevalue of our company for all of
its stakeholders while rewarding our team membéifs ehallenging, fun and memorable life experiences

In alignment with these strategies, we congglet merger with eCOST on February 1, 2006. eC@&Tieéading multi-category online
discount retailer of high quality new, “close-oatid refurbished brand-name merchandise. eCOSTntlyridfers over 100,000 products in
twelve primary merchandise categories, includingpoter hardware and software, home electronicg#atlighaging, watches and jewelry,
housewares, DVD movies, video games, travel, bedath, apparel and accessories, licensed spatsagd cellular/wireless. Additionally,
eCOST offers other categories of products and sesyincluding pet supplies and flowers throughiower affiliate relationships. We believe
merger will provide substantial strategic bendfigscombining eCOST's supplier relationships, graywiustomer base and expansive e-
commerce platform with our advanced technology @wetational infrastructure thereby providing oumtxined company with the enhanced
ability to expand its market share in the fast gngiweb commerce market.
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See “Risk Factors” for a complete discussibrigk factors related to our ability to achiever abjectives and fulfill our business strategies.

PFSweb Services

We offer a comprehensive and integrated sbtisiness infrastructure solutions that are taddoeour clients’ specific needs and enable
them to quickly and efficiently implement their gy chain strategies. Our services include:

Technology CollaborationVe have created the Entente Suite, which illustrdte level of electronic cooperation that is polesivhen we
construct solutions with our clients using thisiealogy service offering. This set of technologwszes enables everything from order
processing and inventory reporting to total e-comumelesign and implementation. The Entente Suitepeises four key services—
EntenteWeb®, EntenteDirect®, EntenteMessage® anerfReport®.

EntenteWeb is a one-stop shop for the entoeremerce process, particularly for companies withsual needs or specific requests that are
not easily met by the typical e-commerce develofrpankages. EntenteWeb is a service utilizing euolutionary GlobalMerchant
Commerceware™ e-commerce software platform thgaiticularly focused to enable global commerceetyias with its extensive currency
and language functionality. EntenteDirect providisnts with a real-time, user-friendly interfacetlveen their system and our order
processing, warehouse management and relateddoactising real-time or batch processes, Ententehfesis a file exchange service for
clients using our warehousing and distributionlfaes. EntenteReport is a reporting and inquirgvgee particularly suited to companies that
need to put key e-commerce information into thedsaof business users, but do not have the IT reesuo facilitate the necessary data
extraction, manipulation and presentation. EnteapeR consists of an industry-standard browserébeasgort writer and a client-customized
data warehouse configuration.

The Entente Suite operates in an open systerisonment and features the use of industry-stahy®L, enabling customized eemmerce
solutions with minimal changes to a client’s system our Enterprise Resource Planning (“ERSy§tems. The result is a faster implemente
process. Additionally, by using XML, the Ententet8wffers companies a more robust electronic imfation transfer option than text file FTP
or EDI, although the text file FTP, EDI and othertsfer methods are still supported.

EntenteWeb Managed Hosting and Internet ApplicalenelopmentOur EntenteWeb service provides a complete e-comeneebsite
solution for our clients. We engage collaboratiwelth our clients to design, build, host, and managly branded, fully customized and fully
integrated e-commerce web applications for B2CB®28 channels. As with all major brand name compandensistency within the brand
image is vital; therefore, our web designers creatme stores that seamlessly integrate and milh®exact brand image of our clients.

We offer a broad range of hosting and supplarts that can be tailored to fit the needs of ediet. Utilizing IBM’s eServer xSeries
servers, Microsoft's.NET Technologies and our pietary GlobalMerchant Commerceware platform, wemnan a robust hosting
environment for our hosted client web site progsrtiAdditionally, our EntenteWeb service includiegesof-the-art web analytics via Web
Trends OnDemand — Enterprise Edition. This higlidyaaced and flexible analytics tool delivers thiiaal e-business information that our
clients need to maximize the effectiveness of theline store.

EntenteWeb is a complete front-to-back e-consmeervice that incorporates components rangiong the look of the user interface to
specific business purchasing, warehousing and sigpgeeds, enabling companies to define in exactdeheir desired e-commerce site
functionality.

Order Managemen®Our order management solutions provide clients witérfaces that allow for real-time informatiorirfeval, including
information on inventory, sales orders, shipmeaédivery, purchase orders, warehouse receiptspeugsthistory, accounts receivable and
credit lines. These solutions are seamlessly iategr
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with our web-enabled customer contact centerswidlp for the processing of orders through shopgiad, phone, fax, mail, email, web chat,
and other order receipt methods. As the informabiackbone for our total supply chain solution, on@nagement services can be used on a
stand alone basis or in conjunction with our othigsiness infrastructure offerings, including custorrontact, financial or distribution services.
In addition, for the B2B market, our technologytfdam provides a variety of order receipt methdust facilitate commerce within various
stages of the supply chain. Our systems providaliigy for both our clients and their customergriack the status of orders at any time. Our
services are transparent to our clients’ custoraedsare seamlessly integrated with our clientgrimal systems platforms and web sites. By
synchronizing these activities, we can capture@noslide critical customer information, including:

. Statistical measurements critical to creating dityueustomer experience, containing time order status, order exceptions, b
order tracking, allocation of product based oniigof online purchase and business rules, the o&dttastomer inquiries to purchases,
average order sizes and order response

. B2B supply chain management information criticaét@luating inventory positioning, for the purpageeducing inventory turns, at
assessing product flow through and -consumer deman

. Reverse logistics information including customesp@nse and reason for the return or rotation adyeband desired customer acti
. Detailed marketing information about what was swoid to whom it was sold, by location and prefereaod
. Web traffic reporting showing the number of vig“hits") received, areas visited, and products and infoomagquestec

Customer Relationship Managemeéme offer a completely customized CRM solution fiemts. Our CRM solution encompasses a full-
scale customer contact management service offaBgiell as a fully integrated customer analysigmm. All customer contacts are captured
and customer purchases are documented. Full-sgadeting on all customer transactions is availédtesvaluation purposes. Through each of
our customer touch-points, information can be aredyand processed for current or future use imiegsievaluation, product effectiveness and
positioning, and supply chain planning.

An important feature of evolving commerce r@mdhe ability for the customer to speak withwve Icustomer service representative. Our
experience has been that a majority of consumgngst¢hey visited the web location for informatjdout not all of those consumers chose to
place their order online. Our customer care sesvitiize features that integrate voice, e-maidlndard mail, data and Internet chat
communications to respond to and handle custonggiiries. Our customer care representatives ansarégyus questions, acting as virtual
representatives of our client’s organization, regeg order status, shipping, billing, returns amoduct information and availability as well as a
variety of other questions. For certain clients,haadle Level | and Level Il technical support. Eektechnical support involves assisting
clients’ customers with basic technical issues,coenputer application issues. Level Il support rimsplve a more in-depth question and
answer session with the customer. These customerepresentatives are certified in the appropagfications and have the ability to
evaluate hardware, compatibility and software iltetian issues. Our web-enabled customer care tdoby identifies each customer contact
automatically and routes it to the available custboare representative who is individually certifia the client’'s business and products. Our
web-enabled customer care centers are designédisour customer care representatives can handbeadelifferent clients and products in a
shared environment, thereby creating economy dé dsnefits for our clients as well as highly custred dedicated support models that
provide the ultimate customer experience and braimforcement. Our advanced technology also enahlesepresentatives to up-sell, cross-
sell and inform customers of other products andssapportunities. The web-enabled customer cartercerfully integrated into the data
management and order processing system, allowihgisibility into customer history and customeemds. Through this fully integrated
system, we are able to provide a complete CRM ismiut

With the need for efficiency and cost optintiza for many of our clients, we have integratedRl®(s another option for customer contacts.
IVR creates an “electronic workforce” with virtuadients that can assist customers with vital inféionaat any time of the day or night. IVR
allows for our clients’ customers to deal intereety with
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our system to handle basic customer inquiries, sisciccount balance, order status, shipment stattadpg requests, product and price
inquiries, and routine order entry for establisbagtomers. The inclusion of IVR to our service dffg allows us to offer a cost effective way
to handle high volume, low complexity calls.

International Fulfillment and Distribution Service&n integral part of our business process outsogrsaiutions is the warehousing and
distribution of inventory either owned by our clisor owned by us through our master distributtati@nships. We currently have more than
2.0 million square feet of leased or managed warshigpace domestically and internationally to stoigkprocess our and our clients’
inventory. We receive client inventory in our dilstition centers, verify shipment accuracy, unpautk audit packages (a process that includes
spot-checking a small percentage of the clientertory to validate piece counts and check for dawndgat may have occurred during
shipping, loading and unloading). Upon requestjngpect for other damages or defects, which malydecchecking fabric, stitching and
zippers for soft goods, or ‘testing’ power-up cafties for electronic items. We generally stock fale within one business day of unloading.
On behalf of our clients, we pick, pack and shigitleustomer orders and can provide customizedguang, inserts and promotional literature
for distribution with customer orders.

Our distribution facilities contain computextzsortation equipment, highly mobile pick-to-ligiatrts, powered material handling equipment,
scanning and bar-coding systems and automated gorsyén-line scales and x-ray equipment usedgpest shipment contents for automatic
accuracy checking. Our international distributi@mplexes include several advanced technology ermaects, such as radio frequency
technology in product receiving processing to easuacuracy, as well as an automated package roatith@ pick-to-light paperless order
fulfillment system. Our advanced distribution sysgeprovide us with the capability to warehousedereive number of stock keeping units
(SKUs) for our clients, ranging from large high-dader printers to small cosmetic compacts. Oulifies are flexibly configured to process
B2B and single pick B2C orders from the same céhdcation.

In addition to our advanced distribution sys¢e our pick-to-light carts and conveyor systemtias provide real time productivity
reporting, thereby providing our management teath thie tools to implement productivity standardar @cently expanded fleet of pick-to-
light carts also fully integrates with our Vertidaft Module (VLM), which is capable of stocking evtwo thousand SKUs. This combination
of computer-controlled equipment provides the seamintegration of our pick-to-light and mass siereapabilities. This unique combination
of technologies ensures high order accuracy fon ead every customer order.

During 2005, we warehoused, managed andladfiinore than $2.2 billion in client merchandisé &mansactions. Much of this does not
represent our revenue, but rather the revenueradlimmts’ transactions for whom we provided bussprocess outsourcing solutions. See
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations.”

During 2005, we relocated our primary B2B fiacifrom Memphis, Tennessee to Southaven, MisgEsiThis move, which immediately
increased our capacity, was into a newly constou8@9,000 square foot space with additional optfongxpansion. The new Southaven
facility has more clear height added cubic spatization, state-of-the-art lighting that increashe quality and volume of light while reducing
energy costs, and certain long-term tax incentdoféexed by the State of Mississippi. Southaven it@is the same proximity to all modes of
transportation compared with our Memphis facility.

Based upon our clients’ needs, we are ableki® advantage of a variety of shipping and dejivgtions, which range from next day service
to zone skipping to optimize transportation coétsr facilities and systems are equipped with medfisier functionality, allowing us to
integrate with all leading package carriers andrisi®a comprehensive freight and transportationagament offering. In addition, an
increasingly important function that we provide &wr clients is reverse logistics management. Viler af wide array of product return services
for our clients, including issuing return authotiaas, receipt of product, crediting customer actspand disposition of returned product.

Our domestic clients enjoy the benefits ofihg\their inventory assets secured by a netwotkadfied law enforcement professionals, who
have developed and continue to operate a world-adasurity network from our security headquartelsiemphis, TN and Southaven, MS. As
part of our services are for the United States
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Government, our security plans and proceduresradernconstant evaluation and evolution. Continadithation ensures that we employ the
latest in security processes and procedures todiugnhance our surveillance and detection cafiabili

Facility Operations and Manageme@ur FOM service offering includes distribution figtgi design and optimization, business process
reengineering and ongoing staffing and managenddorhg with our high-volume fulfillment center in [g$issippi and our automated
fulfilment center in Tennessee, we also managai@naft parts distribution center in Grapevinexd® on behalf of Raytheon Aircraft
Company. Our expertise in supply chain managenhagistics and customer-centric fulfillment operatsoextends through our management of
client-owned facilities, resulting in cost reducti) process improvements and technology-drivenieffcies.

Kitting and Assembly Servicg3ur expanded kitting and assembly services enableli@nts to reduce the time and costs associaitbd
managing multiple suppliers, warehousing hubs, I manufacturing partners. As a single sourajater, we provide clients with the
advantage of convenience, accountability and sp@edcomprehensive kitting and assembly servicesige a quality one-stop resource for
any international channel. Our kitting and assensblyices include light assembly, specializedngtiind supplier-consigned inventory hub
either in our distribution facilities or co-locatetsewhere. We also offer customized light manuféog and Supplier Relationship
Management (“SRM”) for Fortune 1000 and Global 2@@hufacturers.

We will work with clients to re-sequence cartaupply chain activities to aid in an inventorysgponement strategy. We can provide kitting
and assembly services and build-to-stock thousahdsits daily to stock in a Just-in-Time (“JIT"heironment. This service, for example, can
entail the procurement of packaging materials idicig retail boxes, foam inserts and anti-staticsbdgpese raw material components would be
shipped to us from domestic or overseas manufastuaad we will build the finished SKU units to ckdor the client. This strategy allows
manufacturers to make a smaller investment in itargrwhile meeting changing customer demand.

Combining our assembly services with our sigegiwned inventory hub services allows our cligntseduce cycle times, to compress their
supply chains and to consolidate their operationssaupplier management functions. We have supiphentory management, assembly and
fulfillment services all in one place, providingegter flexibility in product line utilization, aselN as rapid response to change orders or
packaging development. Our standard capabilitielside: build-to-order, build-to-stock, expeditediers, passive and active electrostatic
discharge (“ESD”) controls, product labeling, seniamber generation, marking and/or capture, lohber generation, asset tagging, bill of
materials (“BOM") or computer automated design (‘@A engineering change processing, SKU-level pgcamd billing, manufacturing and
metrics reporting, first article approval processesl comprehensive quality controls.

Our kitting and assembly services also inclpEurement. We work directly with client suppsieo make JIT inventory orders for each
component in client packages, thereby ensuringaseive the appropriate inventory quantities atfustright time and we then turn them
around JIT to customers.

Kitting and inventory hub services enablerdieto collapse supply chains into the minimal stepcessary to prepare product for distribt
to any channel, including wholesale, mass mercteatil, or direct to consumer. Clients no longevénto employ multiple providers or require
suppliers to consign multiple inventory cachesdach channel. We offer our clients the opportutdtgonsolidate operations from a channel
standpoint, as well as from a geographic perspeac@wur integrated, global information systems anérhational locations support client
business needs worldwide.

Information ManagementWe have the ability to communicate with and transflormation to and from our clients through a widariety
of technology services, including real-time datifaces, file transfer methods and electronic ddatachange. Our systems are designed to
capture, store and electronically forward to oigrdk critical information regarding customer ingges and orders, product shipments, inven
status (for example, levels of inventory on handbackorder, on purchase order and inventory dtesde our warehouse), product returns
other information. We maintain for our clients diete product databases that can be seamlesslyratéebwith their web sites utilizing the
capabilities of the Entente Suite. Our systemsapable of providing our clients with customer intagy and order information for use in
analyzing sales and marketing trends and introdueéw products. We also offer customized reportsdata analyses based upon specific
client needs to
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assist them in their budgeting and business decjziocess.

Financial ServicesOur financial services are divided into two majogas: 1) billing, credit and collection services B2B and B2C clients
and 2) working capital solutions, where we act astaal and physical financial management depantne fulfill our clients’ needs.

We offer secure credit and collections sewifte both B2B and B2C businesses. SpecificallyB®C clients, we offer secure credit card
processing related services for orders made vigiat eveb site or through our customer contactee/e offer manual credit card order
review as an additional level of fraud protectidve also calculate sales taxes, goods and serées br value added taxes, if applicable, for
numerous taxing authorities and on a variety oflpots. Using third-party leadingdge fraud protection services and risk managesystéms
we can assure the highest level of security andbtliest level of risk for client transactions.

For B2B clients, we offer full-service accosinéceivable management and collection capabilitietuding the ability to generate
customized computer-generated invoices in our isrames. We assist clients in reducing accowgusivable and days sales outstanding,
while minimizing costs associated with maintainargin-house collections staff. We offer electratriedit services in the format of EDI X.12
and XML communications direct from our clients beir vendors, suppliers and retailers.

Our subsidiary, Supplies Distributors, Incoyides working capital solutions, which enable nfanturers to remove inventory and
receivables from their balance sheets through $keeofithird party financing. This service offeriisgavailable to clients operating in North
America and Europe.

While the majority of our clients maintain ogrship of their own inventory, through SuppliestBiritors, we can create and implement
client inventory solutions as well. We have yedrexperience in dealing with the issues relateishtentory ownership, secure inventory
management, replenishment and product distributhém can offer prospective clients a managementisalfor the entire customer
relationship, including ownership of inventory aedeivables. Through CIP, we utilize technologyteses to time the replenishment purcl
of inventory with the simultaneous sale of prodiacthe end user. All interfaces are done electailyi@and almost all processes regarding the
financial transactions are automated, creatingifsdgmt supply chain advantages.

We are experienced in the complex legal, acttog and governmental control issues that canupélés in the successful implementation of
working capital financing programs. Our knowledgel &xperience help clients achieve supply chairtitsnwvhile reducing inventorgarrying
costs. Substantial benefits and improvement tonapamy’s balance sheet can be achieved through thakéng capital solutions.

Professional Consulting Servicess part of the tailored solution for our clientse wffer a full team of experts specifically desitgthto
focus on our clients’ businesses. Team membersgtansultative role, providing constructive evéilua analysis and recommendations for
the client’s business. This team creates custonsmfdions and devises plans that will increasieieficies and produce benefits for the client
when implemented.

Comprised of industry experts from tog@r consulting firms and industry market leaders, team of professional consultants provides t
service focus and logistics and distribution expertThey have built solutions for Fortune 1000 &hobal 2000 market leaders in a wide ra
of industries, including apparel, technology, teleeunications, cosmetics, aviation, houseware$-tédue collectibles, sporting goods,
pharmaceuticals and several more. Focusing onviblgieg infrastructure needs of major corporatians their business initiatives, our team
has a solid track record providing consulting segsiin the areas of supply chain management, llisivh and fulfillment, technology
interfacing, logistics and customer support.

Clients and Marketing

Our target clients include Fortune 1000 angbmiarand name technology and consumer goods coegpbooking to quickly and efficiently
implement or enhance business initiatives, adagit §o-to-market strategies, or introduce new potglor programs, without the burden of
modifying or expanding their technology, customares supply chain and logistics infrastructure. &s® provide FOM solutions that include
Process Reengineering, Facility Design and Empléyainistration services. Our solutions are apflieado a multitude of industries and
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company types and we have provided solutions folh sempanies as:

International Business Machines (“IBM”) (pentsupplies in several geographic areas), Adaptmouter accessories), the United States
Government as a sub-contractor (high-value cobeg), Avaya Communication, Emtec Magnetics (a nfeturer of BASF-branded data
media and audio visual products), CHIA’SSO (a comgerary home furnishings and decor cataloguer)oXéprinters and printer supplies),
Pfizer (pharmaceuticals), Lancome (a cosmetic aimisf L’Oreal), NokiaUSA.com (cell phone accesssji Roots Canada (apparel), Hewlett-
Packard (printers and computer networking equipmé&tdvia (a beverage division of Mars), Raythearcraft Company (FOM and time-
definite logistics supporting parts distributiomdaThe Smithsonian Business Ventures (a colledibéaloger), amongst many others. We
target potential clients through an extensive irgtagl marketing program that is comprised of aepamf direct marketing techniques, trade
event participation, search engine marketing, pulgliations and a sophisticated outbound tele-$adasgeneration model. We have also
developed an intricate messaging matrix that defowe various business process outsourcing sokiiod products, the vehicles we utilize to
deliver marketing communication on these solutipriucts and the target audience segments thdagiaglemand for these
solutions/products. This messaging matrix allowsoudeploy highly targeted solution messages tecsetl key vertical industry segments
where we feel that we are able to provide significgervice differentiation and value. We also parstrategic marketing alliances with
consulting firms, software manufacturers and olbgistics providers to increase market awarenedgjanerate referrals and customer leads.

Because of the highly complex nature of tHatgms we provide, our clients demand significeotpetence and experience from a variety
of different business disciplines during the salgde. As such, we utilize a selected member ofsemior executive team to lead the design
proposal development of each potential new cliemthoose to pursue. The senior executive is sugpost a select group of highly
experienced individuals from our professional sgggigroup with specific industry knowledge or eigse to the solutions development
process. We employ a team of highly trained impletaigon managers whose responsibilities includeothegsight and supervision of client
projects and maintaining high levels of client sfattion during the transition process betweenvér®us stages of the sales cycle and steady
state operations.

Technology

We maintain advanced management informatistesys and have automated key business functiong asiline, real-time systems. These
systems enable us to provide our clients infornmationcerning sales, inventory status, customer paysrand other operations that are
essential for our clients to efficiently manageitledectronic commerce and supply chain businesgnams. Our systems are designed to scale
rapidly in order to handle the transaction progegssiemands of our clients.

We employ technology from a selected groupastners, some of whom are also our clients. Fangte, we deploy IBM e-servers and
network printers in appropriate models to run wiéb feinctions as well as order management andiloligton functions. We utilize Avaya
Communication for telephone switch and call cemanagement functions and to interact with customiersoice, e-mail or chat. Avaya
Communication technology also allows us to sharke pages between customers and our service repagisest We have the ability to trans
and receive voice, data and video simultaneously single network connection to a customer to neffectively serve that customer for our
client. Clients'interest in using this technology stems from itditytto allow shoppers to consult with known exfsein a way that the custorr
chooses prior to purchasing. Our sophisticated coenpelephony integration has been accomplished by @urmpsystems software from IB
and Avaya Communication together with our own aggtion development. We use AT&T for our privateezptise network and long distance
carrier. We use J.D. Edwards as the software peoVi the primary ERP applications that we useunoperational areas and financial areas.
We use Ecometry as the software provider for timgmy multi-channel direct marketing application deploy for our catalog and direct
marketing clients. We use Siemens Dematic/Rapigtaterials Handling Automation for our automatedesrdelection, automated conveyor
and “pick-to-light” (inventory retrieval) systemand Symbol Technologies/Telxon for our warehouskorctequency applications. Our
Warehouse Management System (“WMS”) and DistribuRequirements Planning (“DRP”) system have beeeldped in-house to meet the
varied unique requirements of our vertical markBtgh the WMS and DRP are tightly integrated tohiibe North American and European
deployments of our J.D. Edwards’ system.
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Many internal infrastructures are not suffitieo support the explosive growth in e-businessiagketplaces, supply chain compression,
distribution channel realignment and the correspandemand for real-time information necessarystoategic decision-making and product
fulfilment. To address this need, we have creéitedEntente Suite, which is a comprehensive stiiteatinology services, with supporting
software and hardware infrastructure, that enategpanies with little or no e-commerce infrastroetto speed their time to market and
minimize resource investment and risk, and allolvsampanies involved to improve the efficiencytbéir supply chain. The Entente Suite is
comprised of four distinct service offerings — Ert®Neb, EntenteDirect, EntenteMessage, and EnteptgsR— that can stand alone or be
combined for a fully customized e-commerce solutiepending on the level of direct involvement a pany wants to maintain in their e-
commerce initiative.

The components of the Entente Suite provideotien platform service infrastructure that allmsgo create complete e-commerce solutions
with our customers. Using the various servicehefEntente Suite, we can assist our clients inyeia¢egrating their web sites or ERP systems
to our systems for real-time transaction processiitigout regard for their hardware platform or cgterg system. This high-level of systems
integration allows our clients to automatically pess orders, customer data and other e-commemnreniation. We also can track information
sent to us by the client as it moves through oatesys in the same manner a carrier would traclclkaoge throughout the delivery process. Our
systems enable us to track, at a detailed levieliriration received, transmission timing, any ermmrspecial processing required and
information sent back to the client. The transaeti@and management information contained withinsystems is made available to the client
quickly and easily through the Entente Suite.

The Entente Suite serves as a transparemtaogeto our back-office productivity applicatioimsluding our customized J.D. Edwards order
management and fulfillment application and our Eetrgnmulti-channel direct marketing applicationtthans on IBM’s e-Server xSeries
servers. It also is designed to integrate with rtoflace technologies offered by major marketpladevare companies. We utilize Gentran
Integration Suite™ (“GIS”) as our technology platfofor Enterprise Application Integration with oclfents and client’s trading partners. With
GIS, we have greatly increased our ability to glyiclesign and deploy customized B2B e-commercetisols for our clients by utilizing a
robust business process modeling tool and a higgdiable operating infrastructure. This platformilfeates the efficient and secure exchange
of electronic business transactions/documentswida variety of formats (i.e. XML, X.12 EDI, deliteid text, IDOCS, RosettaNet) and
communication protocols (i.e. FTP/SFTP, HTTP/HTTBBITP).

To enhance our service offerings, we havestaein advanced telecommunications, computerhel®p electronic mail and messaging,
automated fax technology, IVR technology, barcazaing, wireless technology, fiber optic netwookmenunications and automated
inventory management systems. We have also deabope: utilize telecommunications technology thatvates for automatic customer call
recognition and customer profile recall for inbountomer service representatives.

The primary responsibility of our systems depenent team of IT professionals is directed atlengenting custom solutions for new clients
and maintaining existing client relationships. @awelopment team can also produce proprietary sysiefrastructure to expand our
capabilities in circumstances where we cannot @geltstandard solutions from commercial providers.algo utilize temporary resources
when needed for additional capacity.

Our information technology operations andasfructure are built on the premise of reliabifityd scalability. We maintain diesel generators
and un-interruptible power supply equipment to jewconstant availability to computer rooms, calhters and warehouses. Multiple Internet
service providers and redundant web servers prdoeide high degree of availability to web sitesttimerface with our systems. Capacity
planning and upgrading is performed regularly tovalfor quick implementation of new clients and mvtime-consuming infrastructure
upgrades that could slow growth rates. We also hadigaster recovery plan for our information systeind maintain a “hot site” under
contract with a major provider.

Competition

Many companies offer, on an individual basige or more of the same services we do, and wecfaogetition from many different sources
depending upon the type and range of services s¢egi®y a potential client. Our
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competitors include vertical outsourcers, which@mpanies that offer a single function solutiargtsas call centers, public warehouses or
credit card processors. We compete against tratajoor logistics providers, known in the industs/3PL’s and 4PL’s, who offer product
management functions as an ancillary service to fiignary transportation services. We also compgt@inst other business process
outsourcing providers, who perform many similavgass as us. Many of these companies have greapabdities than we do for the single or
multiple functions they provide. In many instana®s, competition is the in-house operations of matential clients themselves. The in-house
operations departments of potential clients oftelielse that they can perform the same servicesoygvtile others are reluctant to outsource
business functions that involve direct customeirtacin We cannot be certain that we will be abledmpete successfully against these or other
competitors in the future.

Although many of our competitors can offer @menore of our services, we believe our primamnpetitive advantage is our ability to offer
a wide array of customized services that coveoadhspectrum of business processes, including Vtellssign and hosting, kitting and
assembly, order processing and shipment, creditmayment and customer service, thereby eliminatmgneed for our clients to coordinate
these services from many different providers. Weefe we are unique in offering our clients a vbrgad range of business process services
that addresses, in many cases, the entire busima@ssiction, from demand to delivery.

We also compete on the basis of many otheoitapt additional factors, including:

. operating performance and reliabili

. ease of implementation and integrati

. experience of the people required to successfualtiyedficiently design and implement solutio

. leading edge technology capabiliti

. global reach; an

. price.

We believe that we compete favorably with ezgpo each of these factors. However, the madeatdr services is competitive and still
evolving, and we may not be able to compete sufidgsagainst current and future competitors.
Employees

As of December 31, 2005, we had 934 employafeshich 870 were located in the United States.N&'ee never suffered an interruption of
business as a result of a labor dispute. We coneigterelationship with our employees to be goodhe U.S. and Canada, we are not a pai
any collective bargaining agreements and, whileEaunopean subsidiaries are not a party to a coletargaining agreement, they are requ
to comply with the rules mentioned in collectivedeining agreements agreed upon by representatfiegir industry (logistics) and unions.

Our success in recruiting, hiring and trainiagge numbers of skilled employees and obtainemgd numbers of hourly employees during
peak periods for distribution and call center ofiere is critical to our ability to provide high glity distribution and support services. Call
center representatives and distribution persoreuaive feedback on their performance on a regasistand, as appropriate, are recognized for
superior performance or given additional traini@gnerally, our clients provide specific productrtiiag for our customer service
representatives and, in certain instances, orch#et personnel to provide specific technical sapplo maintain good employee relations and
to minimize employee turnover, we offer competitpagy, hire primarily full-time employees who ar@éile to receive a full range of
employee benefits, and provide employees with clésible career paths.

Internet Access to Reports

We maintain an Internet website, www.pfswetnc@ur annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly report Form 10-Q, and current reports
on Form 8-K (and amendments, if any, to those tsgdided or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a)Bfd) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934) are made available, free of charge, throhghrvestor relations section of this website assas reasonably practicable after we
electronically file such material,
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or furnish it to the Securities and Exchange Corsiois The information on our website is not incogted in this report.

Regulation

Our business may be affected by current ahddigovernmental regulation, both foreign and detineFor example, the internet Tax
Freedom Act bars state and local governments froposing taxes on internet access or that wouldestibuyers and sellers of electronic
commerce to taxation in multiple states. This adhieffect until November 1, 2006. If legislatitmextend this act or similar legislation is not
enacted, internet access and sales across thednteay be subject to additional taxation by staie local governments, thereby discouraging
purchases over the Internet and adversely affettiagnarket for our services and sales of our nawtuired eCOST.com business.

RISK FACTORS

Our business, financial condition and operatinguies could be adversely affected by any of thefadlig factors, in which event the trad
price of our common stock could decline, and yaudtse part or all of your investment. The risk&l uncertainties described below are
the only ones that we face. Additional risks andeutainties not presently known to us, or that waently think are immaterial, may also
impair our business operations.

Risks Related to PFSweb
Certain of our historical financial information maynot be representative of our future results.

The financial information for the periods Cmto 1, 1999 to October 1, 2002 included in thig@0-K reflect our then agreements with
IBM and master distributors of certain IBM produtstil July 2001 a third party, and from July 20@itil September 2002, Supplies
Distributors, our then 49% owned subsidiary). Unithesse agreements, the master distributors ownediatributed the IBM product and we
provided transaction management and fulfillmentises to the master distributors. Under these ageets, we did not own the IBM product
and our revenue was service fee revenue (baserbdngi sales volume or other transaction basedhg)i@nd not product revenue.

In October 2002, we acquired the remaining Bl#6ership interest in Supplies Distributors andne® consolidate 100% of Supplies
Distributors’ financial position and results of @agons into our consolidated financial statemedfson consolidation, effective October 1,
2002, we own the IBM product and record producereie as the product is sold to IBM customers.

As a result of reflecting revenue earned utldemaster distributor agreements as product tevencertain historical periods and as ser
fee revenue in others, our historical results afrafions may not be indicative of our future opagabr financial performance.

We anticipate incurring significant expenses in tHereseeable future, which may reduce our abilitydachieve or maintain profitability.

To reach our business growth objectives, wg imerease our operating and marketing expensesekhss capital expenditures. To offset
these expenses, we will need to generate additpppéitable business. If our revenue grows slovaanteither we anticipate or our clients’
projections indicate, or if our operating and mérigexpenses exceed our expectations, we mayamargte sufficient revenue to be profite
or be able to sustain or increase profitabilityaoguarterly or an annual basis in the future. Adddlly, if our revenue grows slower than either
we anticipate or our clients’ projections indicates may incur unnecessary or redundant costs andpauating results could be adversely
affected. We also expect to incur additional expsngon the adoption of Statement on Financial Aeting Standards No. 123R, Accounting
for Stock-based Compensation.

Our service fee revenue and gross margin is dependgpon our clients’business and transaction volumes and our costs; mahour client
service agreements are terminable by the clientvdl, We may incur financial
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penalties if we fail to meet contractual servicevdds under certain client service agreemer

Our service fee revenue is primarily trangactased and fluctuates with the volume of transastor level of sales of the products by our
clients for whom we provide transaction managersentices. If we are unable to retain existing ¢feor attract new clients or if we dedicate
significant resources to clients whose business doegenerate sufficient revenue or whose prodi@tsot generate substantial customer <
our business may be materially adversely affedttmeover, our ability to estimate service fee rawefor future periods is substantially
dependent upon our clients’ and our own projectitims accuracy of which has been, and will contitwulee, unpredictable. Therefore, our
planning for client activity and targeted goals $ervice fee revenue and gross margin may be ratyeadversely affected by incomplete,
delayed or inaccurate projections. In addition, ynahour service agreements with our clients ammieable by the client at will. Therefore, we
cannot assure you that any of our clients will curg to use our services for any period of timee Tdss of a significant amount of service fee
revenue due to client terminations could have aratadverse effect on our ability to cover oustsaand thus on our profitability. Certain of
our client service agreements contain minimum serigvel requirements and impose financial persitiere fail to meet such requirements.
The imposition of a substantial amount of such fiEsacould have a material adverse effect on aginess and operations.

Our operating results are materially impacted byrazlient mix and the seasonality of their business.

Our business is materially impacted by owrdlimix and the seasonality of their business. @8apen our current client mix and their
current projected business volumes, we anticipateservice fee revenue business activity will biésalibwest in the first quarter of our fiscal
year and that our product revenue business actiitye at its highest in the fourth quarter ofrdiscal year. We believe results of operati
for a quarterly period may not be indicative of theults for any other quarter or for the full yéate are unable to predict how the seasonality
of future clients’ business may affect our quayteeivenue and whether the seasonality may changéodmodifications to a client’s business.
As such, we believe that results of operationsafquarterly period may not be indicative of theuhessfor any other quarter or for the full year.

Our systems may not accommodate significant growtlour number of clients.

Our success depends on our ability to hanthege number of transactions for many differeigrdk in various product categories. We
expect that the volume of transactions will inceeaignificantly as we expand our operations. K ticurs, additional stress will be placed
upon the network hardware and software that managiegperations. We cannot assure you of our gltdiefficiently manage a large number
of transactions. If we are not able to maintairappropriate level of operating performance, we aleyelop a negative reputation, and impair
existing and prospective client relationships andhlsiness would be materially adversely affected.

We may not be able to recover all or a portion afrstart-up costs associated with one or more of clients.

We generally incur start-up costs in connectidgth the planning and implementation of busingsxess solutions for our clients. Although
we generally attempt to recover these costs franclient in the early stages of the client reladiup, or upon contract termination if the client
terminates without cause prior to full amortizatmfrthese costs, there is a risk that the clientre@t may not fully cover the start-up costs. To
the extent start-up costs exceed the start-upréoesved, excess costs will be expensed as incutdditionally, in connection with new client
contracts we generally incur capital expenditussoaiated with assets whose primary use is retatdt client solution. There is a risk that
contract may end before expected and we may noveeche full amount of our capital costs.

Our revenue and margins may be materially impactadclient transaction volumes that differ from cli projections and business
assumptions.

Our pricing for client transaction servicasgls as call center and fulfillment, is often baspdn volume projections and business
assumptions provided by the client and our antteip@osts to perform such work. In the event theadevel of activity or cost is substantia
different from the projections or assumptions, wayrhave insufficient or excess staffing, incremeotats or other assets dedicated for such
client that may negatively impact our margins andiess relationship with such client. In the eweatare unable to meet the service levels
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expected by the client, our relationship with thient will suffer and may result in financial petias and/or the termination of the client
contract.

Our business is subject to the risk of customer angplier concentration.

For the year ended December 31, 2005, a W\¥rgment agency (via a subcontract agreementnsuener products company and Xerox
Corporation represented approximately 27%, 16%123d, respectively, of our total service fee revemat of pass-through revenue. For the
year ended December 31, 2004, a U.S. governmentgad@ea a subcontract agreement) and Xerox Cotmoraepresented approximately 4
and 15%, respectively, of our total service feeergie, net of pass-through revenue. The loss ofpipayment of invoices by, any or all of
such U.S. agency, consumer products company ond@selients would have a material adverse effponwur business. In particular, the
agreement under which we provide services to sliehts are terminable at will upon notice by sutifrdgs.

Substantially all of our product revenue waaeayated by sales of product purchased under ndistebutor agreements with IBM and is
dependent on IBM’s business. Our product revenwsinbss is dependent upon our master distributatioekhip with IBM and the continuing
market for IBM products. A termination of the rétetship with IBM or a decline in customer demandduoch products could have a material
adverse effect on our business. Sales to threeroess accounted for approximately 14%, 12% and @fiétr total product revenues for the
year ended December 31, 2005. Sales to two cussocaceounted for approximately 12% and 11% of ot froduct revenues for the ye
ended December 31, 2004. The loss of any one og pfauch customers, or non-payment of any matenelunt by these or any other
customer, would have a material adverse effect @porbusiness.

Changes to financial accounting standards may affeair reported results of operations.

We prepare our financial statements to confarigenerally accepted accounting principles, oABAGAAP are subject to interpretation by
the American Institute of Certified Public Accounts, the SEC and various bodies formed to interndtcreate appropriate accounting
policies. A change in those policies can have niignt effect on our reported results and mayneafect our reporting of transactions which
were completed before a change is announced. Atoguniles affecting many aspects of our businiessuding rules relating to accounting
for asset impairments, revenue recognition, arnargges involving multiple deliverables, employeecktpurchase plans and stock option
grants, have recently been revised or are curremiter review. Changes to those rules or curréetpretation of those rules may have a
material adverse effect on our reported finan@alits or on the way we conduct our business.

We operate with significant levels of indebtednessl are required to comply with certain financiaha non-financial covenants; We are
required to maintain a minimum level of subordinatdoans to our subsidiary Supplies Distributors; dwe have guaranteed certain
indebtedness and obligations of our subsidiariesp$lies Distributors and eCOST.

As of December 31, 2005, our total creditlfaes outstanding, including debt, capital leabigations and our vendor accounts payable
related to financing of IBM product inventory, wagproximately $70.0 million. Certain of the crefditilities have maturity dates in calendar
year 2007 or after, but are classified as curiiabilities in our consolidated financial statemem& cannot provide assurance that our ci
facilities will be renewed by the lending partiéslditionally, these credit facilities include bdihancial and non-financial covenants, many of
which also include cross default provisions apfiliedo other agreements. These covenants alséctesir ability to transfer funds among our
various subsidiaries, which may adversely affeetahility of our subsidiaries to operate their basises or comply with their respective loan
covenants. We cannot provide assurance that wéwvidlble to maintain compliance with these covenakity non-renewal or any default
under any of our credit facilities would have a enet adverse impact upon our business and finaociadition. In addition we have provided
$7.0 million of subordinated indebtedness to SggpDistributors, the minimum level required undentain credit facilities as of December 31,
2005. The maximum level of this subordinated inddbess to Supplies Distributors that may be praligithout approval from our lenders is
$8.0 million. The restrictions on increasing thisaunt without lender approval may limit our abilttycomply with certain loan covenants or
further grow and develop Supplies Distributors’ibess. We have guaranteed most of the indebtedfi€@spplies Distributors. Furthermore,
we are obligated to repay any over-advance ma8epplies Distributors by its lenders to the ext@®applies Distributors is unable to do so.
We have also guaranteed eCOST’s $15 million ctertitwith Wachovia, as well as certain of its venttade payables. We currently expect
that it may be necessary to provide additional guizes of certain eCOST vendor trade payablesifutire.
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We face competition from many sources that couldracsely affect our business.

Many companies offer, on an individual basisg or more of the same services we do, and wecfaogetition from many different sources
depending upon the type and range of services s¢egi®y a potential client. Our competitors includetical outsourcers, which are compal
that offer a single function, such as call centpuhlic warehouses or credit card processors. Vifgete against transportation logistics
providers who offer product management functionaraancillary service to their primary transpodatservices. We also compete against
other business process outsourcing providers, whfopn many similar services as us. Many of thesepganies have greater capabilities than
we do for the single or multiple functions they yide. In many instances, our competition is thédause operations of its potential clients
themselves. The ihoeuse operations of potential clients often beliga they can perform the same services we ddewtiiers are reluctant
outsource business functions that involve direst@mmer contact. We cannot be certain that we wilhble to compete successfully against
these or other competitors in the future.

Our sales and implementation cycles are highly \abie and our ability to finalize pending contractsay cause our operating results to vary
widely.

The sales cycle for our services is varialyigically ranging between several months to up year from initial contact with the potential
client to the signing of a contract. Occasiondlly sales cycle requires substantially more timéay3en signing and executing client contracts
may affect our revenue and cause our operatindtsdswary widely. We believe that a potentiakdli's decision to purchase our services is
discretionary, involves a significant commitmentloé clients resources and is influenced by intense intemmdlexternal pricing and operati
comparisons. To successfully sell our servicesgamerally must educate our potential clients reiggrthe use and benefit of our services,
which can require significant time and resourcemgequently, the period between initial contact tlwedourchase of our services is often long
and subject to delays associated with the lengpipyaval and competitive evaluation processes {matally accompany significant operational
decisions. Additionally, the time required to fiizal pending contracts and to implement our systmdsintegrate a new client can range from
several weeks to many months. Delays in signingiategrating new clients may affect our revenue eaugise our operating results to vary
widely.

We are dependent on our key personnel, and we rteddre and retain skilled personnel to sustain obusiness.

Our performance is highly dependent on theisaed services of our executive officers and ottesr personnel, the loss of any of whom
could materially adversely affect our businessaddition, we need to attract and retain other lyigghilled, technical and managerial personnel
for whom there is intense competition. We cannstiesyou that we will be able to attract and retagpersonnel necessary for the continuing
growth of our business. Our inability to attractiaretain qualified technical and managerial perebmould materially adversely affect our
ability to maintain and grow our business.

We are subject to risks associated with our intetioaal operations.

We currently operate a 150,000 square fodtidigion center in Liege, Belgium and a 13,000aguoot distribution center in Richmond
Hill, Canada, near Toronto, both of which currerithve excess capacity. We cannot assure you thaililge successful in expanding in these
or any additional international markets. In additio the uncertainty regarding our ability to geterevenue from foreign operations and
expand our international presence, there are niglexent in doing business internationally, inchgdi

. changing regulatory requiremen

. legal uncertainty regarding foreign laws, tariffelaother trade barrier
. political instability;

. potentially adverse tax consequenc

. foreign currency fluctuations; ar

. cultural differences
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Any one or more of these factors could maligreadversely affect our business in a number ofsyauch as increased costs, operational
difficulties and reductions in revenue.

We are uncertain about our need for and the availlity of additional funds.

Our future capital needs are difficult to gotdWe may require additional capital to take attege of unanticipated opportunities, including
strategic alliances and acquisitions and to furpitabexpenditures, or to respond to changing lssirconditions and unanticipated compet
pressures. We may also require additional fundimémce operating losses, including continuing afieg losses currently anticipated to be
incurred by eCOST. Should these circumstances, aniseexisting cash balance and credit facilitieg/rbe insufficient and we may need to
raise additional funds either by borrowing moneyssuing additional equity. We cannot assure yai $lach resources will be adequate or
available for all of our future financing needs.r@ability to finance our growth, either internathr externally, may limit our growth potential
and our ability to execute our business stratdgyelare successful in completing an additionalitydfinancing, this could result in further
dilution to our stockholders or reduce the marladtig of our common stock.

We are subject to disputes with clients, customemd other authorities which, if not resolved in odavor, may materially adversely affect
our results of operations.

In the ordinary course of our business, onmaore of our clients or customers may dispute puoices for services rendered or other
charges. As of December 31, 2005, an aggregateppbaimately $1.1 million of our invoices were irspute. Although we believe it will
resolve these disputes in our favor, the failurddso may have a material adverse effect on @ulteeof operations. We also receive munic
tax abatements in certain locations. During 2004eeeived notice from a municipality that we did satisfy certain criteria necessary to
maintain the abatements. We plan to dispute thieeydiut if the dispute is not resolved favoralalgditional taxes of approximately
$0.4 million to $0.5 million could be assessed aghiis for each of the calendar years 2005 and.2004

We may engage in future strategic alliances or aggjtions that could dilute our existing stockholdgrcause us to incur significant expens
or harm our business.

We may review strategic alliance or acquisitipportunities that would complement our currargibess or enhance our technological
capabilities. Integrating any newly acquired busses, technologies or services may be expensivéraeeconsuming. To finance any
acquisitions, it may be necessary for us to raightianal funds through borrowing money or compigtpublic or private financings.
Additional funds may not be available on terms tatfavorable to us and, in the case of equignfiings, may result in dilution to our
stockholders. We may not be able to operate anyiseatjbusinesses profitably or otherwise implenmemtgrowth strategy successfully. If we
are unable to integrate any newly acquired entitiggechnologies effectively, our operating resatisld suffer. Future acquisitions could also
result in incremental expenses and the incurrehdelat and contingent liabilities, any of which &bharm our operating results.

Our business could be adversely affected by a syster equipment failure, whether that of us or oalients.

Our operations are dependent upon our abdigrotect our distribution facilities, customensee centers, computer and
telecommunications equipment and software systgyasst damage and failures. Damage or failuresdoadult from fire, power loss,
equipment malfunctions, system failures, natursdsliers and other causes. If our business isupted either from accidents or the intentional
acts of others, our business could be materiabeesly affected. In addition, in the event of vegeead damage or failures at our facilities,
short-term disaster recovery and contingency péemtsinsurance coverage may not be sufficient.

Our clients’ businesses may also be harmed &ny system or equipment failures we experierloghat event, our relationship with these
clients may be adversely affected, we may loseetiobents, our ability to attract new clients mayduversely affected and we could be
exposed to liability.

Interruptions could also result from the intenal acts of others, like “hackers.” If our systeare penetrated by
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computer hackers, or if computer viruses infectsystems, our computers could fail or proprietafgimation could be misappropriated.

If our clients suffer similar interruptions tiheir operations, for any of the reasons discuasede or for others, our business could also be
adversely affected. Many of our clients’ computgstems interface with our systems. If our clientes interruptions in their systems, the link
to our systems could be severed and sales of idm@’slproducts could be slowed or stopped.

A breach of our -commerce security measures could reduce demandtfoservices. Credit card fraud and other fraududd adversely
affect our business.

A requirement of the continued growth of e-coence is the secure transmission of confidentfarmation over public networks. A party
who is able to circumvent our security measureddconisappropriate proprietary information or intgst our operations. Any compromise or
elimination of our security could reduce demanddor services.

We may be required to expend significant @@ihd other resources to protect against sedurétstches or to address any problem they may
cause. Because our activities involve the storagett@nsmission of proprietary information, sucleeedit card numbers, security breaches
could damage its reputation, cause us to losetsji@npact our ability to attract new clients ane @ould be exposed to litigation and possible
liability. Our security measures may not preverusity breaches, and failure to prevent securigabhes may disrupt our operations. In cel
circumstances, we do not carry insurance agaiegtisk of credit card fraud and other fraud, softikire to adequately control fraudulent
transactions on our client’s behalf could increaseexpenses. To date we have not suffered matesists due to fraud.

We may be a party to litigation involving our e-comerce intellectual property rights.

In recent years, there has been significéigation in the United States involving patent atlder intellectual property rights. We may be a
party to intellectual property litigation in thetfwie to protect our trade secrets or know-how. éthitates patent applications are confidential
until a patent is issued and most technologiesiaveloped in secret. Accordingly, we are not, samthot be, aware of all patents or other
intellectual property rights of which our servicaay pose a risk of infringement. Others assertiglgts against us could force us to defend
ourself or our customers against alleged infringeinoé intellectual property rights. We could in@ubstantial costs to prosecute or defend any
such litigation.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of inteal controls, we may not be able to accurately retpmur financial results or prevent fraud
As a result, current and potential stockholders dduose confidence in our financial reporting, whitcould harm our business, and tr
trading price of our common stock.

We have begun a process to document and égaluainternal controls over financial reportigsatisfy the requirements of Section 40-
the Sarbane®xley Act, which requires annual management assassnof the effectiveness of our internal contoder financial reporting at
a report by our independent auditors addressirgpthesessments. Based on the current requireraedtsur current public float, we are not
required to comply with Section 404. However, irstlegard, our management has been dedicatingnaitexsources, has engaged outside
consultants and has begun to develop a detailekl ptan to (i) assess and document the adequacyerhial controls over financial reporting,
(ii) take steps to improve control processes, wlagopriate, and (iii) validate through testingttbontrols are functioning as documented. If
we fail to correct any issues in the design or afieg effectiveness of internal controls over ficahreporting or fail to prevent fraud, current
and potential stockholders could lose confidencauinfinancial reporting, which could harm our mess and the trading price of our common
stock.

Risks Related to the Business Process Outsourcingdustry
If the trend toward outsourcing does not continueyr business will be adversely affecte

Our business could be materially adverselgaéd if the trend toward outsourcing declinesswerses, or if
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corporations bring previously outsourced functibask in-house. Particularly during general econatlawnturns, businesses may bring in-
house previously outsourced functions to avoidedayllayoffs. The continued threat of terrorismhivitthe United States and abroad and the
potential for sustained military action may causgugption to commerce and economic conditions, lotmestic and foreign, which could he
a material adverse effect upon our business andchiemt prospects.

Our market is subject to rapid technological changad to compete we must continually enhance ourntsygss to comply with evolving
standards

To remain competitive, we must continue toamde and improve the responsiveness, functioreitifeatures of our services and the
underlying network infrastructure. If we are unatdedapt to changing market conditions, clienumements or emerging industry standards,
our business could be adversely affected. Theriateand e-commerce environments are characterizeaplid technological change, changes
in user requirements and preferences, frequentmeduct and service introductions embodying newrtetogies and the emergence of new
industry standards and practices that could readetechnology and systems obsolete. Our succdisdepiend, in part, on our ability to both
internally develop and license leading technolotgesnhance PFSweb’s existing services and devedapservices. We must continue to
address the increasingly sophisticated and vaged$ of our clients and respond to technologicehackes and emerging industry standards
and practices on a cost-effective and timely basie. development of proprietary technology involsimificant technical and business risks.
We may fail to develop new technologies effectivelyto adapt our proprietary technology and systenwdient requirements or emerging
industry standards.

Risks Related to Our Stock
Our stock price could decline if a significant nuneb of shares become available for sale.

As of March 31, 2006, we had issued and ontitey 528,382 warrants to purchase common stockr(han exercise price of $2.47 per
share). In addition, as of December 31, 2005, we laa aggregate of 5,387,185 stock options outstgrid employees, directors and others
with a weighted average exercise price of $1.27%hare. The shares of common stock that may bedsagpon exercise of these warrants and
options may be resold into the public market. Sefesibstantial amounts of common stock in the ipubbrket as a result of the exercise of
these warrants or options, or the perception tUtatré sales of these shares could occur, coulccesthe market price of our common stock and
make it more difficult to sell equity securitiesthre future.

The market price of our common stock may be vokatiYou may not be able to sell your shares at oowabthe price at which you purchased
such shares

The trading price of our common stock may tigject to wide fluctuations in response to quatbeguarter fluctuations in operating results,
announcements of material adverse events, gerarditions in our industry or the public marketplac®l other events or factors. In addition,
stock markets have experienced extreme price addhty volume volatility in recent years. This vdlgt has had a substantial effect on the
market prices of securities of many technologytegla&aompanies for reasons frequently unrelatedemperating performance of the specific
companies. These broad market fluctuations mayradieaffect the market price of our common stdoladdition, if our operating results
differ from our announced guidance or the expemtatiof equity research analysts or investors, tloe pf our common stock could decrease
significantly.

Our certificate of incorporation, our bylaws, outhareholder rights plan and Delaware law make it fidult for a third party to acquire us,
despite the possible benefit to our stockholders.

Provisions of our certificate of incorporatimur bylaws, our shareholder rights plan and Datawaw could make it more difficult for a
third party to acquire us, even if doing so woudddeneficial to our stockholders. For example,aautificate of incorporation provides for a
classified board of directors, meaning that onlgragimately one-third of our directors may be subje re-election at each annual stockholder
meeting. Our certificate of incorporation also pegsmour Board of Directors to issue one or moréesenf preferred stock which may have
rights and preferences superior to those of thenwomstock. The ability to issue preferred stockidou
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have the effect of delaying or preventing a thiadty from acquiring us. We have also adopted aestedder rights plan. These provisions cc
discourage takeover attempts and could materidygisely affect the price of our stock. In additibrcause we are incorporated in Delaware,
we are governed by the provisions of Section 20B@Delaware General Corporation Law, which maphfiit large stockholders from
consummating a merger with, or acquisition of usede provisions may prevent a merger or acquisitiahwould be attractive to stockholders
and could limit the price that investors would bilimg to pay in the future for our common stock.

There are limitations on the liabilities of our dactors and executive officers.

Pursuant to our bylaws and under Delaware dawdirectors are not liable to us or our stockleas for monetary damages for breach of
fiduciary duty, except for liability for breach afdirector’s duty of loyalty, acts or omissionsapgirector not in good faith or which involve
intentional misconduct or a knowing violation oiaor any transaction in which a director has detien improper personal benefit.

Risks Related our Merger with eCOST

We may fail to realize the anticipated synergiesstsavings, growth opportunities and other bengefixpected from the merger, which could
adversely affect the value of our common stock.

We entered into a merger with eCOST with tkgegtation that the merger will result in synergissst savings, growth opportunities and
other benefits to the combined company. However athility to realize these anticipated benefitthef merger will depend, in part, on our
ability to integrate the business of eCOST with lousiness. The integration of two independent canigsas a complex, costly and time-
consuming process. It is possible that these iategr efforts will not be completed as smoothlyp&sned or that these efforts will divert
management attention for an extended period of. tibedays encountered in the integration proces&idoave a material adverse effect on the
revenues, expenses, operating results and finazaalition for us. Although we expect significamniefits, such as increased cost savings, to
result from the merger, there can be no assurdmateve will realize any of these anticipated besefi

Stockholders may receive a lower return on theiva@stment after the merge

Although we believe that the merger will ceefihancial, operational and strategic benefitsifiercombined company and its stockholders,
these benefits may not be achieved. The combinafionr businesses, even if conducted in an efficieffective and timely manner, may not
result in combined financial performance that igdrethan what our company would have achievedgaddently if the merger had not
occurred.

Uncertainty regarding the merger may cause clientsastomers, suppliers and others to delay or defecisions concerning us and eCOST,
which may harm the results of operations of either both companies.

In response to our completion of the mergiénts, customers and suppliers may delay or defesourcing, purchasing or supply decisions
or otherwise alter existing relationships with nsl @ COST. Prospective clients and customers cauteloctant to contract for the combined
company'’s services or purchase the combined companyducts due to uncertainty about the combiredpany’s ability to efficiently
provide products and services. In addition, clieatsstomers, suppliers and others may also segkrtonate or change existing agreements
with us or eCOST as a result of the merger. Thadeother actions by clients, customers, supplietsahers could negatively affect the
business of the combined company.

Uncertainties associated with the merger may causeand eCOST to lose key personnel.

Our current and prospective employees and 8G&dployees may experience uncertainty about theire roles with the combined
company until or after strategies with regard ® ¢bmbined company are announced or executedditiaag eCOST does not have
employment agreements with any of its key employglesr than with its Chief Executive Officer, Ad&haffer. These uncertainties may
adversely affect PFSweb’s and eCOST'’s ability traat and retain key management, sales, marketiddexhnical personnel. If a substantial
number of key employees leave as a result of thrgeneor the combined company fails to attract pegsonnel, the combined company’s
business could be adversely affected.
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eCOST may be required to indemnify PC Mall for taxarising as a result of the merger.

In connection with the consummation of the geereCOST received a written opinion from its legaunsel to the effect that the merger
should not cause Section 355(e) of the InternakRe& Code to apply to the April 2005 spin-off of&T from its former parent, PC Mall.
Such opinion was based on certain factual repraens made by PC Mall and eCOST and certain faetudlegal assumptions made by
eCOST'’s legal counsel. Such opinion representel gal counsel’s best judgment regarding the apptin of the U.S. federal income tax
laws, but is not binding on the IRS or the couxs.assurance can be given that the IRS will nagrasscontrary position or that any such
contrary position would not be sustained by a cdfithe Merger does cause Section 355(e) to ataptiie April 2005 spin-off of eCOST from
PC Mall, eCOST must indemnify PC Mall for any remg tax-related liabilities.

Risks Related to eCOST
eCOST may not be able to achieve or maintain praifitity.

eCOST has incurred continuing operating lossesmay not be able to achieve or maintain ptuaifitg on a quarterly or annual basis.
eCOST'’s ability to achieve or maintain profitalyildepends on a number of factors, including it$itsip:

. increase sale!

. maintain and expand vendor relationsh

. obtain additional and increase existing trade treilh key suppliers

. generate sufficient gross profit; a

. control costs and generate the expected synergisable to the merge

eCOST needs additional financing and may not beetn obtain additional financing on favorable ternts at all, which could increase its
costs and limit its ability to grow.

eCOST needs to obtain additional financing wede can be no assurance that it will be abtbtain additional financing on commercially
reasonable terms or at all. eCOST'’s failure to iokgdditional financing or its inability to obtafimancing on acceptable terms could materially
adversely affect its ability to achieve profitatyiland grow its business.

eCOST'’s operating results are difficult to predict.

eCOST'’s operating results have fluctuatedvéngast and are likely to vary significantly in fiaéure based upon a number of factors, many
of which it cannot control. eCOST operates in énljiglynamic industry and future results could bkjsct to significant fluctuations. Revenue
and expenses in future periods may be greatesstti@n revenue and expenses in the immediatetgdire period or in the comparable pe
of the prior year. Therefore, period-to-period camgons of eCOST operating results are not nedsaagood indication of its future
performance. Some of the factors that could caG$2ST’s operating results to fluctuate include:

. price competition that results in lower sales vadgimower profit margins, or net loss

. fluctuations in coupon redemption rat

. the amount, timing and impact of advertising andkating costs

. eCOS7's ability to successfully implement new technolsgie software system

. eCOS™s ability to obtain sufficient financing

. changes in the number of visitors to the eCOST itelos eCOS’ s inability to convert those visitors into custosie
. technical difficulties, including system or Intettiailures;

. fluctuations in the demand for eCOST products @rstwocking or understocking of produc

. management of the eCOST fulfillment cen

. fluctuations in freight revenues and costs, paldidy during the holiday seaso

. economic conditions generally or economic condgispecific to the Internet, online commerce, thailr
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industry or the mail order industr
. changes in the mix of products that eCOST selld,;
. fluctuations in levels of inventory theft, damageobsolescenct

If eCOST fails to accurately predict its inventorigk, its margins may decline as a result of wi-downs of its inventory due to lower prices
obtained from older or obsolete products.

Some of the products eCOST sells on its welasi characterized by rapid technological chaolggglescence and price erosion (for
example, computer hardware, software and consulaerenics), and because eCOST may sometimes kEtagk quantities of particular types
of inventory, inventory reserves may be requirethay subsequently prove insufficient, and additiemeentory write-downs may be required.

Increased product returns or a failure to accuragepredict product returns could decrease eCCs revenues and impact profitability.

eCOST makes allowances for product returtits ifinancial statements based on historical retates. eCOST is responsible for returns of
certain products ordered through its website frisndlistribution center as well as products thatshipped to its customers directly from its
vendors. If eCOST’s actual product returns sigaifity exceed its allowances for returns, especaglgCOST expands into new product
categories, its revenues and profitability couldrdase. In addition, because eCOST’s allowancelsas®d on historical return rates, the
introduction of new merchandise categories, newdpets, changes in its product mix, or other facioay cause actual returns to exceed return
allowances, perhaps significantly. In addition, @ajicies intended to reduce the number of prodettirns may result in customer
dissatisfaction and fewer repeat customers.

eCOST'’s ability to offer a broad selection of prazis at competitive prices is dependent on its &pilo maintain existing and build new
relationships with manufacturers and vendors. eCO8des not have long-term agreements with its maratifeers or vendors and some of
its manufacturers and vendors compete directly wi@OST.

eCOST purchases products for resale bothtlliffom manufacturers and indirectly through distitors and other sources, all of whom
eCOST considers its vendors. During 2005, eCOSaredf products on its website from over 1,000 tpiadty manufacturers. eCOST does not
have any long-term agreements with any of thesdamsn Any agreements with vendors governing eCO$uitshase of products are generally
terminable by either party upon 30 days’ noticéess. In general, eCOST agrees to offer producttsamebsite and the vendors agree to
provide eCOST with information about their produatel honor eCOST customer service policies. If eC@&s not maintain relationships
with vendors on acceptable terms, including favigraiboduct pricing and vendor consideration, it maybe able to offer a broad selection of
products or continue to offer products at competiprices, and customers may choose not to shibye &@COST website. In addition, some
vendors may decide not to offer particular proddictsale on the Internet, and others may avoidroff their new products to retailers such as
eCOST who offer a mix of close-out and refurbispeatlucts in addition to new products. From timéinee, vendors may terminate eCOST's
right to sell some or all of their products, chatige applicable terms and conditions of sale oucedr discontinue the incentives or vendor
consideration that they offer. Any such terminatizrthe implementation of such changes could havegative impact on eCOST’s operating
results. Additionally, some products are subjechmufacturer or distributor allocation, which limthe number of units of those products that
are available to eCOST and other resellers.

eCOST's revenue is dependent in part on sdle® and HP-related products, which representéd @Bnet sales in 2005, 27% in 2004 and
21% in 2003.

eCOST is dependent on the success of its advegiaimd marketing efforts, which are costly and magtrachieve desired results, and on its
ability to attract customers on cost-effective tesm

eCOST's revenues depend on its ability to ettheeand market its products effectively. Increaisethe costs of advertising and marketing,
including costs of online advertising, paper andtpge costs, costs and fees of third-party sepricgiders and the costs of complying with
applicable regulations, may limit eCOST’s abilityadvertise and market its business without impgdts profitability. If eCOSTS advertising
and marketing efforts
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prove ineffective or do not produce a sufficiemeleof sales to cover their costs, or if eCOST dases its advertising or marketing activities
due to increased costs, restrictions enacted hylatgy agencies or for any other reason, eCOSNenues and profit margins may decrease.
eCOST'’s success depends on its ability to attnastiocners on cost-effective terms. eCOST has relstips with online services, search
engines, shopping engines, directories and othbsites and e-commerce businesses through whichvitde advertising banners and other
links that direct customers to the eCOST websiZ®OS8T expects to rely on these relationships asfi&ignt sources of traffic to the eCOST
website and to generate new customers. If eCO8mable to develop or maintain these relationshipaaceptable terms, its ability to attract
new customers on a cost-effective basis could bedwh In addition, certain of eCOST'’s existing arlmarketing agreements require it to pay
fixed placement fees or fees for directing visitshte eCOST website, neither of which may conved sales.

Because eCOST experiences seasonal fluctuationssimevenues, its quarterly results may fluctua

eCOST'’s business is moderately seasonalctigftethe general pattern of peak sales for thedlretdustry during the holiday shopping
season. Typically, a larger portion of its revenoesur during the first and fourth fiscal quartes€OST believes that its historical revenue
growth makes it difficult to predict the effect efasonality on its future revenues and resultpefations. In anticipation of increased sales
activity during the first and fourth quarter, eCOfB€urs additional expenses, including higher inegnand staffing costs. If sales for the first
and fourth quarter do not meet anticipated lewbksn increased expenses may not be offset whicld ceecrease eCOST'’s profitability. If
eCOST were to experience lower than expected dalésg its first or fourth quarter, for any reasdmnwould decrease eCOST'’s profitability.

eCOST'’s business may be harmed by fraudulent atiésgion its website.

eCOST has received in the past, and anticGght it will receive in the future, communicatsoinom customers due to purported fraudulent
activities on the eCOST website. Negative publigiénerated as a result of fraudulent conduct brd ghérties could damage eCOST'’s
reputation and diminish the value of its brand naRmeudulent activities on eCOST'’s website cousbalubject it to losses. eCOST expects to
continue to receive requests from customers fonlvarsement due to purportedly fraudulent activitiethreats of legal action if no
reimbursement is made.

eCOST's business could be subject to political, mmmic and other risks associated with the Philipgis

To reduce costs, eCOST is evaluating shiftiexgain of its operations to the Philippines, whiobuld subject eCOST to political, economic
and other uncertainties, including expropriatiogtionalization, renegotiation, or nullification existing contracts, currency exchange
restrictions and international monetary fluctuasiofurthermore, the Philippines has experienceléwi@ related to guerrilla activity.

Delivery of eCOS’s products could be delayed or disrupted by fastbeyond its control, and it could lose customessaaresult.

eCOST relies upon third party carriers foreiyndelivery of its product shipments. As a rese@OST is subject to carrier disruptions and
increased costs due to factors that are beyomwitsol, including employee strikes, inclement viesitand increased fuel costs. Any failure to
deliver products to customers in a timely and aatsumanner may damage eCOST'’s reputation and larashdould cause it to lose customers.
eCOST does not have a written long-term agreeméhtamy of these third party carriers, and it cariv®sure that these relationships will
continue on terms favorable to eCOST, if at ale@OST's relationship with any of these third pasdyriers is terminated or impaired or if any
of these third parties is unable to deliver produeCOST would be required to use alternative earfor the shipment of products to
customers. eCOST may be unable to engage altegrziviers on a timely basis or on favorable teifreg, all. Potential adverse consequences
include:

. reduced visibility of order status and packagekiray;
. delays in order processing and product deliv
. increased cost of delivery, resulting in reducedgins; anc

. reduced shipment quality, which may result in daasbgroducts and customer dissatisfact
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If eCOST does not successfully expand its websitd processing systems to accommodate higher leaftsaffic and changing custome
demands, it could lose customers and its revenumsa decline.

To remain competitive, eCOST must continuertbance and improve the functionality and featoféts website. If eCOST fails to upgra
its website in a timely manner to accommodate hightumes of traffic, its website performance cosidfer and eCOST may lose customers.
The Internet and the e-commerce industry are stitgeapid technological change. If competitorsaduce new features and website
enhancements embodying new technologies, or ifindustry standards and practices emerge, eCOSiS8rexwebsite and systems may
become obsolete or unattractive. Developing the 8C®ebsite and other systems entails significasfirtizal and business risks. eCOST may
face material delays in introducing new servicesdpcts and enhancements. If this happens, cussomey forgo the use of eCOST’s website
and use those of its competitors. eCOST may use@gwmologies ineffectively, or it may fail to adéds website, transaction processing
systems and computer network to meet customernezgants or emerging industry standards.

If eCOST fails to successfully expand its merchaselicategories and product offerings in a c-effective and timely manner, its reputation
and the value of its new and existing brands coblel harmed, customer demand for its products coudttiche and its profit margins could
decrease.

eCOST has generated the substantial majdritg cevenues during the past five years fromghle of computer hardware, software and
accessories and consumer electronics productselpdst 18 months eCOST launched several new grodtegories, including digital
imaging, watches and jewelry, housewares, DVD ngwigleo games, travel, bed and bath, apparel ecebsories, licensed sports gear and
cellular/wireless. While its merchandising platfonas been incorporated into and tested in the @limputer and consumer electronics retalil
markets, eCOST cannot predict with certainty wheithean be successfully applied to other prodategories. In addition, expansion of its
business strategy into new product categories mgyire eCOST to incur significant marketing expsnslevelop relationships with new
vendors and comply with new regulations. eCOST laely the necessary expertise in a new product oatdg realize the expected benefits
that new category. These requirements could stainagerial, financial and operational resourceslithahal challenges that may affect
eCOST'’s ability to expand into new product categ®include its ability to:

. establish or increase awareness of new brandsraddgi categories

. acquire, attract and retain customers at a reatooabt;

. achieve and maintain a critical mass of customedsaaders across all product categor

. attract a sufficient number of new customers tomheew product categories are targe

. successfully market new product offerings to erigtustomers

. maintain or improve gross margins and fulfillmeaosts;

. attract and retain vendors to provide an expanitedf products to customers on terms that arepaabte; anc
. manage inventory in new product categor

eCOST cannot be certain that it will be ablsuccessfully address any or all of these chadleriga manner that will enable it to expand its
business into new product categories in a cost&éfe or timely manner. If eCOST’s new categoriépr@ducts or services are not received
favorably, or if its suppliers fail to meet eCOSTisstomers’ expectations, eCOSTésults of operations would suffer and its refiatiaand the
value of the applicable new brand and other braond#d be damaged. The lack of market acceptane€@ST new product categories or
inability to generate satisfactory revenues from expanded product categories to offset their costd harm eCOST’s business.

If eCOST is unable to provide satisfactory custonservice, it could lose customel

eCOST’s ability to provide satisfactory levefscustomer service depends, to a large degretheoefficient and uninterrupted operation of
its customer service operations. Any material ¢isan or slowdown in its order processing systeessilting from labor disputes, telephone or
Internet failures, power or service outages, natlisasters or other events could make it diffi@slimpossible to provide adequate customer
service and support. If eCOST is unable to contipymovide adequate staffing and training fordtsstomer service operations, its reputation
could be seriously harmed and eCOST could losemess. Because eCOST’s success depends in large
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part on keeping its customers satisfied, any faitorprovide high levels of customer service wdikely impair its reputation and decrease its
revenues.

eCOST may not be able to compete successfully agairisting or future competitors.

The market for online sales of the product®8C offers is intensely competitive and rapidly lsireg. e COST principally competes with a
variety of online retailers, specialty retailerslanther businesses that offer products similar tilhve same as eCOST’s products. Increased
competition is likely to result in price reductigmeduced revenue and gross margins and loss detstitare. eCOST expects competition to
intensify in the future because current and newpstitors can enter the market with little diffiqulitnd can launch new websites at a relatively
low cost. In addition, some of eCOST'’s product veschave sold, and continue to intensify their géfeo sell, their products directly to
customers. eCOST currently or potentially competigls a variety of businesses, including:

. other mult-category online retailers such as Amazon.com andd®m;
. online discount retailers of computer and consuehestronics merchandise such as Computers4Sureizgpand TigerDirect
. liquidation e-tailers such as Overstock.com and SmartBargains.

. consumer electronics and office supply superstsuel as Best Buy, Circuit City, CompUSA, Office DgpOfficeMax and Staple:
and

. manufacturers such as Apple, Dell, Gateway, He-Packard and IBM, that sell directly to custom:

Many of the current and potential competitdescribed above have longer operating historiegetacustomer bases, greater brand
recognition and significantly greater financial,nketing and other resources than eCOST. In additinline retailers may be acquired by,
receive investments from or enter into other conuiaérelationships with larger, well-establishedlarell-financed companies. Some of
eCOST'’s competitors may be able to secure produats manufacturers or vendors on more favorablasedevote greater resources to
marketing and promotional campaigns, adopt moreesgiye pricing or inventory availability policiasd devote substantially more resources
to website and systems development than eCOSTidag@b

If the protection of eCOS’s trademarks and proprietary rights is inadequaits brand and reputation could be impaired andcibuld lose
customers.

eCOST has six trademarks that it considet®tmaterial to the successful operation of busireS®ST(R), eCOST.com(R), eCOST.com
Bargain Countdown™, eCOST.com Your Online Discdbumperstore!™, Bargain Countdown™ and Bargain CawatdPlatinum Club™,
eCOST currently uses all of these marks in conardiiith telephone, mail order, catalog and onlietait services. eCOST also has several
additional pending trademark applications. eCOSi€és®n trademark and copyright law, trade searatggtion and confidentiality agreements
with its employees, consultants, suppliers andrstteprotect its proprietary rights. eCOST’s apgions may not be granted, and eCOST may
not be able to secure significant protection feisigrvice marks or trademarks. eCOST'’s competitoashers could adopt trademarks or service
marks similar to its marks, or try to prevent eCG®Im using its marks, thereby impeding its abitiybuild brand identity and possibly
leading to customer confusion. Any claim by anotbenty against eCOST for customer confusion cabgagse of eCOST’s trademarks or
service marks, or eCOST'’s failure to obtain registins for its marks, could negatively affect itsnpetitive position and could cause it to lose
customers.

eCOST has also filed an application with th&.UPatent and Trademark Office for patent pratedtbr its proprietary Bargain Countdowr
technology. eCOST may not be granted a patenhisitéchnology and may not be able to enforcedtsnt rights if its competitors or others
use infringing technology. If this occurs, eCOS@snpetitive position, revenues and profitabilityultbbe negatively affected.

Effective trademark, service mark, patentycight and trade secret protection may not be albéglin every country in which eCOST will
sell its products and offer its services. In additithe relationship between regulations goverdimgain names and laws protecting trademarks
and similar proprietary rights is unclear. Theref@COST may be unable to prevent third partie®s froquiring domain names that are similar
to, infringe upon or
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otherwise decrease the value of its trademarkotret proprietary rights. If eCOST is unable totpod or preserve the value of its trademarks,
copyrights, trade secrets or other proprietarytsdbr any reason, eCOST's competitive positionlddne negatively affected and it could lose
customers.

eCOST also relies on technologies that inisess from related and third parties. These licemsgsnot continue to be available to eCOS’
commercially reasonable terms, or at all, in theareL As a result, eCOST may be required to devetabtain substitute technology of lower
quality or at greater cost, which could negativafgct its competitive position, cause it to losistomers and decrease its profitability.

If third parties claim eCOST is infringing their itellectual property rights, eCOST could incur sidimant litigation costs, be required to pe
damages, or change its business or incur licensgxpenses.

Third parties have asserted, and may in theduassert, that eCOST’s business or the techigsldiguses infringe on their intellectual
property rights. As a result, eCOST may be sulifesttellectual property legal proceedings androkin the ordinary course of business.
eCOST cannot predict whether third parties willeatsadditional claims of infringement in the futuewhether any future claims will prever
from offering popular products or services.

On July 12, 2004, eCOST received corresporeléom MercExchange LLC alleging infringement afd.S. patents relating to e-
commerce and offering to license its patent padftd eCOST. On July 15, 2004, eCOST receivedlavolup letter from MercExchange
specifying which of eCOST’s technologies it beligwefringe certain of its patents, alone or in camakion with technologies provided by third
parties. Some of those patents are currently Haiggted by third parties, and eCOST is not invamhin those proceedings. In addition, three of
the four patents identified by MercExchange areeumdexamination at the U.S. Patent and Trademé&ikeQwhich may or may not result in
the modification of the claims. In the July 15(kbfter, MercExchange also advised that it has abmurof applications pending for additional
patents. MercExchange has filed lawsuits allegifidgrigement of some or all of its patents agaihstitparties, resulting in settlements or
verdicts in favor of MercExchange. At least onelsuerdict was appealed to the United States Cdukppeals for the Federal Circuit and was
affirmed in part. The defendant in that case faggktition for certiorari before the United StaSegreme Court, which was granted in
November 2005. A decision is expected before JOO& .

If eCOST is forced to defend against thesanyrother third-party infringement claims, whettrexy are with or without merit or are
determined in its favor, eCOST could face expenaiv time-consuming litigation, which could resaolthe imposition of a preliminary
injunction preventing it from continuing to operéiebusiness as currently conducted throughoutlitiiation of the litigation or distract
eCOSTSs technical and management personnel. If eCOSAuisdfto infringe, it may be required to pay mongetzamages, which could inclu
treble damages and attorneys’ fees for any infrimga that is found to be willful, and either bea@ngd or required to pay ongoing royalties
with respect to any technologies found to infringerther, as a result of infringement claims eithgainst eCOST or against those who license
technology to eCOST, eCOST may be required, or deadvisable, to develop non-infringing technolpgsich could be costly and time
consuming, or enter into costly royalty or licemgsgreements. Such royalty or licensing agreem#émesjuired, may be unavailable on terms
that are acceptable, or at all. eCOST expectgpndcipants in its market will be increasingly gdi to infringement claims as the number of
competitors in the industry grows. If a third pastyccessfully asserts an infringement claim ag&@€ST and it is enjoined or required to pay
monetary damages or royalties or eCOST is unaldevelop suitable non-infringing alternatives oelise the infringed or similar technology
on reasonable terms on a timely basis, eCOST's\bssj results of operations and financial conditiomd be materially harmed.

eCOST may be liable for misappropriation of its ¢amers’ personal information.

Data security laws are becoming more stringrettie United States and abroad. Third partie®agaging in increased cyber attacks against
companies doing business on the Internet and itails are increasingly subjected to identity amdlitrcard theft on the Internet. If third
parties or unauthorized employees are able to pretCOST’s network security or otherwise misappate its customers’ personal
information or credit card information, or if eCOgives third parties or its employees improper asde customers’ personal information or
credit card information, eCOST could be subjedtability. This liability could include claims founauthorized purchases with credit card
information, impersonation or other similar fraddims. This liability could also include
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claims for other misuses of personal informatioejuding unauthorized marketing purposes. Liabfiitymisappropriation of this information
could decrease eCOST's profitability. In such ainsances, eCOST also could be liable for failingrmvide timely notice of a data security
breach affecting certain types of personal inforamatin addition, the Federal Trade Commission stade agencies have brought numerous
enforcement actions against Internet companiealfeged deficiencies in those companies’ privaay data security practices, and they may
continue to bring such actions. eCOST could inddlitional expenses if new regulations regardingciiiection, use or storage of personal
information are introduced or if government ages@iestigate our privacy or security practices.

eCOST relies on encryption and authenticatehnology licensed from third parties to provitle security and authentication necessary to
effect secure transmission of sensitive custormferimation such as customer credit card numbersaAdes in computer capabilities, new
discoveries in the field of cryptography or otheemts or developments may result in a compromidweach of the algorithms that eCOST
uses to protect customer transaction data. If anl sompromise of security were to occur, it cadbject eCOST to liability, damage its
reputation and diminish the value of its brand-nafparty who is able to circumvent the securityasieres could misappropriate proprietary
information or cause interruptions in operatiorGOST may be required to expend significant cajaital other resources to protect against
security breaches or to alleviate problems caugeslibh breaches. eCOSTsecurity measures are designed to prevent sebueidches, but i
failure to prevent such security breaches couldestile COST to liability, damage its reputation aiminish the value of its brand-name.

Moreover, for the convenience of its custome@®OST provides non-secured channels for custotn@@smmunicate. Despite the increased
security risks, customers may use such channelsrd personal information and other sensitive dataddition, “phishing” incidents are on
the rise. Phishing involves an online company’'sa@uers being tricked into providing their creditdamumbers or account information to
someone pretending to be the online company’s septative. Such incidents have recently giventdd#igation against online companies for
failing to take sufficient steps to police agaissth activities by third parties, and may discoaragstomers from using online services.

eCOST may be subject to product liability claimstttould be costly and time consuming.

eCOST sells products manufactured and dig&ihby third parties, some of which may be defectiffany product that eCOST sells wer
cause physical injury or damage to property, theéd party or parties could bring claims agaifGO&T as the retailer of the product.
eCOSTSs insurance coverage may not be adequate to ceggr €laim that could be asserted. If a succeshiln were brought against eCO
in excess of its insurance coverage, it could egio® significant liability. Even unsuccessfuaiths could result in the expenditure of funds
and management time and could decrease profitabilit

Risks Related to eCOST'’s Industry
eCOST’s success is tied to the continued use ofittternet and the adequacy of the Internet infrasicture.

eCOST'’s future revenues and profits, if amjastantially depend upon the continued widespresadofithe Internet as an effective medium
of business and communication. If use of the Irgedeclines or the Internet infrastructure becoaremeffective medium for business
transactions and communication, eCOST may not leetaleffectively implement its growth strategy @nhdould lose customers. Widespread
use of the Internet could decline as a result sffugiitions, computer viruses or other damage toriateservers or users’ computers.
Additionally, if the Internet’s infrastructure doaet expand fast enough to meet increasing leviais®, it may become a less effective medium
of business transactions and communications.

The security risks of e-commerce may discouragetomsers from purchasing goods over the Internet.

In order for the e-commerce market to develogcessfully, eCOST and other market participantstine able to transmit confidential
information securely over public networks. Thirdtgs may have the technology or know-how to breaehsecurity of customer transaction
data. Any breach could cause customers to losedmde in the security of eCOST’s website and chams to purchase from the website. If
someone is able to circumvent our security measheeer she could destroy or steal valuable infoioneor disrupt operations. Concerns ak
the
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security and privacy of transactions over the mtecould inhibit the growth of the Internet andanmerce. Security measures may not
effectively prohibit others from obtaining impropeecess to information. Any security breach coujgose eCOST to risks of loss, litigation
and liability and could seriously disrupt its optéras.

Credit card fraud could decrease eCOST'’s revenued grofitability.

eCOST does not currently carry insurance agalire risk of credit card fraud, so the failurattequately control fraudulent credit card
transactions could reduce its revenues and groesimaCOST may in the future suffer losses asaltef orders placed with fraudulent cre
card data even though the associated financialtitish approved payment of the orders. Under curceedit card practices, eCOST may be
liable for fraudulent credit card transactions heseait did not obtain a cardholdesignature. If eCOST is unable to detect or coenedit carc
fraud, or if credit card companies require moredeasome terms or refuse to accept credit card ehaeOST’s revenues and profitability
could decrease.

Additional sales and use taxes could be imposedast or future sales of eCO¢Ss products or other products sold on eCOST’s wédsi
which could adversely affect eCOST’s revenues anafipability.

In accordance with current industry practind @COST'’s interpretation of applicable law, eCQ8llects and remits sales taxes only with
respect to physical shipments of goods into stateye eCOST has a physical presence. If any staither jurisdiction successfully challeng
this practice and imposes sales and use taxesdensosn which eCOST does not collect and remisdabees, eCOST could be exposed to
substantial tax liabilities for past sales and dauffer decreased sales in that state or jurisdidéh the future. In addition, a number of states,
as well as the U.S. Congress, have been consideaious legislative initiatives that could resulthe imposition of additional sales and use
taxes on Internet sales. If any of these initiatigee enacted, eCOST could be required to colédes and use taxes in states where eCOST
not have a physical presence. Future changes iopisgtion of eCOST’s business also could resutiénmposition of additional sales and use
tax obligations. The imposition of additional sade®l use taxes on past or future sales could aslyexect eCOST's revenues and
profitability.

Existing or future government regulation could expe eCOST to liabilities and costly changes in itssimess operations, and could redu
customer demand for its products.

eCOST is subject to general business regulaémd laws, as well as regulations and laws dpaltyf governing the Internet and e-
commerce. Such existing and future laws and reignlsiimay impede the growth of the Internet or othdine services. These regulations and
laws may cover taxation, user privacy, marketing promotional practices, database protection, pyictontent, copyrights, distribution,
electronic contracts, email and other communicatieonsumer protection, product safety, the prorisif online payment services, intellect
property rights, unauthorized access (includingGbenputer Fraud and Abuse Act), and the charatitriand quality of products and services.
It is unclear how existing laws governing issueshsas property ownership, sales and other taxed, trespass, data mining and collection,
personal privacy apply to the Internet and e-conemednfavorable resolution of these issues may &p€OST to liabilities and costly
changes in its business operations, and could eecustomer demand. The growth and demand for ootinemerce has and may continue to
result in more stringent consumer protection ldved impose additional compliance burdens on ordorapanies. For example, California law
requires notice to California customers if cerfaémsonal information about them is obtained by rewthorized person, such as a computer
hacker. These consumer protection laws could ré@sslibstantial compliance costs and could decrpa@ability.

Laws or regulations relating to privacy and datagiection may adversely affect the growth of eCCs Internet business or its marketing
efforts.

eCOST is subject to increasing regulationtirdgto privacy and the use of personal user infifom. For example, eCOST is subject to
various telemarketing and anti-spam laws that egguhe manner in which it may solicit future sugg and customers. Such regulations,
along with increased governmental or private ergiorent, may increase the cost of growing the businesaddition, several jurisdictions,
including California, have adopted legislation liimg the uses of personal user information gathergihe or require online services to
establish privacy policies. Pursuant to the Chiiti@©nline Privacy Protection Act, the Federal E&bmmission has
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adopted regulations regarding the collection aredaigpersonal identifying information obtained framildren under 13 years of age.
Increasingly, federal, state and foreign laws aglitations extend online privacy protection to &lMoreover, in jurisdictions where eCOST
does business, there is a trend toward requiringpamies to establish procedures to notify usemsivécy and security policies, to obtain prior
consent from users for the collection, use andassece of personal information (even disclosuraftdiates), and to provide users with the
ability to access, correct and delete personatinédion stored by companies. These data proteotigulations and enforcement efforts may
restrict eCOST'’s ability to collect, use or tramslemographic and personal information from usetsch could be costly or harm marketing
efforts. Further, any violation of privacy or datetection laws and regulations may subject eCQSines, penalties and damages, as well as
harm to its reputation, which could decrease ¥emees and profitability.
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Item 2. Properties
Our PFSweb business is headquartered in satefffice facility located in Plano, Texas, a Rallsuburb.

In the U.S., we operate a distribution fagilit Memphis, Tennessee, which includes floor am@zranine space of approximately 600,000
square feet. We also operate 800,000 square feltabution facilities in Southaven, MississipBioth of these complexes are located
approximately five miles from the Memphis Interoatil Airport, where both Federal Express and UnRattel Service operate large hub
facilities. We also manage a 200,000 square fattidition facility in Grapevine, Texas.

We operate a 150,000 square foot distributemter in Liege, Belgium, which contains advancisttitution systems and equipment. We
also operate a 13,000 square foot distributionaréntRichmond Hill, Canada, near Toronto. We ofgecaistomer service centers in Memphis,
Tennessee; Plano, Texas; and Liege, Belgium. Gucearater technology permits the automatic routvigalls to available customer service
representatives in several of our call centers.

Except for the Grapevine, Texas facility, whige manage on our client’s behalf, all of ourliies are leased and the material lease
agreements contain one or more renewal options.

As a result of the merger with eCOST on Fetyrda 2006, we acquired a sublease of approximdt@)900 square feet of office space in
Torrance, California for the eCOST corporate headgus and customer service operations. We alsairachja lease for a 164,000 square foot
distribution facility in Memphis, Tennessee. We anerently assessing our needs for these faciiitiese future.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

On May 9, 2005, a lawsuit was filed in thetbgt Court of Collin County, Texas, by J. Gregdtéhard, as Trustee of the D.I.C. Creditors
Trust, naming the former directors of Daisytek intgional Corporation and the Company as defendaxtisytek filed for bankruptcy in
May 2003 and the Trust was created pursuant toyki's Plan of Liquidation. The complaint allegasjong other things, that the spin-off of
the Company from Daisytek in December 1999 wasuadinlent conveyance and that Daisytek was dam&geelly in the amount of at least
$38 million. We believe the claim has no merit &mend to vigorously defend the action.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None.
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Sktwlder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Seities

Our common stock is listed and currently tsade the NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol SWW" The following table sets forth
for the period indicated the high and low sale @fir the common stock as reported by NASDAQ:

Price
High Low

Year Ended December 31, 2C

First Quarte| $ 3.7 $ 2.1¢

Second Quarte $ 2.67 $ 1.6¢€

Third Quartel $ 2.8t $ 1.5:

Fourth Quarte $ 1.77 $ 1.0t
Year Ended December 31, 2C

First Quarte $ 2.1t $ 1.5¢

Second Quarte $ 1.8t $ 1.3(

Third Quartel $ 1.6¢ $ 1.2

Fourth Quarte $ 3.6C $ 1.4¢

As of December 21, 2005, there were approxdipat0,600 shareholders of which 165 were recotdérs of the common stock.

We have never declared or paid cash dividendsur common stock and do not anticipate the paywiecash dividends on our common
stock in the foreseeable future. We are also m¢sttifrom paying dividends under our debt agreemevithout the prior approval of our
lenders. We currently intend to retain all earnitgfinance the further development of our busing@bg payment of any future cash dividends
will be at the discretion of our Board of Direct@rsd will depend upon, among other things, fut@miegs, operations, capital requirements,
the general financial condition of the Company gaderal business conditions and the approval ofemgers. See “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Result©gplerations — Liquidity and Capital Resources.”

Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data
Historical Presentation
In June 2001, we changed in our fiscal yedrfesm March 31 to December 31.

The selected consolidated historical stateraBoperations data for the years ended Decemhe2(b, 2004, and 2003, and the selected
consolidated balance sheet data as of Decemb@08%,and 2004 have been derived from our auditedatmated financial statements, and
should be read in conjunction with those statemantsnotes, which are included in this Form 10-Ke Belected consolidated statement of
operations data for the year ended December 32, 200 the nine months ended December 31, 200lhansktected consolidated balance
sheet data as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 ardidh20@ been derived from our audited consolidateth€ial statements, and should be
in conjunction with those statements, which areimciuided in this Form 10-K.

The selected consolidated financial data shbalread in conjunction with “Management’s Disémssand Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations,” “Risks Related to OusiBess — Our historical financial information mmat be representative of our future
results,” and the consolidated financial statemeantsnotes thereto that are included elsewhetgsrForm 10-K.
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Historical Selected Condensed Consolidated FinandiBata

(In thousands, except per share data)

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operatiol
Data:
Revenues
Product revenue, n
Service fee revent
Pas-through revenu
Other revenui
Total revenue
Costs of revenue:
Cost of product revent
Cost of service fee reven
Cost of pas-through revenu
Cost of other revent
Total costs of revenue
Gross profit
Percent of revenue
Selling, general and administrative exper
Severance and other termination ct
Other
Income (loss) from operatiol
Percent of revenue
Equity in earnings of affiliat
Interest expense (income), 1
Income (loss) before income taxes
extraordinary iten
Income tax expense (bene
Income (loss) before extraordinary it
Extraordinary item — gain on purchase of 51% sbére
Supplies Distributor:
Net income (loss

Per share data:
Net income (loss) per shal
Basic

Diluted

Weighted average number of shares outstan:
Basic
Diluted

Consolidated Balance Sheet Date
Working capital
Total asset
Long-term obligation:
Shareholde’ equity

(@ InJune 2001, we changed our fiscal year end fraanchl 31 to December 3
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Nine Months
Year Ended Ended
December 31, December 31
2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 (a)

$252,90: $267,47( $249,23( $ 57,49: $ —

60,78: 42,07¢ 33,77: 35,82¢ 27,95:

17,97: 12,11¢ 3,43t 3,692 3,721

— — — — 10C

331,65 321,66! 286,43t 97,00¢ 31,77¢

235,58 251,96¢ 235,31° 54,34: —

45,59 28,06 23,15¢ 22,66( 18,20¢

17,97: 12,11¢ 3,43t 3,692 3,721

— — — — (627)

299,15: 292,15 261,91: 80,69¢ 21,30z

32,50¢ 29,51 24,52¢ 16,31« 10,47:
9.8% 9.2% 8.6% 16.8% 33.0%

30,52 27,09 25,69¢ 27,93¢ 16,89:

— — — 1,21% —

— — — — (5,147

1,98 2,42( (1,179 (12,837 (1,280
0.6% 0.8% (0.4)% (13.2)% (4.0%

— — — 1,162 —

1,72¢ 1,46( 2,00( (160 (496)

254 96( (3,179 (11,509 (784)

1,001 734 572 94 (219

(747) 22€ (3,746 (11,609 (56E)

— — — 20z —

$ (749 $ 22€ $ (3,746 $(11,400 $ (565)

$ (0.09 $ 0.01 $ (0.20 $ (0.69 $  (0.09

$ (0.09 $ 0.01 $ (0.20 $ (0.69 $  (0.09

22,39 21,33: 19,01: 18,22¢ 18,03¢

22,39« 23,46¢ 19,01: 18,22¢ 18,03¢

As of December 31,

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
$ 23,35¢ $ 22,60¢ $ 21,407 $ 16,04¢ $11,18¢
131,72¢ 130,32 108,35¢ 107,22 51,611
8,10z 8,74¢ 3,76( 4,514 5,87
29,93¢ 29,92¢ 28,41 26,47( 36,60¢
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@dition and Results of Operations

We believe the following discussion and analysivigles information that is relevant to an assessraed understanding of our
consolidated results of operations and financiatdition. The discussion and analysis should be ieambnjunction with the consolidated
financial statements and related notes thereto appg elsewhere in thiForm 10-K . This Management’s Discussion and Aniglydl help
you understand

. The impact of forward looking statemer

. Key transactions that we completed in 2C

. Our financial structure, including our historicaidncial presentatior

. Our results of operations for the last three ye

. Our relationship with our subsidiary Supplies Disitors;

. Our liquidity and capital resource

. The impact of seasonality, inflation and recerglyuied accounting standards on our financial statesnanc

. Our critical accounting policies and estima

Forward-Looking Information

We have made forward-looking statements is Reéport on Form 18- These statements are subject to risks and waictets, and there ¢
be no guarantee that these statements will probe torrect. Forwartboking statements include assumptions as to howneae perform in th
future. When we use words like “seek,” “strive,€leve,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “predict,” “poterdl,” “continue,” “will,” “may,” “could,”
“intend,” “plan,” “target” and “estimate” or simitaexpressions, we are making forward-looking states. You should understand that the
following important factors, in addition to thoset $orth above or elsewhere in this Report on FbéaK, could cause our results to differ
materially from those expressed in our forward-lagkstatements. These factors include:

. our ability to retain and expand relationships ve#isting clients and attract and implement neerds;
. our reliance on the fees generated by the tramsaetlume or product sales of our clier
. our reliance on our clier’ projections or transaction volume or product se

. our dependence upon our agreements with |

. our dependence upon our agreements with our migort<s;

. our client mix, their business volumes and the @eality of their busines:

. our ability to finalize pending contrac!

. the impact of strategic alliances and acquisiti

. trends in the market for our servic

. trends in -commerce

. whether we can continue and manage gro

. changes in the trend toward outsourci

. increased competitiol

. our ability to generate more revenue and achiestamable profitability

. effects of changes in profit margir

. the customer and supplier concentration of ourrtass;

. the unknown effects of possible system failuresrapid changes in technolog

. trends in government regulation both foreign anchestic;

. foreign currency risks and other risks of operatmépreign countries

. potential litigation;

. our dependency on key persont

. the impact of new accounting standards and rulggrdéng revenue recognition, stock options andrathegters
. changes in accounting rules or the interpretatidrikose rules

. our ability to raise additional capital or obtauhd&ional financing;



our ability and the ability of our subsidiariesttorrow under current financing arrangements aathtain compliance with debt
covenants

our relationship with and our guarantees of cerbditine liabilities and indebtedness of our sulzsids;
whether outstanding warrants issued in a priorgbeiylacement will be exercised in the futt

the transition costs resulting from our merger ve@@OST;

our ability to successfully integrate eCOST intw business to achieve the anticipated benefitbefierger
eCOS”s potential indemnification obligations to its fagmparent

eCOS”s ability to maintain existing and build new redatships with manufacturers and vendors and theessaaf its advertising ar
marketing efforts; an

eCOS”s ability to increase its sales revenue and sakegimand improve operating efficiencir
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We have based these statements on our cexpattations about future events. Although weelrelithat the expectations reflected in our
forward-looking statements are reasonable, we daguerantee you that these expectations actuallypeiachieved. In addition, some
forward-looking statements are based upon assungpéis to future events that may not prove to barate. Therefore, actual outcomes and
results may differ materially from what is expectedorecasted in such forward-looking statemeWs.undertake no obligation to update
publicly any forwardlooking statement for any reason, even if new imfation becomes available or other events occurdrfuture. There mi
be additional risks that we do not currently viessnaaterial or that are not presently known. In exihg these statements, you should consider
various factors, including the risks set forthhie section entitled “Risk Factors.”

Key Transactions in 2005
During 2005, we completed the following kegrisactions:

. We completed the implementation of many new cotgrasigned in 2004. These newly implemented corgremntributed $15.2 millic
in new service fee revenues during 2C

. We entered into new contracts with new and exgstiients with estimated fully implemented fullayeannual service fees of
approximately $4 to $5 million based on currengémliprojections. Service fee revenues invoiced filoese new contracts in 2005 w
approximately $1.3 million. We also recognized apimately $2.3 million of service fee revenue irD80drom special projects with
new and existing client:

. We opened a new 602,000 square foot distributioiliigin Southaven, Mississipp
. We entered into a letter of intent to merge witt0ST, which we subsequently completed in Februaf6z

. We relocated into another 300,000 square footidigion center in Southaven, Mississippi and reedrdpproximately $1.4 million
incremental relocatic-related costs associated with this mc

Overview

We are an international provider of integratediness process outsourcing solutions to magmdname companies seeking to maximize
their supply chain efficiencies and to extend theiditional business and e-commerce initiatives. d&rive our revenues from a broad range of
services, including professional consulting, tedbgy collaboration, order management, managed westirig and web development, customer
relationship management, financial services inclgdiilling and collection services and working ¢apsolutions, kitting and assembly
services, information management and internatiiriillment and distribution services. We offer osgrvices as an integrated solution, which
enables our clients to outsource their complet@gtfucture needs to a single source and to foeuleir core competencies. Our distribution
services are conducted at warehouses that wedeasanage and include retifhe inventory management and customized pickiagkimg ant
shipping of our clients’ customer orders. We cutlseaffer the ability to provide infrastructure adéstribution solutions to clients that operate
in a range of vertical markets, including techngloganufacturing, computer products, printers, cagsefragile goods, high security
collectibles, pharmaceuticals, contemporary homeishings, apparel, aviation, telecommunication$ @nsumer electronics, among others.

We provide these services, and earn our reyehtough two separate business segments, whighdperationally similar business models.
The first business segment is a service fee reverogel. In this segment, we do not own the undeglynventory or the resulting accounts
receivable, but provide management services faretleient-owned assets. We typically charge owceifee revenue on a cost-plus basis, a
percent of shipped revenue basis or a per-traosabtsis, such as a per-minute basis for web-eth@blstomer contact center services and a
per-item basis for fulfillment services. Additiorfaks are billed for other services. We price @uvises based on a variety of factors, including
the depth and complexity of the services providiee,amount of capital expenditures or systems augttion required, the length of contract
and other factors.

Many of our service fee contracts involvedkrarty vendors who provide additional serviceshsag package delivery. The costs we are
charged by these third-party vendors for theseices\are often passed on to our clients. Our b#lifor reimbursements of these and other
‘out-of-pocket’ expenses include travel, shippimgl &andling costs and telecommunication chargemaheded in pass through revenue.

Our second business segment is a product ueveiodel. In this segment, we are a master distnitnf product for IBM and certain other
clients. In this capacity, we purchase, and thus,émventory and recognize the

35




Table of Contents

corresponding product revenue. As a result, uperséte of inventory, we own the accounts receivabieight costs billed to customers are
reflected as components of product revenue. Théinkas segment requires significant working capéqlirements, for which we have senior
credit facilities to provide for more than $86 naifl of available financing.

For the periods subsequent to October 1, 2802services include purchasing and resellingitioduct inventory within this product
revenue segment. In these arrangements, our prositertue is recognized at the time product is gdppPuring this time, product revenue
includes freight costs billed to customers anadurced for pass through customer marketing progreorshe period prior to September 30,
2002, these IBM and other agreements were strutsueh that we provided transaction managemenicgsrenly on a service fee basis based
on a percentage of shipped revenue. See “Histdficaincial Presentation.”

Growth is a key element to us achieving oturki goals, including reaching and maintaining auastble profitability. Growth in our service
fee business is driven by two main elements: nénttelationships and organic growth from existitignts. We have refocused our sales
efforts on larger contracts with brand-name comgmaind we have seen the sales cycle lengthen amdithber of new contract signings slow
down in 2005. Our 2005 results include approxinya®&i%, or approximately $1.3 million, of what wdibee will ultimately be the fully
operational annual fee revenue under new clientiogiships entered into in 2005, which is curreetljimated to be approximately $4 to
$5 million.

Growth within our product revenue businesancipated to occur as the result of our mergén @COST, which was completed in
February 2006. The merger will provide a line adguct revenue focused around the web-commerce trepkealing to a broad range of
consumer and small business customers. The prodecaturrently offers more than 100,000 productsaialve primary merchandise categot
including computer hardware and software, hometrgrics, digital imaging, watches and jewelry, hewares, DVD movies, video games,
travel, bed and bath, apparel and accessorieaskcesports gear and cellular/wireless.

We continue to monitor and control our costfotus on profitability. While we expect our neargce fee contracts to yield increased gross
profit, we also expect to incur incremental investits to implement new contracts, investments iragtfucture and sales and marketing to
support our targeted growth and increased publicpamy professional fees.

Our expenses comprise primarily four categorlg cost of product revenue, 2) cost of serveeerevenue, 3) cost of pass-through revenue
and 4) selling, general and administrative (“SG&&Xpenses.

Cost of product revenue subsequent to October 1, 2002 cost of product revennsists of the purchase price of product sodtfieeight
costs, which are reduced by certain reimbursalpperses. These reimbursable expenses include passgfthcustomer marketing programs,
direct costs incurred in passing on any price desge offered by IBM to Supplies Distributors ordtstomers to cover price protection and
certain special bids, the cost of products provieetplace defective product returned by custoraadscertain other expenses as defined L
the master distributor agreements.

Cost of service fee revenaesonsists primarily of compensation and relatgokeses for our web-enabled customer contact ceeteices,
international fulfillment and distribution servicaad professional consulting services, and otlxedfiand variable expenses directly related to
providing services under the terms of fee basetracts, including certain occupancy and informatechnology costs and depreciation and
amortization expenses.

Cost of pass-through revenadhe related reimbursable costs for pass-througeralitures are reflected as cost of pass-throegenue.

SG&A expenses onsist primarily of compensation and related espsrfor sales and marketing staff, executive, memagt and
administrative personnel and other overhead cietlsiding certain occupancy and information teclgglcosts and depreciation and
amortization expenses.
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Monitoring and controlling our available caslances continues to be a primary focus. Our aadHiquidity positions are important
components of our financing of both current operatiand our targeted growth. In recent years we hdded to our available cash and
liquidity positions through various transactiongsEwe have a working capital financing agreemith a bank that currently provides
financing for up to $7.5 million of eligible accawgireceivable and has provided financing for $2ilian of eligible capital expenditures.
Secondly, in 2003 we completed a private placeragapproximately 1.6 million shares of our comméwck to certain investors that provided
net proceeds of approximately $3.2 million. In Jayu2005, we issued an additional 0.4 million skarfecommon stock to certain of these
investors who exercised warrants issued in theafgiplacement. The warrants exercised providedilli®n of additional proceeds. Thirdly,
in 2004 we received proceeds of $5.0 million oftale revenue bonds to finance capital additiorsutonew facility in Southaven, MS which
was supported by a $5.0 million letter of creddiliy with a bank.

Historical Financial Presentation

We believe our historical financial statementsy not provide a meaningful comparison to ourenirand future financial performance for
the reasons described below.

In 2001, we changed our year-end reporting &am March 31, 2001 to December 31, 2001. Théeddinancials for this nine-month
period are presented as such and are considebedadull-reporting period.

The financial information presented for theiges prior to October 1, 2002 reflect our agreetmevith IBM as master distributors of certain
IBM products (until July 2001 a third party, andrr July 2001 until September 2002, Supplies Distdls, our 49% owned subsidiary). Uni
these agreements, the master distributors ownediatributed the IBM product and we provided traigan management and fulfillment
services to the master distributors. Under theseesgents, we did not own the IBM product and ouenele was service fee revenue (based on
product sales volume or other transaction basethpgpi and not product revenue.

In October 2002, we acquired the remaining Bl#t6ership interest in Supplies Distributors andne® consolidate 100% of Supplies
Distributors financial position and results of cg#rns into our consolidated financial statemed{son consolidation, effective October 1,
2002, we own the IBM product and record producereie as the product is sold to IBM customers.

As a result of consolidating Supplies Disttdyg’ financial position and results of operationsr total revenues arising under our new IBM
agreements have increased, as compared to thedwegslues arising under the prior IBM agreementsvéVer, our gross profit margin as a
percent of product revenue under the new IBM agesgsis lower as compared to our gross profit nmeagia percent of net service fee
revenue under the prior IBM service fee agreements.

As a result of reflecting revenue earned utldemaster distributor agreements as product tevencertain periods and as service fee
revenue in others, our historical results of operst may not be indicative of our future operatimdinancial performance.
Results of Operations

The following table sets forth certain histadifinancial information from our consolidatedtstaents of operations expressed as a perc
net revenues.

Year Ended December 31

2005 2004 2003

Product revenue, n 76.2% 83.1% 87.(%
Service fee revent 18.: 13.1 11.¢
Pas-through revenu 5.4 3.8 1.2
Total revenue 100.( 100.( 100.(
Cost of product revenue (as % of product reve| 93.2 94.2 94.4
Cost of service fee revenue (as % of service feemee) 75.C 66.7 68.¢€
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Year Ended December 31

2005 2004 2003
Cost of pas-through revenue (as % of p-through revenue 100.( 100.( 100.(
Total costs of revenue 90.2 90.¢ 91.£
Gross profit 9.8 9.2 8.€
Selling, general and administrative exper 9.2 8.4 9.C
Income (loss) from operatiol 0.6 0.8 (0.9)
Interest expense, n 0.5 0.5 0.7
Income (loss) before income taxes and extraordigany 0.1 0.2 (1.2
Income tax expens 0.3 0.2 0.2
Net income (loss (0.29% .1% (1.9%

Year Ended December 31, 2005 Compared to Year Erdecember 31, 2004

Product Revenue, NéRroduct revenue was $252.9 million for the yeareehndecember 31, 2005, as compared to $267.5 mfthothe
year ended December 31, 2004, a decrease of $1idhror 5.4%. The decrease in annual product nereeresulted primarily from a decret
in hardware sales volume and increased efficieficgdain products offset by certain product piftereases.

Service Fee Revenugervice fee revenue was $60.8 million for the yarated December 31, 2005 as compared to $42.1 midiothe yea
ended December 31, 2004, an increase of $18.7omibli 44.5%. Service fee revenue for the periotlided increased service fees generated
from incremental projects with certain client redaships. The change in service fee revenue is stmhow ($ millions):

Year ended December 31, 2C $ 421
New service contract relationships, including pctg 15.2
Increase in existing client service fees from orggmowth net of reduction in client project activ 4.7
Terminated clients not included in 2005 reve (1.2

Year ended December 31, 2C $ 60.¢

Service fee revenue for the year ended DeceB1he?005 included approximately $2.4 million eé§ earned from client contracts
terminated during 2005.

Cost of Product Revenu€ost of product revenue was $235.6 million for ykar ended December 31, 2005, as compared to $a6Hidh
for the year ended December 31, 2004, a decregkkbot million or 6.5%. Cost of product revenueagmercent of product revenue was 93.2%
during the year ended December 31, 2005 and 94.2¥githe year ended December 31, 2004. The ragudtioss profit margin was 6.8% and
5.8% for the year ended December 31, 2005 and 266gectively. The decrease in annual cost of piodwenue from the prior year resulted
primarily from certain incremental inventory costluctions and the result of decreased sales volofrstain products. In addition, 2004
included higher provisions for excess and obsafetentory of $1.2 million compared to 2005.

Cost of Service Fee Revenugost of service fee revenue was $45.6 milliontfieryear ended December 31, 2005, as compared to
$28.1 million during the year ended December 3D42@n increase of $17.5 million or 62.5%. The Itesy service fee gross profit was
$15.2 million or 25.0% of service fee revenue, dgihe year ended December 31, 2005 as compafditd million, or 33.3% of service fee
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2004. @gs grofit as a percent of service fee revenueedsed in the current period primarily due
to lower gross margins on certain new contractiglgrdue to higher costs incurred during the ismkntation and initial operating periods of
these new contracts. The 2004 results also refibethigher gross margin benefit related to cenpaiject revenue that did not occur at a sir
level in 2005. As we add new service fee revenubarfuture, we currently intend to target the utyeg contracts to earn an average gross
profit percentage of 25-
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35%, but we have and may continue to accept lowessgmargin percentages on certain contracts demeod contract scope and other
factors.

Selling, General and Administrative Expens8&&A expenses were $30.5 million for the yeareehBecember 31, 2005 or 9.2% of total
net revenues, as compared to $27.1 million, or &#%tal revenues, for the year ended DecembeR@14. SG&A expenses increased from
the prior year primarily due to approximately $indlion of incremental costs incurred in 2005 ttomate certain of our operations from
Memphis, Tennessee to a new facility in Southatiasissippi, the legal fees related to the Daisy#sksuit filed in May 2005 (see Part I.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings), incremental sales amdketing expenses and certain personnel related.cos

Income TaxesFor the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2G94ecwrded a tax provision of $1.0 million and $®ilflion, respectively,
primarily associated with Supplies Distributors’@dian and European operations. We did not reqoidcme tax benefit for our PFSweb
Canadian pre-tax losses in the current or prioiogdsr We anticipate that we will continue to recardincome tax provision associated with
Supplies Distributors’ Canadian and European regflbperations. A valuation allowance has beerigeal for most of our net deferred tax
assets as of December 31, 2005, which are primaidyed to our net operating loss carryforwards.

Year Ended December 31, 2004 Compared to Year Erdecember 31, 2003

Product Revenue, N&Rroduct revenue was $267.5 million for the yeareehidecember 31, 2004, as compared to $249.2 mfthothe
year ended December 31, 2003, an increase of $i8i8n or 7.3%. The increase in annual producerase resulted primarily from tt
favorable impact of exchange rates on our EuropeanCanadian operations, increased sales volunestain existing products and the
addition of certain new products.

Service Fee Revenugervice fee revenue was $42.1 million for the yerated December 31, 2004 as compared to $33.7 midiothe yea
ended December 31, 2003, an increase of $8.4 mitid®24.6%. Service fee revenue for the perioduithet! increased service fees generated
from incremental projects with certain client redaships. The change in service fee revenue is stmhow ($ millions):

Year ended December 31, 2C $ 33.7
New service contract relationships, including pctg 5.2
Increase in existing client service fees from orggnowth and certain incremental proje 4.7
Terminated clients not included in 2004 reve (1.6

Year ended December 31, 2C $ 421

Service fee revenue for the year ended DeceBihe2004 included approximately $1.0 million eé§ earned from client contracts
terminated during 2004.

Cost of Product Revenu€ost of product revenue was $252.0 million for ykear ended December 31, 2004, as compared to $a88ich
for the year ended December 31, 2003, an increfags®607 million or 7.1%. Cost of product revenueagsercent of product revenue was 94
during the year ended December 31, 2004 and 94uttigithe year ended December 31, 2003. The iner@aannual cost of product revenue
from the prior year resulted primarily from the iagp of exchange rates on our European and Canag@mations, increased sales volumes of
certain existing products and the addition of denteew products partially offset by a reductioroinr provision for excess and obsolete
inventory. In both years, the cost of product rexewas also partially offset by other inventorytaesluctions from a vendor. The resulting
gross profit margin was 5.8% and 5.6% for the wated December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Cost of Service Fee Revenugost of service fee revenue was $28.1 milliontfieryear ended December 31, 2004, as compared to
$23.2 million during the year ended December 3D32@n increase of $4.9 million or 21.2%. The résglservice fee gross profit was
$14.0 million or 33.3% of service fee revenue, dgihe year ended December 31, 2004 as compafdté million, or 31.4% of service fee
revenue for the year ended December 31,
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2003. Our gross profit as a percent of servicedgenue increased in the current period primaily tb incremental projects with certain client
relationships partially offset by lower gross masgon certain new contracts, including certaint starcosts.

Selling, General and Administrative Expens8&&A expenses were $27.1 million for the yearehBecember 31, 2004 or 8.4% of total
net revenues, as compared to $25.7 million, or ©0%tal revenues, for the year ended DecembeR@13. SG&A expenses increased from
the prior year primarily due to additional expensesirred in preparation of complying with the Sarbs-Oxley Act of 2002 and incremental
sales and marketing expenses.

Interest Expenselnterest expense was $1.6 million for the yeategihDecember 31, 2004 as compared to $2.1 mildothe year ended
December 31, 2003. The decrease in interest exfepsenarily due to lower average loan balancea essult of reduced inventory levels.

Income TaxesFor the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2098 eorded a tax provision of $0.7 million and $®iion, respectively,
primarily associated with Supplies Distributo€&inadian and European operations. We did not renoidcome tax benefit associated with
consolidated net loss in our U.S. operations. Alatbn allowance has been provided for certainuofreet deferred tax assets as of
December 30, 2004, which are primarily relateduomet operating loss carryforwards. We did nobrd@n income tax benefit for our
PFSweb European pre-tax losses in the currentiar periods.

Supplies Distributors and its Subsidiaries

Supplies Distributors and its subsidiariesasctnaster distributors of various IBM and othedpicts and, pursuant to a transaction
management services agreement between us and &ipdtributors, we provide transaction managerardtfulfillment services to Supplies
Distributors and its subsidiaries. Since Octob&Z@ve have owned 100% of Supplies Distributorsddition to our equity investment in
Supplies Distributors, we have also provided SugsgpDistributors with a subordinated loan that, fdSexember 31, 2005, had an outstanding
balance of $7.0 million.

In September 2003, Supplies Distributors paic $0.6 million dividend. In September 2004 aredé&nber 2004, Supplies Distributors paid
us a $0.6 million and $0.2 million dividend, restpesly. In June 2005, Supplies Distributors paidau$l.0 million dividend. Pursuant to the
terms of its amended credit agreements, SupplissiButors is currently restricted from paying caéridends without the prior approval of its
lenders. In addition, no distribution may be mdgdafter giving effect thereto, the net worth ofpplies Distributors would be less than
$1.0 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Net cash provided by operating activities $8s8 million for the year ended December 31, 20@5 @rimarily resulted from increases in
income, as adjusted for non-cash items, of $5.4amikind accounts payable, accrued expenses aadlathilities of $2.5 million partially
offset by increases in accounts receivable of $#lkon, prepaid expenses, other receivables ahdrassets of $1.8 million and an increase in
inventories of $0.8 million. Net cash provided lpecating activities was $5.5 million for the yeaded December 31, 2004 and primarily
resulted from income, as adjusted for non-cashsfen$6.4 million and increases in accounts pagadiicrued expenses and other liabilities of
$15.1 million partially offset by increases in aonts receivable of $9.8 million, prepaid expenséser receivables and other assets of
$5.8 million. The December 31, 2004, accounts playbalance was higher than normal primarily duthéotiming of invoice processing by ¢
of our master distributor vendors.

Net cash used in investing activities forykar ended December 31, 2005 totaled $2.8 miltiesylting from capital expenditures of
$3.9 million offset by a decrease in restrictechoafs$1.1 million. Net cash used in investing aitis for the year ended December 31, 2004
totaled $8.8 million, resulting from capital expéndes of $7.7 million and an increase in restdotash of $1.1 million. The fluctuations in
restricted cash for both years related primariljhetiming of the Mississippi taxable bond proceadd payments that were restricted
specifically for payment on capital additions oregayment on the outstanding bonds.
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Capital expenditures have historically corgigbrimarily of additions to upgrade our managenigormation systems and general
expansion of our facilities, both domestic and ifigneWe expect to incur capital expenditures topgupnew contracts and anticipated future
growth opportunities. Based on our current cliargibess activity and our targeted growth plansamtecipate that our total investment in
upgrades and additions to facilities and infornratiechnology services for the upcoming twelve menitiil be approximately $4 million to
$7 million, although additional capital expenditsiraay be necessary to support the infrastructupgirements of new clients as well as the
eCOST infrastructure. To maintain our current ofegacash position, a portion of these expenditunag be financed through debt, operating
or capital leases or additional equity. We maytdieenodify or defer a portion of such anticipatedestments in the event that we do not
achieve the revenue necessary to support suchtingets.

Net cash provided by financing activities va@groximately $2.1 million for the year ended Debem31, 2005, primarily representing
$1.2 million of proceeds from debt and $2.1 milliwiproceeds from the issuance of common stockuauntsto our employee stock purchase
and stock option programs and warrant exercisdfappoffset by $1.2 million of payments on ourpital lease obligations. Net cash provided
by financing activities was approximately $2.2 ioifl for the year ended December 31, 2004, primagiresenting $3.3 million of proceeds
from debt and $0.5 million of proceeds from theigasce of common stock pursuant to our employed giorchase and stock option programs
partially offset by $1.1 million of payments on aapital lease obligations.

During the year ended December 31, 2005, aukiwg capital increased to $23.4 million from $illion at December 31, 2004 primal
as a result of cash flow from operations plus in@atal debt and issuance of common stock, partdiset by capital expenditures. To obtain
additional financing in the future, in additiondar current cash position, we plan to evaluateouarifinancing alternatives including the sale of
equity, utilizing capital or operating leases, baring under our own credit facilities, expanding ourrent credit facilities, entering into new
debt agreements or transferring to third-partipsrion of our subordinated loan balances due fBupplies Distributors. In conjunction with
certain of these alternatives, we may be requibgatavide certain letters of credit to secure theasangements. No assurances can be give
we will be successful in obtaining any additioriabhcing or the terms thereof. We currently belithed our cash position, financing available
under our credit facilities and funds generatedhfaperations (including our anticipated revenuengincand/or cost reductions to offset lower
than anticipated revenue growth) will satisfy otegently known operating cash needs, our workipjtalaand capital expenditure
requirements, our lease obligations, and additisnbabrdinated loans to our subsidiaries, if necgséar at least the next twelve months.

The following is a schedule of our total catual cash obligations, which is comprised of apeg leases, debt, vendor financing and
capital leases (including interest), as of Decen®i¢2005 (in millions):
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Payments Due By Peric

Less thar 1-3 3-5 More thar

Contractual Obligation Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
Debt and vendor financir $67,96( $61,82: $ 2,12: $ 2,00¢ $ 2,00¢
Capital lease obligatior 3,952 2,44: 1,322 187 —
Operating lease 21,31: 7,48¢ 10,25¢ 2,78 781
Total $93,22¢ $71,75( $13,70: $ 4,982 $ 2,78¢

In support of certain debt instruments andésaas of December 31, 2005 and 2004, we had@idh and $0.9 million, respectively, of
cash restricted as collateral for letters of creliese letters of credit expire at various datesugh March 2007, the related debt and lease
obligations termination dates. As of December @05and 2004, we had $1.6 million and $2.5 milli@spectively, of cash restricted for
payment of capital expenditures or repayment tddesi We do not have any other material finan@atmitments, although future client
contracts may require capital expenditures anceleasmitments to support the services providedith slients.

In the future, we may attempt to acquire othesinesses or seek an equity or strategic paxirggnerate capital or expand our services or
capabilities in connection with our efforts to growr business. Acquisitions involve certain riskel ancertainties and may require additional
financing. Therefore, we can give no assurance regpect to whether we will be successful in idgimg businesses to acquire or an equity or
strategic partner, whether we or they will be dblebtain financing to complete a transaction, bether we or they will be successful in
operating the acquired business.

Supplies Distributors has a short-term créaitlity with IBM Credit LLC (“IBM Credit”) and itsEuropean subsidiaries have a short-term
credit facility with IBM Belgium Financial Services.A. (“IBM Belgium”) to finance their distributioof IBM products. We have provided a
collateralized guaranty to secure the repaymetitesfe credit facilities. The asset-based credilitias provide financing for up to
$30.5 million and up to 12.5 million Euros (approately $14.8 million) with IBM Credit and IBM Belgin, respectively. These agreements
expire in March 2007.

Supplies Distributors also has a loan andrigcagreement with Congress Financial Corpora(®outhwest) (“Congress”) to provide
financing for up to $25 million of eligible accosnteceivables in the United States and CanadaCohgress facility expires on the earlier of
March 29, 2007 or the date on which the partigbed BM master distributor agreement no longer afeunder the terms of such agreement
and/or IBM no longer supplies products pursuarsiuich agreement.

Supplies Distributors’ European subsidiary &dactoring agreement with Fortis Commercial FoeaN.V. (“Fortis”) to provide factoring
for up to 7.5 million Euros (approximately $8.9 loih) of eligible accounts receivables through Ma907.

These credit facilities contain cross defauttvisions, various restrictions upon the abilifySoipplies Distributors and its subsidiaries to,
among other things, merge, consolidate, sell assets indebtedness, make loans, investments apeh@nts to subsidiaries, affiliates and
related parties, provide guarantees, make invessnaend loans, pledge assets, make changes tolcdpitk ownership structure and pay
dividends, as well as financial covenants, sucteal flow from operations, annualized revenue tikimg capital, net profit after tax to
revenue, minimum net worth and total liabilitiegamgible net worth, as defined, and are securegilnf the assets of Supplies Distributors, as
well as a collateralized guaranty of PFSweb. Addaily, we are required to maintain a subordinéted to Supplies Distributors of no less
than $6.5 million, maintain restricted cash of lgsm $5.0 million and are restricted with
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regard to transactions with related parties, inelésess and changes to capital stock ownershiptsteugnd a minimum shareholders’ equity of
at least $18.0 million. Furthermore, we are obkgaid repay any over-advance made to Suppliesilistrs or its subsidiaries under these
facilities if they are unable to do so. We have gieovided a guarantee of the obligations of Sgspbistributors and its subsidiaries to IBM,
excluding the trade payables that are financedihy ¢redit.

Our subsidiary, Priority Fulfillment Servicdac. (“PFS”), has entered into a Loan and Secukdyeement with Comerica Bank
(“Comerica”), which, as amended, provides for u@1cb million of eligible accounts receivable fiamy through March 2007, and up to
$2.5 million of eligible equipment purchases througine 2008. We entered this Agreement to suppleaerexisting cash position, and
provide funding for our future operations, inclugliour targeted growth. The Agreement contains ade&sult provisions, various restrictions
upon our ability to, among other things, merge sotidate, sell assets, incur indebtedness, makes Jéavestments and payments to
subsidiaries, affiliates and related parties, nmiakestments and loans, pledge assets, make chamgagital stock ownership structure, as well
as financial covenants of a minimum tangible nettlwvof $20 million, as defined, and a minimum lidity ratio, as defined. The agreement
also limits our ability to increase the subordini@an to Supplies Distributors to more than $8illian without the lender’s approval. The
agreement is secured by all of the assets of P-8¢gl as a guarantee of PFSweb.

In 2003, we entered into a Securities Purcihageement with certain institutional investorsaiprivate placement transaction pursuant to
which we issued and sold an aggregate of 1.6 milllwares of our common stock, par value $.001 pmegqthe “Common Stock”at $2.16 pe
share, resulting in gross proceeds of $3.4 millfsiter deducting expenses, the net proceeds wemzimately $3.2 million. In addition to the
Common Stock, the investors received one-year westa purchase an aggregate 525,692 shares of Gor8tock at an exercise price of
$3.25 per share and four-year warrants to purchasmgregate of 395,486 shares of Common Stoak exexcise price of $3.30 per share. In
January 2005, 394,865 of the one-year warrants @segecised prior to their expiration, generatingpreceeds to us of $1.3 million, and
131,277 of the one-year warrants expired unexatcise the result of the merger with eCOST, the eiserprice of the four-year warrants has
been adjusted to $2.47 per share and the numlesirodnts has been adjusted to 528,382.

In 2004, to fulfill our obligations under cairt new client relationships, we entered into a¢hyear operating lease arrangement for a new
distribution facility in Southaven, MS, near ouiis#g distribution complex in Memphis, TN. We haweurred more than $5 million in capi
expenditures to support the incremental businetsismew distribution center. We financed a siigaifit portion of these expenditures through
a Loan Agreement with the Mississippi Business k@eaCorporation (the “MBFC”) pursuant to which tM8FC issued $5 million MBFC
Taxable Variable Rate Demand Limited Obligation &ave Bonds, Series 2004 (Priority Fulfilment Seegi, Inc. Project) (the “Bonds”). The
MBFC loaned us the proceeds of the Bonds for thipgae of financing the acquisition and installatidrequipment, machinery and related
assets located in our new Southaven, Mississigiilution facility. The primary source of repayreifthe Bonds is a letter of credit (the
“Letter of Credit”) in the initial face amount o6$L million issued by Comerica pursuant to a Reiresbment Agreement between us and
Comerica under which we are obligated to pay to &ra all amounts drawn under the Letter of Créidie Letter of Credit has a maturity
date of January 2007 at which time, if not renewetkeplaced, will result in a draw on the undraaoef amount thereof.

To the extent we fail to comply with tharious debt covenants described above, and tdeldsmccelerate the repayment of the credit
facility obligations, we would be required to repal/amounts outstanding thereunder. Any requirdrteeaccelerate the repayment of the ci
facility obligations would have a material adveirspact on our financial condition and results oégiions. We can provide no assurance that
we will have the financial ability to repay all sfich obligations. As of December 31, 2005, we viremmpliance with all debt covenants and
we believe that we will maintain such compliancetighout calendar year 2006.

Through our merger with eCOST, we plan toratige core strengths of each company, in ordesverhge our operational infrastructure and
technology expertise with eCOST’s customer basesapglier relationships. Specifically, we are tairgeto achieve $4 to $5 million in annual
cost savings in the first full year of operatiotidwing the integration. These savings are expetgaésult from, among other things, reducti
in the following costs:

» Certain redundant administrative and public compagtivities;
» Excess capacity and other related facility exper

» Technology, telecommunications and operationals;c@std

» Overall outbound freight costs due to additionalght options

We currently are targeting eCOST to be nefally incorporated into our infrastructure by thedeof the third quarter of 2006 at which time
we expect to begin realizing the full potentiakioé expected cost savings.

Additionally, we believe the combined companies parsue a variety of incremental revenue and goosfit-related opportunities, such as:
 Increase the number “virtual warehous” partnerships for both electronics and -electronic goods
« Develop higher margin ni-product and service categori
» Expand international sales, particularly in Eurapd Canada, where we maintain a presence
 Utilize our stronger financial platform to enhare@0OS™ s working capital resources to expand access ogxe products and dea

We can provide no assurance that such platieearnderlying financial benefits will be achievédiditionally, even with such plans, we
expect that eCOST will operate at a loss durings2&d will require funding to support its operason

eCOST currently has an asset-based line dftdeeility of up to $15.0 million with Wachoviayhich is collateralized by substantially all of
eCOST'’s assets. Borrowings under the facility anitéd to a percentage of eligible accounts red#eand letter of credit availability is
limited to a percentage of accounts receivableiavehtory. As of March 27, 2006, eCOST had $1.5iamilof letters of credit outstanding,
$1.2 of outstanding advances and $1.0 million @filable credit under this facility. The credit fityi restricts eCOS’s ability to, among othe



things, merge, consolidate, sell assets, incutitetmess, make loans, investments and paymentbsalgries, affiliates and related parties,
make investments and loans, pledge assets, makgehto capital stock ownership structure, as agd minimum tangible net worth of
$1 million, as defined. As of March 31, 2006, PFBwas guaranteed all current and future obligatafresCOST under this line of credit.

eCOST has historically incurred significaneogting losses and used cash to fund its operatikma result, we expect that we will be
required to invest cash to fund eCOST’s operatiatisch we cannot do without approval from our lersddhe amount of cash needed to
support eCOST operations depends upon the finamsiaidable under its credit line as well as thegtarof time it takes to successfully
transition and incorporate eCOST into our currafraistructure. As of March 31, 2006, we have resgilender approval to use a maximum of
$3.5 million in cash to fund eCOST'’s cash flow riegments. We can provide no assurance that waeaBive further approval from our
lenders if additional financing needs are requbg@COST. In addition, PFSweb has provided a giaficertain eCOST vendor trade
payables.

If eCOST is unable to meet its requirementdeniits debt obligations and bank facility, the iqueees referred to above could be called
upon.

Inventory Management

We manage our inventories held for sale bynta&iing sufficient quantities of product to acheevigh order fill rates while at the same time
maximizing inventory turnover rates. Inventory lradas will fluctuate as we add new product linesrdduce the risk of loss due to supplier
price reductions, our master distributor agreerpeonides for price protection under which we reeeivedits if the supplier lowers prices on
previously purchased inventory.

Seasonality

The seasonality of our business is dependaut the seasonality of our clients’ business ardstie of their products. Accordingly, our
management must rely upon the projections of dantd in assessing quarterly variability. We bedi¢givat with our current client mix and their
current business volumes our service fee busir@asta will be at its lowest in the quarter endeidrch 31. We anticipate that our product
revenue will be highest during the quarter endedebwer 31.
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We believe that results of operations for artprly period may not be indicative of the resfdisany other quarter or for the full year.

Inflation

Management believes that inflation has notédathterial effect on our operations.

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS NoR13Bare-Based PaymefiSFAS 123R”), which replaces SFAS No. 12&counting for
Stock-Based CompensatigtSFAS 123") and supersedes APB Opinion No.&2&ounting for Stock Issued to Employagedviarch 2005, the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) issuaff 8ccounting Bulletin No. 107, Share-Based Pagtme/hich provides interpretive
guidance related to SFAS 123R. SFAS 123R requifebare-based payment transactions to be recagjimizéhe financial statements based on
their fair values. The pro forma disclosures praslg permitted under SFAS 123 no longer will bealiernative to financial statement
recognition. We will adopt SFAS 123R effective Jaryu2006 and currently estimate the adoption taltés approximately $0.8 million of
compensation expense in 2006, without considertg ¢ stock-based awards.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements have lpeepared in conformity with accounting principtemnerally accepted in the U.S. These
accounting principles require us to make estimatesassumptions that affect the reported amourdass#ts and liabilities at the date of our
financial statements and the reported amountsvefinges and expenses during the reporting periodeWie do not believe the reported
amounts would be materially different, applicatafithese policies involves the exercise of judgnserd the use of assumptions as to future
uncertainties and, as a result, actual resultdaditfier from these estimates. If there is a sigaifit unfavorable change to current conditions, it
would likely result in a material adverse impacbto business, operating results and financial itimmd We evaluate our estimates and
assumptions on an ongoing basis. We base our ¢stimaa experience and on various other assumgtansve believe to be reasonable under
the circumstances. All of our significant accougtpolicies are disclosed in the notes to our cadatgd financial statements.

We have defined a critical accounting estingst®ne that is both important to the portrayawffinancial condition and results of
operations and requires us to make difficult, stibje or complex judgments or estimates about ettt are uncertain. During the past tt
fiscal years, we have not made any material chaimgascounting methodology used to establish tiiealaccounting estimates discussed
below, unless otherwise noted. All of our signifitaccounting policies are disclosed in the natesut consolidated financial statements. The
following represent certain critical accountingipws that require us to exercise our businessmeig or make significant estimates. In
addition, there are other items within our consald financial statements that require estimatigrabe not deemed critical as defined above.

Cost of Service Fee Revenue

Our service fee revenues primarily relatedodistribution services and order management/custaare services. Distribution services
relate primarily to inventory management, prodecteiving, warehousing and fulfillment (i.e., picgirpacking and shipping). Order
management/customer care services relate printartking customer orders for our client's produdgsvarious channels such as telephone
call-center, electronic or facsimile. These servialso entail addressing customer questions relaterters, as well as cross-selling/up-selling
activities.

Our cost of service fee revenue representsdhleto provide the services described above,gifyncompensation and related expenses and
other fixed and variable expenses directly reléegroviding the services. These include certacupancy and information technology costs
and depreciation and amortization expenses. Cesfdhrese costs are allocated from general andradirdtive expenses. For these allocations,
we estimate the amount of direct expenses basadctent-specific number of transactions procesgéel believe our allocation
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methodology is reasonable, however a change inrgstfans would result in a different gross profitdar statement of operations, yet no
change to the resulting net income or loss.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The determination of the collectibility of aomds due from our customers requires us to usmatds and make judgments regarding future
events and trends, including monitoring our custemeayment history and current credit worthinesdetermine that collectibility is
reasonably assured, as well as consideration aft@ell business climate in which our customemrafe. Inherently, these uncertainties
require us to make frequent judgments and estimmatgsding our customerability to pay amounts due us to determine the @peite amout
of valuation allowances required for doubtful aauisu Provisions for doubtful accounts are recondbdn it becomes evident that the customer
will not make the required payments at either amttral due dates or in the future. Reserves fobti@uaccounts totaled $0.5 million at both
December 31, 2005 and 2004. We believe that oervedor doubtful accounts is adequate to covecigated losses under current conditions;
however, uncertainties regarding changes in thanfiral condition of our customers, either adversgositive, could impact the amount and
timing of any additional provisions for doubtfulcazints that may be required.

Inventory Reserves

Inventories (merchandise, held for resalepfllhich are finished goods) are stated at theetoof weighted average cost or market. Sup
Distributors and its subsidiaries assume respditgibor slow-moving inventory under certain mastkstributor agreements, subject to certain
termination rights, but have the right to returngurct rendered obsolete by engineering changetefased. We review inventory for
impairment on a periodic basis, but at a minimunmually. Recoverability of the inventory on handrisasured by comparison of the carrying
value of the inventory to the fair value of theémtory. This requires us to record provisions amihtain reserves for excess or obsolete
inventory. To determine these reserve amountsggelarly review inventory quantities on hand anthpare them to estimates of future
product demand and market conditions. These esdaatd forecasts inherently include uncertaintiesraquire us to make judgments
regarding potential outcomes. At December 31, 20@52004, our allowance for slow moving inventatated $1.5 million and $2.5 million,
respectively. We believe that our reserves arewtedgo cover anticipated losses under currentitiond. Significant or unanticipated changes
to our estimates and forecasts, either adversesitiye, could impact the amount and timing of alglitional provisions for excess or obsolete
inventory that may be required.

Income Taxes

The liability method is used for determiningr aincome taxes, under which current and defemgdiabilities and assets are recorded in
accordance with enacted tax laws and rates. Uhientethod, the amounts of deferred tax liabilidesl assets at the end of each period are
determined using the tax rate expected to be &ceffhen taxes are actually paid or recovered. atan allowances are established to reduce
deferred tax assets when it is more likely thanthat some portion or all of the deferred tax asgeil not be realized. In determining the need
for valuation allowances, we have considered andeniadgments and estimates regarding estimateteftaMable income. These estimates
judgments include some degree of uncertainty aad@és in these estimates and assumptions coultleerputo adjust the valuatic
allowances for our deferred tax assets. The ulémadlization of the certain of our deferred taseds depends on the generation of sufficient
taxable income in the applicable taxing jurisdinfoAlthough we believe our estimates and judgmargseasonable, actual results may differ,
which could be material.

As we operate in multiple countries, we argject to the jurisdiction of multiple domestic afodeign tax authorities. Determination of
taxable income in any jurisdiction requires theiptetation of the related tax laws and regulatams the use of estimates and assumptions
regarding significant future events such as thewarhdiming and character of deductions, permigsiblenue recognition methods under the
tax law and the sources and character of incomeandredits. Changes in tax laws, regulationgifpr currency exchange restrictions or our
level of operations or profitability in each taxipgisdiction could have an impact on the amounhobme taxes that we provide during any
given year.

Capitalized Software

Our capitalized software includes internal arternal costs incurred in developing or obtairéogputer
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software for internal use and to implement newxpamded client relationships. We make judgmentietermine if each project will satisfy its
intended use. Additionally, we estimate the aveiatggnal costs incurred for payroll related betsefior the employees who directly devote
time relating to the design, development and tggtimase of the project.

Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets include property, intangiéssets and certain other assets. We make judgenahisstimates in conjunction with the
carrying value of these assets, including amounketcapitalized, depreciation and amortizationhogs$ and useful lives. Additionally, we
review long-lived assets for impairment periodigat whenever events or changes in circumstanchsate that the carrying amount of an
asset may not be recoverable. We record impairfossés in the period in which we determine thatctimeying amount is not recoverable.
Recoverability of assets to be held and used issured by a comparison of the carrying amount cdsset to future net cash flows expected to
be generated by the asset. This may require usike mmdgments regarding long-term forecasts offature revenues and costs related to the
assets subject to review.

Self Insurance

We are self-insured for medical insurance Eitnep to certain stop-loss limits. Each reportpegiod we record the costs, including paid
claims, an estimate for the change in incurrednbtireported (“IBNR”) claims and administrative $e@s an expense in the consolidated
statement of operations. We base the estimated I8&iIRs upon both (i) a recent level of monthlydoaliaims; and (ii) historical lag
information provided by claims administrators basadecent paid claims, to provide for those claiha have been incurred but not yet paid.
We believe the use of recent claims activity igespntative of incurred and paid trends during#perting period. Using the historical lag
information involves a significant level of judgmeAccordingly, an increase (or decrease) in thieneged IBNR liability would result in a
corresponding decrease (or increase) to net income.
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Item 7a. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about MarkRisk

We are exposed to various market risks indgaditerest rates on our financial instruments faneign exchange rates.

Interest Rate Risk

Our interest rate risk is limited to our oatsfing balances on our inventory and working cafiitancing agreements, taxable revenue
bonds, loan and security agreements, and factagngement for the financing of inventory, accouatgivable and certain other receivables
and certain equipment, which amounted to $66.3anitht December 31, 2005. A 100 basis point movéinneinterest rates would result in
approximately $0.3 million annualized increase ecréase in interest expense based on the outsigoalance of these agreements at
December 31, 2005.

Foreign Exchange Risk

Currently, our foreign currency exchange rék is primarily limited to the Canadian Dollarcgathe Euro. In the future, our foreign curre
exchange risk may also include other currenciefiGgipe to certain of our international operationte have and may continue, from time to
time, to employ derivative financial instrumentstanage our exposure to fluctuations in foreigmeney rates. To hedge our net investment
and intercompany payable or receivable balancés@ign operations, we may enter into forward coacseexchange contracts.
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Report of Independent Registered Public AccourtEinm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of
PFSweb, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balgineets of PFSweb, Inc. and subsidiaries asadrblger 31, 2005 and 2004, and the
related consolidated statements of operationsebbéters’ equity and comprehensive income (losd)cash flows for each of the years in the
three-year period ended December 31, 2005. In abiomewith our audits of the consolidated finanatltements, we also have audited the
accompanying financial statement schedules as oéber 31, 2005 and 2004, and for each of the yedne three-year period ended
December 31, 2005. These consolidated financitdrstants and financial statement schedules areeipnsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express aniopion these consolidated financial statementdiaadcial statement schedules based on
our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighamiqUnited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtaasonable assurance about whether the finatataiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on alasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disis in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managemeniglhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaenferred to above present fairly, in all mateapects, the financial position of PFSweb,
Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 86d,2and the results of their operations and #esh flows for each of the years in the three-
year period ended December 31, 2005, in conformiity U.S. generally accepted accounting principfdso, in our opinion, the relate

financial statement schedules as of December 3 aAd 2004, and for each of the years in the theae period ended December 31, 2005,
when considered in relation to the basic finansiatements taken as a whole, present fairly, imaterial respects, the information set forth
therein.

Dallas, Texas
February 24, 2006, except for Notes 3 and 4 ashiohwthe date is March 31, 2006
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PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share data)

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalel
Restricted cas
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doub#fttounts of $484 and $504 at December 31, 200!
2004, respectivel
Inventories, ne
Other receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Total current asse

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, ne
RESTRICTED CASF
OTHER ASSETS

Total asset

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS ’ EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Current portion of lon-term debt and capital lease obligatit
Trade accounts payak
Accrued expense
Total current liabilities

LONG-TERM DEBT AND CAPITAL LEASE OBLIGATIONS, less currg portion
OTHER LIABILITIES
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY:

Preferred stock, $1.00 par value; 1,000,000 sheardsrized; none issued and outstant

Common stock, $0.001 par value; 40,000,000 shart®azed; 22,613,314 and 21,665,585 shares i
at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively; ari?Z2014 and 21,579,285 outstanding at
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respecti

Additional paic-in capital

Accumulated defici

Accumulated other comprehensive inca

Treasury stock at cost, 86,300 she

Total shareholde’ equity

Total liabilities and sharehold¢ equity

December 31
2005

December 31
2004

$ 13,68 $ 13,50:
2,077 2,74¢
44,55¢ 41,56¢
43,65¢ 44,94’
9,86¢ 8,061
3,21¢ 3,34¢
117,04¢ 114,26(
13,04( 14,26¢

15( 675
1,48 1,12¢

$ 131,72 $ 130,32

$ 21,62 $ 19,00
60,05: 61,58:
12,01 10,97-
93,69( 91,65:
6,28¢ 7,23¢
1,81¢ 1,517

O 0

23 22

58,73¢ 56,64
(29,829 (29,077
1,08 2,421
(85) (85)
29,93 29,92¢

$ 131,72 $ 130,32

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
(In thousands, except per share data)

REVENUES:
Product revenue, n
Service fee revent
Pas-through revenu
Total revenue:

COSTS OF REVENUES
Cost of product revent
Cost of service fee reven
Cost of pas-through revenu

Total costs of revenue

Gross profi

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Income (loss) from operatiol

INTEREST EXPENSE
INTEREST INCOME

Income (loss) before income tax
INCOME TAX EXPENSE

NET INCOME (LOSS)

EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
Basic

Diluted

WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF SHARES OUTSTANDINC

Basic
Diluted

2005

$252,90:
60,78
17,97:
331,65

235,58
45,59
17,972

299,15!

32,50«
30,52
1,98:
1,82¢
(95)

254
1,001

$ (747

$ (0.09
$_ (0.09

22,39¢
22,39¢

2004

$267,47(
42,07¢
12,11¢
321,66!

251,96¢
28,061
12,11¢
292,15¢

29,51
27,09:
2,42(
1,59(
(130)

96(
734

$ 22¢

$ 0.01
$ 0.01

21,33:
23,46¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktbessolidated financial statements.
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2003

$249,23(
33,771
3,43¢
286,43

235,31°
23,15¢
3,43¢
261,91:

24,52¢
25,69¢
(1,179
2,12¢
(124
(3,179

577
$ (3,746

$ (020
$ (0.20

19,01
19,01
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PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(In thousands, except share data)

Accumulated

Additional Other Total Comprehensive
Common Stock Paid-In Accumulated  Comprehensive Treasury Stock  Shareholder¢ Income
Shares Amount  Capital Deficit Income (Loss) Shares  Amount Equity (Loss)
Balance, December 3
2002 18,397,988 $ 18 $52,09¢ $ (25557 $ — 86,30 $ (85% 26,47(
Net loss — — — (3,74¢ — — — (3,74¢) $ (3,746
Stock based
compensation
expense — — 6 — — — — 6
Employee stock
purchase pla 618,44t 1 261 — — — — 262
Proceeds fron
exercised option 649,56¢ 1 61¢ — — — — 61¢
Private placement ¢
common stocl 1,581,94. 1 3,17 — — — — 3,17¢

Other comprehensive
income— foreign
currency translatiol

adjustmen — — — — 1,62¢ — — 1,62¢ 1,62¢

Comprehensive los $ (2,119
Balance, December 3

2003 21,24794 $ 21 $56,15¢ $ (29,309 $ 1,62¢ 86,30( $ (85 % 28,417
Net income — — — 22¢€ — — — 22¢  $ 22¢
Stock base:

compensation

expense — — 14 — — — — 14
Employee stocl

purchase pla 226,38 1 31¢ — — — — 317
Proceeds fron

exercised option 191,26: — 15¢ — — — — 15¢

Other comprehensive
income— foreign
currency translation

adjustmen — — — — 793 — — 793 793
Comprehensive

income $  1,01¢

Balance, December 31,

2004 21,66558 $ 22 $56,64: $ (29,07) $ 2,421 86,30( $ (85% 29,92¢
Net loss — — — (747) — — — (747 $ (747)

Stock based

compensation
Expense — — 16 — — — — 16

Employee stock

purchase pla 401,27( — 61< — — — — 613
Proceeds from

exercised option 151,77- — 181 — — — — 181
Warrants exercise 394,38! 1 1,281 — — — — 1,282
Other comprehensive

loss— foreign

currency translation

adjustmen — — — — (1,337) — — (1,339 (1,337
Comprehensive los $ (2,089

Balance, December 3

2005 22,613,01 $ 23 $58,73t $ (29,829 $ 1,08 86,30( $ (85% 29,93«

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
(In thousands)

2005 2004
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income (loss $ (749 $  22¢
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to @eshcprovided by operating activitie
Depreciation and amortizatic 6,112 4,64:
Loss on disposition of asse — —
Asset and lease impairmet — —
Provision for doubtful accoun 25 28¢
Provision for excess and obsolete invent — 1,20¢
Deferred income taxe 8 (81)
Non-cash compensation expetr 16 14
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivable (4,490 (9,839
Inventories, ne (82t (31¢)
Prepaid expenses, other receivables and othes: (1,83%) (5,82¢
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheiitiied 2,51( 15,14¢
Net cash provided by operating activit 75€ 5,46
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property and equiprmr (3,919 (7,699
Decrease (increase) in restricted ¢ 1,14 1,071
Net cash used in investing activiti 2,77 (8,769
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net proceeds from issuance of common s 2,07¢ 47E
Decrease (increase) in restricted ¢ 5C (35¢
Payments on capital lease obligatit (1,19¢ (1,139
Proceeds from debt, n 1,18¢ 3,26¢
Net cash provided by financing activiti 2,11¢ 2,24¢
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATES ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALEN (5 (93
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT 91 (1,15
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of peric 13,59: 14,741
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of perio $13,68:¢ $13,59.
SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Non-cash investing and financing activitit
Property and equipment acquired under capital & $ 1,12t $ 1,33(

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Overview
PFSweb, Inc. Overviev

PFSweb, Inc. and its subsidiaries, including@ies Distributors, Inc, are collectively refair® as the “Company;” “Supplies Distributors”
refers to Supplies Distributors, Inc. and its sdlagies; and “PFSweb” refers to PFSweb, Inc. andubsidiaries excluding Supplies
Distributors.

PFSweb is an international provider of intégaabusiness process outsourcing services to megod name companies seeking to maximize
their supply chain efficiencies and to extend theiditional and e-commerce initiatives in the @diStates, Canada, and Europe. PFSweb
offers such services as professional consultirayrtelogy collaboration, managed web hosting aretivet application development, order
management, web-enabled customer contact centisteneer relationship management, financial seniieasiding billing and collection
services and working capital solutions, informatinanagement, facilities and operations managerkigting and assembly services, and
international fulfillment and distribution services

Supplies Distributors Overvie

Supplies Distributors, PFSweb and Internati@uwsiness Machines Corporation (“IBM&ntered into master distributor agreements whe
Supplies Distributors acts as a master distribotvarious products, primarily IBM product. Purstiémtransaction management services
agreements between PFSweb and Supplies DistripiB&web provides transaction management andrufilt services to Supplies
Distributors.

Supplies Distributors has obtained certaiariting (see Notes 3 and 4) that allows it to fureworking capital requirements for the sale of
primarily IBM products. Pursuant to the transactimanagement services agreements, PFSweb providespmies Distributors such services
as managed web hosting and maintenance, procuremgnort, web-enabled customer contact centercgryvcustomer relationship
management, financial services including billingl @ollection services, information management, iatetnational distribution services.
Additionally, IBM and Supplies Distributors havetsourced the product demand generation to a tlairty pSupplies Distributors sells its
products in the United States, Canada and Europe.

All of the agreements between PFSweb and &gpistributors were made in the context of ateelgarty relationship and were negotic
in the overall context of PFSweb’s and Suppliegribigtors’ arrangement with IBM. Although managerngenerally believes that the terms of
these agreements are consistent with fair markaeesathere can be no assurance that the pricegechto or by each company under these
arrangements are not higher or lower than the pticat may be charged by, or to, unaffiliated tipiadgties for similar services.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidatior

All intercompany accounts and transactionsHaeen eliminated in consolidation.

Investment in Affiliate

PFSweb has loaned Supplies Distributors mdni#ise form of a Subordinated Demand Note (theb@dinated Note”). Under the terms of
certain of the Company’s debt facilities, the cantsling balance of the Subordinated Note cannatdreased to more than $8.0 million or
decreased to lower than $6.5 million without papproval of the Company’s lenders (see Notes Aandls of December 31, 2005 and 2004,
the outstanding balance of the Subordinated Ndtéghwis eliminated upon the consolidation of SugpDistributors’ financial position, was
$7.0 million in each year.
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PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (conti nued)

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financialestants in conformity with generally accepted actiogrprinciples requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect thetegpamounts of assets, liabilities, revenues apeérses and disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities. The recognition and allocationceftain operating expenses in these consolidateasidial statements also require management
estimates and assumptions. The Company’s estiraatkassumptions are continually evaluated basedaitable information and experience.
Because the use of estimates is inherent in tladial reporting process, actual results couldcedififomn estimates.

Revenue and Cost Recognitic

Depending on the terms of the customer arnaege, the Company recognizes product revenue alpt cost either upon the shipment of
product to customers or when the customer recéieproduct. The Company permits its customerstiarm product for credit against other
purchases, which include returns for defective potsl (that the Company then returns to the manufaqgtand incorrect shipments. The
Company provides a reserve for estimated returdsaiowances. The Company offers terms to its ensts that it believes are standard for its
industry.

Freight costs billed to customers are refl@ete components of product revenues. Freight austsred by Supplies Distributors are
recorded as a component of cost of goods sold.

Under the master distributor agreements (s®e Bl), the Company bills IBM for reimbursementseftain expenses, including: pass
through customer marketing programs, including teband coop funds; certain freight costs; direstxincurred in passing on any price
decreases offered by IBM to Supplies Distributargsocustomers to cover price protection and aegpecial bids; the cost of products
provided to replace defective product returnedust@mers; and certain other expenses as definedCdmpany records a receivable for these
reimbursable amounts as they are incurred withr@sponding reduction in either inventory or cdsprmduct revenue. The Company also
reflects pass through customer marketing progravasraduction of product revenue.

The Company’s service fee revenues primaeillgte to its (1) distribution services, (2) ordearmagement/customer care services and (3) the
reimbursement of out-of-pocket and third-party exqes. The Company typically charges its servicedeenue on a cost-plus basis, a percent
of shipped revenue basis or a per transaction bmsib as a per item basis for fulfilment servioes per minute basis for web-enabled
customer contact center services. Additional feedaled for other services.

Distribution services relate primarily to imtery management, product receiving, warehousimgfalfillment (i.e., picking, packing and
shipping) and facilities and operations managentgenvice fee revenue for these activities is rezmghas earned, which is either (i) on a per
transaction basis or (ii) at the time of produdtiftment, which occurs at the completion of thestlibution services.

Order management/customer care services i@iabarily to taking customer orders for the Comgartlients’ products via various
channels such as telephone call-center, electmyrficsimile. These services also entail addressiisgomer questions related to orders, as well
as cross-selling/upelling activities. Service fee revenue for thit\aty is recognized as the services are renddfeds charged to the client
on a per transaction basis based on either (ig-aletermined fee per order or fee per telephonetesrincurred, (ii) a per dedicated agent fee,
or (iii) are included in the product fulfillmentséce fees that are recognized on product shipment.

The Company’s billings for reimbursement of-oftpocket expenses, including travel and certhird-party vendor expenses such as
shipping and handling costs and telecommunicatiarges are included in pagsough revenue. The related reimbursable costeeflexted a
cost of pass-through revenue.

The Company'’s cost of service fee revenueesgmting the cost to provide the services destibeve, is recognized as incurred. Cost of
service fee revenue also includes certain costdsed with technology collaboration and ongoiegiinology support that include
maintenance, web hosting and other ongoing progiamactivities. These activities are primarily grhed to support the distribution and
order
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PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (conti nued)
management/customer care services and are recdgaszacurred.

The Company recognizes revenue and records &recounts receivables, pursuant to the methastsided above, when collectibility is
reasonably assured. Collectibility is evaluatethimaggregate and on an individual customer bakisg into consideration payment due date,
historical payment trends, current financial paositiresults of independent credit evaluations adrent terms.

The Company primarily performs its servicegemone to three-year contracts that can gendsaltgrminated by either party. In
conjunction with these long-term contracts, the @any sometimes receives start-up fees to covenjilementation costs, including certain
technology infrastructure and development coste. Company defers the fees received, and the retatgd, and amortizes them over the life
of the contract. The amortization of deferred reseris included as a component of service fee rexefoe amortization of deferred
implementation costs is included as a cost of serfge revenue. To the extent implementation dostson-technology infrastructure and
development exceed the fees received, the excessam@ expensed as incurred. The following sunaesithe deferred implementation
revenues and costs, excluding technology and dewedat costs, which are included in property andpegent (in thousands):

December 31 December 31
2005 2004
Deferred implementation revenu
Current $ 1,543 $ 89¢
Non-current 862 821
$ 2,40¢ $ 1,71¢
Deferred implementation cos
Current $ 95( $ 507
Non-current 57¢ 65€&

$ 1,52¢ $ 1,16¢

Current and non-current deferred implementatiosts, excluding technology and development castésa component of prepaid expenses
and other assets, respectively. Current and naemudeferred implementation revenues, which mageule the timing of when the related
implementation costs are incurred and thus defeerexla component of accrued expenses and othéitiks, respectively.

Concentration of Business and Credit Risk

The Company’s product revenue is primarilygyated by sales to customers of product purchaseerumaster distributor agreements with
one supplier. The Company’s service fee revengengrated under contractual service fee relatipsshith multiple client relationships. A
summary of the customer and client concentratisrasifollows:

December 31 December 31 December 31
2005 2004 2003

Product Revenue (as a percentage of Product Reje

Customer 14% 9% 12%

Customer ¢ 12% 12% 13%

Customer : 11% 11% 10%
Service Fee Revenue (as a percentage of ServicRdwamue)

Client 1 27% 42% 40%

Client 2 12% 15% 16%

Client 3 16% — —
Consolidated Revenu

Customer/Client : 10% 7% 10%

Customer/Client : 7% 18% 16%
Accounts Receivable

2 Customers/Clieni 22% 27% 37%
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In conjunction with Supplies Distributors’ fincings, PFSweb has provided certain collateraligedantees on behalf of Supplies
Distributors. Supplies Distributors’ ability to @dh financing on similar terms would be signifidgrimpacted without these guarantees.
Additionally, since Supplies Distributors has ligdtpersonnel and physical resources, its abiligotoluct business could be materially
impacted by contract terminations by the third ypaerforming product demand generation for the IBidducts.

The Company has multiple arrangements with i&# is dependent upon the continuation of su@ngements. These arrangements, w
are critical to the Company’s ongoing operationsiude Supplies Distributors’ master distributoresgnents, certain of Supplies Distributors’
working capital financing agreements, product sad8M business units, and a term master leaseeagent.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents are defined as short-tertmyhigyuid investments with original maturities thfree months or less.

Restricted Casl

Restricted cash includes the following itemstifousands):

December 31 December 31
2005 2004
Current:

Letters of credit securit $ 52E $ 22E
Customer remittance 1,13¢ 1,19(C
Bond financing 413 1,331
Total current 2,071 2,74¢

Long term:
Letters of credit securit 15C 675
Total restricted cas $ 2,227 $ 3,421

The Company has cash restricted as colldirédtters of credit that secure certain debt l@ade obligations (see Notes 4 and 9). The It
of credit currently expire at various dates throlgrch 2007.

In conjunction with certain of its financingr@ements, Supplies Distributors has granted teriders a security interest in certain customer
remittances received in specified bank accounts Ks®e 4). At December 31, 2005 and 2004, thesk &arounts held $1.1 million and $1.2
million, respectively, which was restricted for pagnt to the lenders against the outstanding debt.

Other Receivables and Liabilities

Other receivables include $9.8 million andmillion as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, re$ypelgt for amounts due from IBM for
billings under the master distributor agreemenrte (dote 6).

During 2001, the Company received a governatgmant for investments made in fixed assetssiBé&lgium operations. At establishment,
the total grant of approximately $1.6 million wasfetred and is being recognized as a reductioemetiation expense during the same period
during which the related fixed assets are beingaiggted. As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, theeotportion of the unamortized grant,
which was $0.2 million and $0.3 million, respectiyés included in accrued expenses and the long-f®rtion of the unamortized grant,
which was $0.2 million and $0.5 million, respectiygs included in other liabilities in the acconmyéng consolidated balance sheets. For the
years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 aimp&hy recognized approximately $0.3 million asduction of depreciation exper
related to the grant.
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PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (conti nued)

Inventories

Inventories (all of which are finished goodsg stated at the lower of weighted average costasket. Supplies Distributors assumes
responsibility for slow-moving inventory under @&t master distributor agreements, subject to icetéamination rights, but has the right to
return product rendered obsolete by engineeringgds as defined (see Note 6). The Company reviexestory for impairment on a periodic
basis, but at a minimum, annually. Recoverabilftthe inventory on hand is measured by comparigghencarrying value of the inventory to
the fair value of the inventory. During 2003, then@pany agreed to certain modifications to a sedegtaster distributor agreement. As a result
of these modifications, the Company reevaluatethitsntory for impairment during 2003, and increhite allowance for slow moving
inventory. As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, tlenaince for slow moving inventory was $1.5 milliand $2.5 million, respectively.

In the event PFSweb, Supplies Distributors I&M terminate the master distributor agreemefis,agreements provide for the parties to
mutually agree on a plan of disposition of Supplbéstributors’ then existing inventory.

Inventories include merchandise in-transit ties not been received by the Company but thabéas shipped and invoiced by Supplies
Distributors’ vendors. The corresponding payablergentories in-transit is included in accountgadale in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

Property and Equipmen

The components of property and equipment &egember 31, 2005 and 2004 are as follows (inghods):

December 31 December 31
2005 2004 Depreciable Life
Furniture and fixture $ 17,39¢ $  9,99¢ 2-10 years
Purchased and capitalized software c 10,47: 9,35¢ 1-7 years
Computer equipmet 8,611 8,13( 2-3 years
Leasehold improvemen 5,87¢ 6,04¢ 2-9 years
Other, primarily constructic-in-progress 15C 3,98z 3-7 years
42,51 37,50¢
Less-accumulated depreciation and amortiza (29,479 (23,24
Property and equipment, r $ 13,04 $ 14,26¢

Property and equipment are stated at cosaendepreciated using the straight-line method theeestimated useful lives of the respective
assets. Leasehold improvements are amortized bgehiorter of the useful life of the related asse¢he remaining lease term.

The Company reviews long-lived assets for immpent whenever events or changes in circumstaindésate that the carrying amount of an
asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability aftags be held and used is measured by a comparigha carrying amount of an asset to
future net cash flows expected to be generatetidpsset. If such assets are considered to bergdp#ie impairment to be recognized is
measured as the amount by which the carrying amafithe assets exceeds the fair value of the agsaitsvalue would be determined using
appraisals, discounted cash flow analysis or simgduation techniques. Assets to be disposedefegorted at the lower of the carrying
amount or fair value less costs to sell.

The Company property held under capital leases amount tooxpately $3.3 million and $3.0 million, net of asoulated amortization
approximately $8.3 million and $5.4 million, at @ecber 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions

For the Company’s Canadian and European dpasathe local currency is the functional currently assets
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PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (conti nued)

and liabilities are translated at exchange ratesfact at the end of the period, and income ampge items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period.

The Company includes currency gains and lossehort-term intercompany advances in the detertioin of net income. Currency gains
and losses, including transaction gains and logssdghose on short-term intercompany advancesjdedi in net income or loss were a net loss
of approximately $0.3 million and net gains of $thlion and $0.3 million for the years ended Detem31, 2005, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. The Company will continue to repaing or losses on intercompany foreign currenaystrations that are of a long-term
investment nature as a separate component of siideet’ equity.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based emplogegensation plans using the intrinsic-value me#mdutlined under Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 2Bccounting for Stock Issued to Employ€@$B No. 25”) and related interpretations. Theldaling table
shows the pro forma effect on the Company’s neirime (loss) and income (loss) per share as if cosgtem cost had been recognized for
stock-based employee compensation plans basectriai value at the date of the grant. The pronfa effect of stock-based employee
compensation plans on the Company’s net incoms)(fos those years may not be representative gptbdorma effect for future years due to
the impact of vesting and potential future awards.

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31 December 31 December 31
2005 2004 2003

(In thousands, except per share amounts

Net income (loss) as report $ (747) $ 22€ $ (3,74¢
Add: Stocl-based no-employee compensation expense included in repagebtbss 2 14 6
Deduct: total stock-based employee and non-emplogegpensation expense determin

under fair value based meth (1,007) (841) (759)
Pro forma net loss, applicable to common stockfmic and diluted computatio $  (L,749) $ (601) $ (4499
Income (loss) per common she as reporte

Basic and dilutet $ (0.09) $ 0.01 $ (0.20)
Loss per common sha- pro forma

Basic and diluter $ (0.0¢) $ (0.09) $ (0.29)

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standar

In December 2004, the Financial Accountingh8tads Board issued SFAS No. 128Rare-Based PaymefiBFAS 123R”),which replace
SFAS No. 123Accounting for Stock-Based Compensat{t8FAS 123”) and supersedes APB Opinion No. #bMarch 2005, the Securities
and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) issued Staff ActiogrBulletin No. 107 Share-Based Paymenivhich provides interpretive guidance
related to SFAS 123R. SFAS 123R requires all shas=d payment transactions to be recognized ifirthecial statements based on their fair
values. The pro forma disclosures previously paeditinder SFAS 123 no longer will be an alternattivénancial statement recognition. The
Company will adopt SFAS 123R effective JanuaryQQ@&using the modified prospective transition mdthbadoption and expects the
adoption to result in approximately $0.8 milliona@fmpensation expense in 2006, without considdtihge grants.

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recxaghfor the future tax consequences attributabldifferences between the financial statement
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilitiad their respective tax bases. Deferred tax aset liabilities are measured using enacted
tax rates expected to apply to taxable incomeerytars in which those temporary differences apeeted to be recovered or settled. The
effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities ofiange in tax rates is recognized in income im#réod that includes the enactment date.
Valuation allowances are established when necessaegduce deferred tax assets to the amount rikedg than
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not to be realized.

Self Insurance

The Company is self-insured for medical insgebenefits up to certain stop-loss limits. Sun$ts are accrued based on known claims and
an estimate of incurred, but not reported (“IBNRI§ims. IBNR claims are estimated using historiaglinformation and other data provided
by claims administrators.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying value of the Company'’s finanaistruments, which include cash and cash equival@ctounts receivable, accounts payable
and debt and capital lease obligations, approxirtiegie fair values based on short terms to matunitgurrent market prices and interest rates.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) is defined astiamge in equity (net assets) of a business eigernguring a period from transactions and
other events and circumstances from non-owner ssufomprehensive income (loss) consists of neniec(loss) and foreign currency
translation adjustments.

Net Income (Loss) Per Common Sha

Basic and diluted net income (loss) per simo®mputed by dividing net income (loss) availableommon shareholders by the weighted-
average number of common shares outstanding foeftarting period. For the calculation of dilutezt mcome per share for the year ended
2004, weighted average shares outstanding areasetleby approximately 2.1 million shares, reflegtime dilutive effect of stock options.

Stock options not included in the calculation dtitid net income (loss) per share for the yearg@mkcember 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, were
5.4 million, 0.7 million, and 4.4 million, respeetily, as the effect would be anti-dilutive. Warmanbt included in the calculation of diluted net
income (loss) per share for the years ended Deae®ih@005 and 2004, were 0.4 million and 0.9 willirespectively, as the effect would be
anti-dilutive.

Cash Paid During Year

The Company made payments for interest ofapprately $1.9 million, $1.7 million and $1.9 mdl and income taxes of approximately
$0.7 million, $0.6 million and $0.5 million durirtge years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and &&jR:ctively (see Notes 3, 4 and 8).
3. Vendor Financing

Outstanding obligations under vendor finan@ngngements consist of the following (in thousnd

December 31 December 31
2005 2004
Inventory and working capital financing agreeme
United State: $ 30,09: $ 26,96:
Europe 12,07 13,11(
Total $ 42,168 $ 40,07:

Inventory and Working Capital Financing Agreement)nited States

Supplies Distributors has a short-term criitlity with IBM Credit LLC to finance its distrilstion of IBM products in the United States,
providing financing for eligible IBM inventory arfdr certain other receivables up to $30.5 millibrough its expiration in March 2006. As of
December 31, 2005, Supplies Distributors had $0ldom of available credit under this facility. Ttrezedit facility contains cross default
provisions, various restrictions upon the abilifySaipplies Distributors to, among others, mergasotidate, sell assets, incur indebtedness,
make loans and payments to related parties (inafpits parent company subsidiaries and PFSwebyjgg@uarantees, make investments and
loans, pledge assets, make changes to capital gtaodrship structure and pay dividends, as wdilnancial covenants, such as
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annualized revenue to working capital, net prdfieratax to revenue, and total liabilities to tavsiginet worth, as defined, and are secured by
certain of the assets of Supplies Distributorayel as a collateralized guaranty of PFSweb. Addiily, PFSweb is required to maintain a
minimum Subordinated Note receivable balance frampp8es Distributors of $7.0 million and a minimwhareholders’ equity of

$18.0 million. Borrowings under the credit facilégcrue interest, after a defined free financingoge at prime rate plus 1% (8.25% and 6% as
of December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively). Bbdity also includes a monthly service fee.

On March 28, 2006, Supplies Distributors ezdento an amended credit facility with IBM CretltC, which extends the termination date
through March 2007, reduces the minimum Subordihhliete balance to $6.5 million, and reduces therest rate to prime plus 0.5%. The
Company has classified the outstanding amountsrihdefacility as accounts payable in the conskd balance sheets.

Inventory and Working Capital Financing AgreemeniEurope

Supplies Distributors’ European subsidiari@gena short-term credit facility with IBM Belgiumrancial Services S.A. (“IBM Belgium”) to
finance their distribution of IBM products in Eumprlhe asset based credit facility with IBM Belgipnovides up to 12.5 million Euros
(approximately $14.8 million) in financing for purasing IBM inventory and for certain other receiealthrough its expiration in March 2006.
As of December 31, 2005, Supplies Distributors’dp@an subsidiaries had 2.3 million euros ($2.7iom)l of available credit under this
facility. The credit facility contains cross defaptovisions, various restrictions upon the abitfySupplies Distributors and its European
subsidiaries to, among others, merge, consolidateassets, incur indebtedness, make loans andeday to related parties (including its pa
company, sister company and PFSweb), provide gteanmake investments and loans, pledge asseis,ahanges to capital stock
ownership structure and pay dividends, as wellremntial covenants, such as annualized revenu®thking capital, net profit after tax to
revenue, and total liabilities to tangible net vp@s defined, and are secured by certain of thet@sf Supplies Distributors’ European
subsidiaries, as well as collateralized guaramfedupplies Distributors and PFSweb. Additional¥;Sweb is required to maintain a minimum
Subordinated Note receivable balance from Supplisgibutors of $7.0 million and a minimum sharefels’ equity of $18.0 million.
Borrowings under the credit facility accrue inteyadter a defined free financing period, at Euriplus 2.0% and 2.5% as of December 31,
2005 and 2004, respectively (4.1% and 4.7% as oeBer 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively). Supplisgibutors’ European subsidiaries pay
a monthly service fee on the commitment. In additeb security interest was granted to IBM Belgiwundertain European customer remittal
received in specified bank accounts.

On March 28, 2006, Supplies Distributors’ Epgan subsidiaries entered into an amended credlityavith IBM Belgium, which extends
the termination date through March 2007, reducesrimimum Subordinated Note balance to $6.5 mildad reduces the interest rate to
Euribor plus 1.5%. The Company has classified thtstanding amounts under this facility as accopatgble in the consolidated balance
sheets.

4. Debt and Capital Lease Obligations:
Outstanding obligations under debt and cafstesde obligations consist of the following (in @lsands):

December 31 December 31
2005 2004
Loan and security agreements, United Stz

Supplies Distributor $ 11,67 $  8,32¢
PFSwek 6,64( 4,85:%
Factoring agreement, Euro 57¢ 3,84¢
Taxable revenue bon 5,00( 5,00(C
Master lease agreemel 3,718 3,141

Inventory and working capital financing agreem-
Europe — 682
Other 31: 47¢
Total 27,91¢ 26,33(
Less current portion of loi-term debt 21,62¢ 19,09¢
Long-term debt, less current porti $  6,28¢ $ 7,23
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Loan and Security Agreemer— Supplies Distributors

Supplies Distributors has a loan and secagneement with Congress Financial Corporation (8eest) (“Congress”) to provide financing
for up to $25 million of eligible accounts receilain the United States and Canada. As of Dece®be2005, Supplies Distributors had
$4.6 million of available credit under this agreemd&he Congress facility expires on the earlieMairch 29, 2007 or the date on which the
parties to the IBM master distributor agreemeng (dete 6) no longer operate under the terms of agokement and/or IBM no longer supp
products pursuant to such agreement. Borrowingerthg Congress facility accrue interest at priate to prime rate plus 0.25% or Eurodo
rate plus 2.25% to 2.75%, dependent on excessahildil, as defined. The interest rate as of Decandi, 2005 was 7.25% for $7.7 million of
outstanding borrowings and 6.6% for $4.0 millioroatstanding borrowings. This agreement contaiosscdefault provisions, various
restrictions upon the ability of Supplies Distribrg to, among other things, merge, consolidatéasekts, incur indebtedness, make loans and
payments to related parties (including its paremhgany, subsidiaries and PFSweb), provide guarsntegke investments and loans, pledge
assets, make changes to capital stock ownershigtste and pay dividends, as well as financial oaws, such as minimum net worth, as
defined, and is secured by all of the assets oplggDistributors, as well as a collateralizedrgnéy of PFSweb. Additionally, PFSweb is
required to maintain a Subordinated Note receivhblance from Supplies Distributors of no less thérb million and restricted cash of less
than $5.0 million, and is restricted with regardremsactions with related parties, indebtednedschanges to capital stock ownership struc
Supplies Distributors has entered into blocked astagreements with its banks and Congress pursoiavttich a security interest was granted
to Congress for all U.S. and Canadian customerttanagies received in specified bank accounts. Aebdoer 31, 2005 and December 31, 2!
these bank accounts held $1.0 million and $1.Zonillrespectively, which was restricted for paymentongress.

Loan and Security Agreemer— PFSweb

Priority Fulfillment Services, Inc. (“PFS”)veholly-owned subsidiary of PFSweb, has a Loan Security Agreement (“Comerica
Agreement”) with Comerica Bank (“Comerica”). Ther@erica Agreement provides for up to $7.5 millioreti§ible accounts receivable
financing (“Working Capital Advances”) through M&r2007 and $2.5 million of equipment financing (tigment Advances”) through
June 15, 2008. Outstanding Working Capital Advan$st million as of December 31, 2005, accruer@geat prime rate plus 1% (8.25% as
of December 31, 2005). Outstanding Equipment Adean$1.2 million as of December 31, 2005, accrterést at prime rate plus 1.5% (8.7
as of December 31, 2005). As of December 31, 2BB5, had $1.7 million of available credit underWierking Capital Advance portion of
this facility and no funds available under the Eapént Advance portion of this facility. In Janu@g06, the Company repaid the $5.4 million
of Working Capital Advances outstanding as of Delsen81, 2005. The Comerica Agreement contains atefeult provisions, various
restrictions upon ability to, among other thinggrge, consolidate, sell assets, incur indebtednesise loans and payments to related parties
(including its subsidiaries and sister companiegke investments and loans, pledge assets, makgehto capital stock ownership structure,
as well as financial covenants of a minimum taregiiett worth of $20 million, as defined, a minimuarrengs before interest and taxes, plus
depreciation, amortization and non-cash compensaitioruals, if any, as defined, and a minimum dgwiratio, as defined. The Comerica
Agreement restricts the amount of the Subordinbie® to a maximum of $8 million. As of March 31,08) Comerica has provided approval
for PFS to use $3.5 million in cash to fund thehcgsw requirements of eCOST.com (see Note 13préqn of which is subject to certain
restrictions. The Comerica Agreement is securedlbgf the assets of PFS, as well as a guarantB&8iveb, Inc. The Comerica Agreement
requires PFS to maintain a minimum cash balan&d & million at Comerica.

Factoring Agreement

Supplies Distributors’ European subsidiary &dactoring agreement with Fortis Commercial FoeaN.V. (“Fortis”) to provide factoring
for up to 7.5 million euros (approximately $8.9 lioih) of eligible accounts receivables through Ma2007. As of December 31, 2005,
Supplies Distributors’ European subsidiary had egionately 3.2 million euros ($3.8 million) of avallle credit under this agreement.
Borrowings accrue interest at Euribor plus 0.6%9%3at December 31, 2005). This agreement contairisus restrictions upon the ability of
Supplies Distributors’ European subsidiary to, agother things, merge, consolidate and incur inethietss, as well as financial covenants,
such as minimum net worth. This agreement is seldoyea guarantee of Supplies
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Distributors, up to a maximum of 200,000 euros.

Taxable Revenue Bonds

PFSweb has a Loan Agreement with the Misgi$8psiness Finance Corporation (the “MBFC”) in nention with the issuance by the
MBFC of $5 million MBFC Taxable Variable Rate Denddnimited Obligation Revenue Bonds, Series 2004b(Ry Fulfillment Services, Inc.
Project) (the “Bonds”). The MBFC loaned the proceefithe Bonds to PFSweb for the purpose of finamthe acquisition and installation of
equipment, machinery and related assets locatdi@ompany’s Southaven, Mississippi distributiacilfty. The Bonds bear interest at a
variable rate (4.35% as of December 31, 2005)eteyihined by Comerica Securities, as RemarketirenAd®FSweb, at its option, may
convert the Bonds to a fixed rate, to be determimethe Remarketing Agent at the time of conversion

The primary source of repayment of the Bosds lietter of credit (the “Letter of Credit”) inghnitial face amount of $5.1 million issued by
Comerica pursuant to a Reimbursement Agreementeegtw? FSweb and Comerica under which PFSweb isabétigo pay to Comerica all
amounts drawn under the Letter of Credit. The ketfeCredit has a maturity date of January 200&tath time, if not renewed or replaced,
will result in a draw on the undrawn face amouetdof. If the Letter of Credit is renewed or repldcthe Bonds require future principal
repayments at $500,000 in January 2007 and $80@0&8h of January 2008 through 2012. PFSwebstableshed a sinking fund account
with Comerica, which at December 31, 2005 includ@g million restricted for payments on the Bonds.

Debt Covenant:

To the extent the Company fails to comply viishcovenants applicable to its debt or vendaariizing obligations, including the monthly
financial covenant requirements and required le¥stockholders’ equity ($20.0 million), and oneadirof the lenders accelerate the repayment
of the credit facility obligations, the Company vidbe required to repay all amounts outstandingetineder. Any acceleration of the repayn
of the credit facilities would have a material acdbeeimpact on the Comparsyfinancial condition and results of operations aadissurance ci
be given that the Company would have the finaratiity to repay all of such obligations.

PFSweb has also provided a guarantee of tiigatibns of Supplies Distributors to IBM, excludithe trade payables that are financed by
IBM credit.
Master Lease Agreemen

The Company has a Term Lease Master AgreewitmtBM Credit Corporation (“Master Lease Agreenigithat provides for leasing or
financing transactions of equipment and other assétich generally have terms of 3 to 5 years. @litstanding leasing transactions
($0.7 million and $1.2 million as of December 3003 and 2004, respectively) are secured by théekkquipment and letters of credit (see
Note 2). The outstanding financing transactionsZ$0illion and $0.5 million as of December 31, 2@0f&l 2004, respectively) are secured |
letter of credit (see Note 2).

The Company has a master agreement with engeasmpany that provided for leasing transactioinsertain equipment. The amounts
outstanding under this agreement as of Decembe2(B5 and 2004 were $1.9 million and $1.2 milliespectively, and are secured by the
related equipment.

The Company has other leasing and financimgeagents and will continue to enter into thosergyeanents as needed to finance the
purchasing or leasing of certain equipment or o#issets. Borrowings under these agreements areagjgrsecured by the related equipment.

Debt and Capital Lease Maturitie
The Company’s aggregate maturities of debssgbent to December 31, 2005 are as follows (ingwods):
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Fiscal year ended December

2006 $19,40:
2007 90C
2008 80C
2009 80C
2010 80C
Thereaftel 1,60(

Total $ 24,30

The following is a schedule of the Companyife minimum lease payments under the capitatketmether with the present value of the
net minimum lease payments as of December 31, @d@Bousands):

Fiscal year ended December

2006 $ 2,44:
2007 93¢
2008 384
2009 132
Thereaftel 55

Total minimum lease paymer $ 3,95:

Less amount representing interest at rates rarfging 5.5% to 15.4% (340
Present value of net minimum lease paym 3,617
Less: Current portio (2,229

Long-term capital lease obligatiol $ 1,38¢

5. Stock and Stock Options
Preferred Stock Purchase Righ

On June 8, 2000, the Company’s Board of Dinsctieclared a dividend distribution of one prefdrstock purchase right (a “Right”) for
each share of the Company’s common stock outstgradirduly 6, 2000 and each share of common stsdledsthereafter. Each Right entitles
the registered shareholders to purchase from timep@oy one onéiousandth of a share of preferred stock at arceseeprice of $67, subject
adjustment. The Rights are not currently exercesatlt would become exercisable if certain eveatsimed relating to a person or group
acquiring or attempting to acquire 15 percent oravaf the Companyg’ outstanding shares of common stock. The Rigtgseern July 6, 201(
unless redeemed or exchanged by the Company earlier

Employee Stock Purchase Ple

In 2000, the Company'’s shareholders approlvedFSweb Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “$todhase Plan”) that is qualified
under Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Codé®86,1to provide employees of the Company an oppiyttio acquire a proprietary interest
in the Company. The Stock Purchase Plan provideddquisition of the Company’s common stock at % Ibscount to the lower of the
beginning or end of a calendar quarter’'s markaiealhe Stock Purchase Plan permits each U.S. gegiwho has completed ninety days of
service to elect to participate in the plan. Eligibmployees may elect to contribute with afterdaitars up to a maximum annual contribution
of $25,000. In 2005, the Company'’s shareholdersoygnl amendments to the Stock Purchase Plan #ragised the number of shares of
common stock reserved for issuance under the $Staokhase Plan and effective January 1, 2006 redbeeacquisition price discount to 5%
the market value on the date of purchase. The Coynipas reserved 4.0 million shares of its commonkstinder the Stock Purchase Plan.
During the years ended December 31, 2005, 2002608, the Company issued 401,270, 226,381 and 48 8Mares under the Stock Purct
Plan, respectively. As of December 31, 2005, there 2,225,920 shares available for further isseamcdler the Stock Purchase Plan, of which
14,691 were issued in January 2006.

Private Placement Transactio

In November 2003, the Company entered inte@uBties Purchase Agreement with certain instil investors in a private placement
transaction pursuant to which the Company issuedsald an aggregate of
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1,581,944 shares of its common stock, par valuel®p@r share (the “Common Stock”), at $2.16 pereshasulting in gross proceeds of

$3.4 million. After deducting expenses, the netcpeuls were approximately $3.2 million. In additiorihe Common Stock, the investors
received one-year warrants to purchase an aggr6g&t692 shares of Common Stock at an exercise pfi§3.25 per share and four-year
warrants to purchase an aggregate of 395,486 sbé@mmmon Stock at an exercise price of $3.30spare. In January 2005, 394,685 of the
one-year warrants were exercised prior to theiirakpn, generating net proceeds to the Compar$1d@ million, and 131,277 of the one-year
warrants expired unexercised. As a result of thegerewith eCOST (see Note 13), the four-year wdsréiave been adjusted such that there are
now 528,382 warrants outstanding with an exercige wf $2.47 per share.

Stock Options and Stock Option Plal
PFSweb Plan Optior

The Company has authorized 8,500,000 sharesmofon stock for issuance under two 1999 stocioogians and 35,000 shares for
issuance under a stock option agreement (the “Sdgtlon Plans”). The Stock Option Plans providetfar granting of incentive awards in the
form of stock options to directors, executive maragnt, key employees, and outside consultantseo€tdmpany. The right to purchase shares
under the employee stock option agreements typigalt over a three-year period, one-twelfth eadrigr. Stock options must be exercised
within 10 years from the date of grant. Stock ami@are generally issued at fair market value. The@any recorded stock based compensi
expense of $16,000, $14,000 and $6,000 in the watsd December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, resplgcliveonnection with stock options
purchase an aggregate of 31,000 shares issued thiedstock Option Plans to non-employees.

As of December 31, 2005, there were 2,942ghéres available for future options under the S@pton Plans.
The following table summarizes stock optiotivéty under the Stock Option Plans:

Weighted Average

Shares Price Per Share Exercise Price

Outstanding, December 31, 2C 3,605,660 $0.44—%$16.00 $ 1.12
Grantec 835,00( $0.3—$2.26 $ 0.4z
Exercisec (328,73() $0.3“—$1.92 % 0.81
Cancelec (256,20) $0.3¢—$1.92 $ 1.1C
Outstanding, December 31, 2C 3,855,73.  $0.3—$16.0C $ 1.0C
Grantec 808,00( $1.4¢—$2.96 % 1.64
Exercisec (160,13) $0.3—$1.92 % 0.8t
Cancelec (61,49) $0.3¢—$10.45 % 1.65
Outstanding, December 31, 2C 4,442,100 $0.3—$16.0C $ 1.11
Grantec 767,00( $1.7¢—$257 % 2.51
Exercisec (120,74()  $0.3“—$1.92 % 1.21
Cancelec (140,41) $0.3<—%$2.57 % 1.9¢
Outstanding, December 31, 2C 4,947,951  $0.3—$16.0C $ 1.3C

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, 4,033,1863a8095,120 options were exercisable, respectivdig. weighted average fair value per
share of options granted during the years ende@mbker 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 was $2.07, $1.48@u38, respectively.

The following table summarizes information ceming currently outstanding and exercisable stgtions issued under the Stock Option
Plans as of December 31, 2005:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted
Average Weighted Weighted
Range of Outstanding as of Remaining Average Exercisable as of Average
Exercise Prices December 31, 2005 Contractual Life Exercise Price December 31, 2005 Exercise Price
$0.3¢-$0.91 2,912,84! 6.3 $ 0.7¢ 2,799,05. $ 0.7¢
$1.16-$1.92 1,340,35! 6.7 $ 1.7¢ 1,022,58 $ 1.77
$2.05-$2.96 687,00( 9.0 $ 2.5¢ 203,75( $ 2.5¢
$10.4:-$16.00 7,75( 3.6 $11.15 7,75C $11.15
4,947,95| 6.8 $ 1.3C 4,033,13I $ 1.1F
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PFSweb No-plan Options

Prior to the Company’s initial public offeringertain of the Company’s employees were holdestazk options of the Company’s former
parent company, Daisytek International Corporafi@aisytek”), issued under Daisytek’s stock optans.

In connection with the completion of the Comya spin-off from Daisytek on July 6, 2000 (thepiB-off”), all outstanding Daisytek stock
options were replaced with substitute stock opti®asytek options held by PFSweb employees weakaced (at the option holder’s election
made prior to the Spioff) with either options to acquire shares of PFBwemmon stock or options to acquire shares of Datisytek comma
stock and PFSweb common stock (which may be exetaeparately) (the “Unstapled Options”). Optioekltby Daisytek employees were
replaced (at the option holder’s election madergndhe Spineff) with either options to acquire shares of D&&ycommon stock or Unstapl
Options.

As a result of the stock option replacementpss described above, in conjunction with the -8ffinPFSweb stock options (the “Non-plan
Options”) were issued to PFSweb and Daisytek afficdirectors and employees. These options weniedsas one-time grants and were not
issued under the Stock Option Plans. The termgemdsions of the Non-plan Options are substantidle same as options issued under the
Stock Option Plans.

As of December 31, 2005, 439,235 Non-plan @ystiwere outstanding, all of which were held by wél$ officers, directors and employees.
The following table summarizes stock optiotivéty under the Non-plan Options:

Weighted Average

Shares Price Per Share Exercise Price
Outstanding, December 31, 2C 1,184,800 $0.9—%$10.58 $ 1.0t
Grantec — $— $ —
Exercisec (320,83) $0.9—%1.17 $ 1.1C
Cancelec (859,00) $0.9—%$1.17 $ 1.1¢€
Outstanding, December 31, 2C 504,96{ $0.9—%$10.58 $ 0.9t
Grantec — $— $ —
Exercisec (31,130) $0.91 $ 0.91
Cancelec (569 $5.7—%$105¢ $ 6.47
Outstanding, December 31, 2C 473,26¢ $0.9—%$10.58 $ 0.9t
Grantec — $— $ —
Exercisec (31,039 $0.91 $ 0.91
Cancelec (3,000 $0.91 $ 0.91
Outstanding, December 31, 2C 439,23! $0.9—-%$10.58 $ 0.9t
As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, 439,2354313269 of Non-plan Options outstanding were exsatie, respectively.
The following table summarizes information ceming Non-plan Options outstanding and exercesablof December 31, 2005:
Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted
Outstanding as of Average Weighted Exercisable as of Weighted
Range of December 31, Remaining Average December 31, Average
Exercise Prices 2005 Contractual Life Exercise Price 2005 Exercise Price
$0.91 437,00! 5.9 $0.91 437,00! $0.91
$ 5.7¢$10.5¢ 2,23( 2.C $8.8< 2,23( $8.8¢
439,23! 5.8 $0.9¢ 439,23! $0.9%
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Fair Value

The fair value of each option grant is estedadn the date of grant using the Black-Scholemoiricing model with the following
assumptions used for grants of options under tbekSDption Plans:

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 20C December 31, 20C December 31, 20C

Expected dividend yiel = _ —

Expected stock price volatilit 104%- 105% 107%- 118% 115%- 118%
Risk-free interest rat 3.6%- 4.6% 3.9%- 4.8% 3.4%- 4.3%
Expected life of options (year 5-6 5 5

The fair value of each share of common staekigd under the Stock Purchase Plan is estimatéiteodate of grant using the BlaSkhole:
option-pricing model with the following assumptions

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 20C December 31, 20C December 31, 20C

Expected dividend yiel — — —

Expected stock price volatilit 102%- 107% 107%- 115% 115%- 119%
Risk-free interest rat 2.3%- 4.0% 0.9%-2.2% 0.9%-1.2%
Expected life of options (month 3 3 3

The weighted average fair value per shareofraon stock granted under the Stock Purchase Péantegl during the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 was $0.98, $0.44@51, respectively.

6. Master Distributor Agreements

Supplies Distributors, PFSweb and IBM havemstd into master distributor agreements wherebyl®sgDistributors acts as a master
distributor of various IBM products and PFSweb [deg transaction management and fulfillment ses/iioeSupplies Distributors. The master
distributor agreements expire in March 2007 andbzextended for additional one-year terms uporued@greement by all parties. Under the
master distributor agreements, IBM sells produ@tpplies Distributors and reimburses Suppliesristors for certain freight costs, direct
costs incurred in passing on any price decreasesedfby IBM to Supplies Distributors or its custan® to cover price protection and certain
special bids, the cost of products provided toaepldefective product returned by customers aret atrtain expenses as defined. Supplies
Distributors can return to IBM product renderedalbte by IBM engineering changes after customeratehends. IBM determines when a
product is obsolete. IBM and Supplies Distributalso have verbal agreements under which IBM reisdmior collects from Supplies
Distributors amounts calculated in certain inveptoost adjustments.

Supplies Distributors passes through to custsmmarketing programs specified by IBM and adniéngs along with a party performing
product demand generation for the IBM productshquograms according to IBM guidelines.
7. Supplies Distributors

Pursuant to an operating agreement, Suppiisitiutors is restricted from making any distriloais to PFSweb if, after giving affect there
Supplies Distributors’ net worth would be less ti$4m0 million. At December 31, 2005, Supplies Disitors’ net worth was $8.8 million.
Under the terms of its amended credit agreementyples Distributors is currently restricted fromyjing annual cash dividends without the
prior approval of its lenders (see Notes 3 andrdJune 2005, Supplies Distributors paid a $1.0ionildividend to PFSweb. In 2004, Supplies
Distributors paid a $0.8 million dividend to PFSwéb September 2003, Supplies Distributors pai@.8 #illion dividend to PFSweb.

8. Income Taxes

A reconciliation of the difference between thgoected income tax expense at the U.S. fedexaitsty corporate tax rate of 34%, and the
Company'’s effective tax rate is as follows (in teands):
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Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31 December 31 December 31
2005 2004 2003
Income tax provision (benefit) computed at statytate $ 86 $ 32€ $ (1,079
Impact of foreign taxatio (16) 9 (48)
Items not deductible for tax purpos 337 60 623
Change in valuation reser 70€ 47¢ 1,197
Other (112 (127) (127
Provision for income taxe $ 1,001 $ 734 $ 572
The consolidated income (loss) before incomxed, by domestic and foreign entities, is as ¥adl¢in thousands):
Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31 December 31 December 31
2005 2004 2003
Domestic $  (1,21)) $ (549 $ (2,749
Foreign 1,46t 1,50¢ (429)
Total $ 254 $ 96( $ (3,179
Current and deferred income tax expense (bdgseesummarized as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31 December 31 December 31
2005 2004 2003
Current
Domestic $ 151 $ 74 $ 79
State 80 49 64
Foreign 77€ 692 563
Total current 1,00¢ 81F 70€
Deferred
Domestic — — —
State — — (31)
Foreign (8) (81) (103)
Total deferrec (8) (81) (1349
Total $ 1,001 $ 734 $ 572

The components of the deferred tax assetil{tighbare as follows (in thousands):

Deferred tax asse
Allowance for doubtful accoun
Inventory reservi
Property and equipme
Net operating loss carryforwar
Other

Less— Valuation reserwv
Total deferred tax ass
Deferred tax liability
Deferred tax asset, n

Management believes that PFSweb has not edtalla sufficient history of earnings, on a statahe basis, to support the more likely than

December 31

December 31

2005 2004
$ 164  $ 171
641 761
1,14(¢ 74
10,12¢ 10,81:
67C 612
12,74¢ 12,43(
12,42: 12,22¢
322 208
(108) (166)
$ 214§ 39

not realization of certain deferred tax assetxuess of existing taxable temporary differencesaluation allowance has been provided for
these net deferred income tax assets as of Decetp2005 and 2004. At December 31, 2005, net tipgrioss carryforwards relate to
taxable losses of PFSweb’s Europe subsidiary t@approximately $10.3 million, PFSweb’s Canadasiliary totaling approximately

$3.6 million
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and PFSweb’s U.S. subsidiary totaling approxima$dl§.7 million that expire at various dates thro26R0. The U.S. net operating loss
carryforward includes $4.6 million relating to thgnefits of stock option exercises and, if utilizetll be recorded against additional paid-in-
capital upon utilization rather than as an adjusitnt@ income tax expense from continuing operations

9. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company leases facilities, warehouseg®ffiransportation and other equipment under opgrigases expiring in various years thro
December 31, 2012. In most cases, management sxpattin the normal course of business, leaskbavienewed or replaced by other
leases. The Company also subleases a certain @arfadility under a sublease agreement through mbkee 31, 2006 as well one of our
distribution facilities in Memphis, TN through Deunber 31, 2008. Minimum future annual rental payreemd sublease receipts under non-
cancelable operating leases having original temexcess of one year are as follows (in thousands):

Operating Lease

Payments Sub-_ease Incomt
Fiscal year ended December
2006 $ 7,488 % 711
2007 6,31¢ 572
2008 3,94( 572
2009 1,862 —
2010 924 —
Thereaftel 781 —
Total $ 21,31:  $ 1,85¢

During the years ended December 31, 2005 808d,2he Company relocated certain of its operatamd entered into sublease agreements
on the former facilities, which resulted in a chaaf $0.4 million and $0.3 million, respectivelyhieh is included in selling, general and
administrative expense.

Total rental expense under operating leaspapnated $7.3 million, $5.4 million and $6.1 rioh for the years ended December 31, 2005,
2004 and 2003, respectively. Certain landlord neglideposits are secured by letters of creditKsze 2).

The Company receives municipal tax abatemartertain locations. During 2004 the Company reeginotice from a municipality that it
did not satisfy certain criteria necessary to nainthe abatements. The Company plans to dispatedtice. If the dispute is not resolved
favorably, the Company could be assessed addittarat for calendar years 2005 and 2004. The Coyripasinot accrued for the additional
taxes, which for 2005 and 2004 could be $0.4 nmilti® $0.5 million each year, as the Company doébeleve that it is probable that an
additional assessment will be incurred.

On May 9, 2005, a lawsuit was filed in thetbgt Court of Collin County, Texas, by J. Gregdtéhard, as Trustee of the D.I.C. Creditors
Trust, naming the former directors of Daisytek tntgional Corporation and the Company as defendBatisytek filed for bankruptcy in
May 2003 and the Trust was created pursuant toyld's Plan of Liquidation. The complaint allegasjong other things, that the spin-off of
the Company from Daisytek in December 1999 wasuadinlent conveyance and that Daisytek was dam&geelly in the amount of at least
$38 million. The Company believes the claim hasnesit and intends to vigorously defend the action.

In the ordinary course of business, one orenodthe Company’s clients may dispute Companyizesfor services rendered or other
charges. As of December 31, 2005, an aggregateppbaimately $1.1 million of client invoices wene dispute. The Company believes it will
resolve these disputes in its favor and has narded any reserve for such disputes.

10. Segment and Geographic Information
The Company is organized into two operatirgnsents: PFSweb is an international provider ofgra&ed

69




Table of Contents

PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (conti nued)
business process outsourcing solutions and opaaataservice fee business; Supplies Distribugoasmaster distributor of primarily IBM

products.

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31 December 31 December 31
2005 2004 2003
Revenues (in thousand:
PFSwelk $ 87,88 $ 62,62 $ 44,82
Supplies Distributor: 252,90: 267,47( 249,23(
Eliminations (9,129 (8,426 (7,61
$ 331,65 $ 321,66! $ 286,43¢
Income (loss) from operations (in thousan:
PFSwelk $ (5,299 $ (3,49 $ (6,319)
Supplies Distributor: 7,27¢ 5,90¢ 5,114
Eliminations — 7 29
$ 1,98:¢ $ 2,42( $ (1,179
Depreciation and amortization (in thousant
PFSwelk $ 6,112 $ 4,63¢ $  4,46¢
Supplies Distributor: — 14 58
Eliminations — (7 (30)
$ 611C $ 4,64 $ 4,497
Capital expenditures (in thousanc
PFSwelk $ 3,91¢ $ 7,69¢ $ 1,98
Supplies Distributor — — —
Eliminations — — —
$ 3,91¢ $ 7,69¢ $ 1,982
December 31 December 31
2005 2004
Assets (in thousands
PFSwelk $ 60,33 $ 56,61(
Supplies Distributor 87,54: 88,54¢
Eliminations (16,159 (14,83)
$ 131,72¢ $ 130,32

Geographic areas in which the Company opematésde the United States, Europe (primarily Beig), and Canada. The following is
geographic information by area. Revenues are ati&ibbased on the Company’s domicile.

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31 December 31 December 31
2005 2004 2003
Revenues (in thousand:
United State: $ 249,46: $ 225,30( $ 199,30¢
Europe 89,60: 99,97¢ 89,78!
Canad¢ 8,09( 9,83¢ 12,73(
Inter-segment elimination (15,49)) (13,44 (15,389
$ 331,65’ $ 321,66! $ 286,43¢
December 31 December 31
2005 2004
Long-lived assets (in thousand:
United State: $ 11,87 $ 12,28¢
Europe 2,28( 3,641
Canade 76 13€
$ 14,23( $ 16,067
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PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (conti nued)

11. Employee Savings Plan

The Company has a defined contribution emm@savings plan under Section 401(k) of the InteRetenue Code. Substantially all full-
time and part-time U.S. employees are eligibleadipipate in the plan. The Company, at its disoretmay match employee contributions to
the plan and also make an additional matching tmriton in the form of profit sharing in recogniti@f the Company’s performance. During
the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, the&@gmnmatched 20% of employee contributions totadipgroximately $116,000 and
$60,000, respectively. During the year ended Deeer@h, 2003 the Company matched 10% of employekibations totaling approximately
$30,000.

12. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

Unaudited quarterly results of operationsyfears ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 were awfo{amounts in thousands except per
share data):

Year Ended December 31, 2005

1stQtr. 2 nd Qtr. 3rd Qtr. 4t Qtr,
Total revenue $81,86¢ $84,87( $81,49. $83,43(
Total cost of revenue 74,55¢ 76,84¢ 72,70¢ 75,04:
Gross profi 7,31( 8,021 8,78¢ 8,38¢
Selling, general and administrative exper 6,96¢ 7,952 8,441 7,16
Income from operation 344 69 343 1,227
Net income (loss (219 (54¢€) (45%) 46€
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per st (0.03) (0.02) (0.02) 0.02

Year Ended December 31, 200

1stQtr. 2nd Qtr. 31d Qtr. 4t Otr.
Total revenue $77,48¢ $80,02( $77,01% $87,14:
Total cost of revenue 71,49( 72,11¢ 69,63( 78,91¢
Gross profil 5,99t 7,901 7,381 8,22¢
Selling, general and administrative exper 7,13 6,91( 6,451 6,59¢
Income (loss) from operatiol (1,137 991 93¢ 1,63(
Net income (loss (1,767 47¢ 42C 1,09¢
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per st (0.0§) 0.02 0.02 0.0t

The seasonality of the Company’s businesgjgddent upon the seasonality of its clients’ leggrand their sale of products. Management
believes that with the Company’s current client mird their clients’ business volumes, the Compasgisice fee revenue business activity is
expected to be at its lowest in the quarter endattM31. The Company’s product revenue businesstaés expected to be at its highest in
the quarter ended December 31.

13. Subsequent Event

On February 1, 2006, the Company, Red Dog &itipn Corp., a newly-formed wholly-owned subsigiaf the Company (“Merger Sub”),
and eCOST.com, Inc. (“eCOST”), a multi-categoryimaldiscount retailer of new, “close-out” and rdfished brand-name merchandise for
consumers and small business buyers, consummatedtisactions contemplated by the Agreement aand ¢fIMerger dated as of
November 29, 2005 (tt“Merger Agreement”), pursuant to which, among ottiéngs, effective as of February 1, 2006, Mergda #as
merged (the “Merger”) with and into eCOST, with eEDremaining as the surviving corporation and allyhmwvned subsidiary of the
Company. As of February 1, 2006, each of the 1888Bissued and outstanding shares of common sfoeROST have been converted into
the right to receive one share of common stockef@ompany. In conjunction with the merger, weéssB0,000 warrants to a former eCOST
shareholder with an exercise price of $2.00 peresha

The Company is in the process of identifying intangible assets acquired through the mergeegs. Upon the completion of this
identification, the Company will assign valueste assets acquired including the intangible
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PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (conti nued)

assets and goodwill. Using the average of the PBQWesing stock price for the three days priorhe merger of $1.42, and the estimated
transaction costs of $1.4 million, the estimatertpase price is approximately $28 million.

The Company has provided guarantees of cestaigations of eCOST to its bank and a vendortheccompany may provide additional
guarantees in the future. eCOST has historicallyrired significant operating losses and used aafimd its operations. Through the merger,
the Company plans to increase revenues, improwsgnargins and reduce costs for this eCOST business

The Company can provide no assurance thatf@aals or the underlying financial benefits will &ehieved. Additionally, even with such
plans, the Company expects that eCOST will opexbgeloss during 2006 and will require funding aport its operations.

The Company may be required to invest casartd eCOST'’s operations, which they can not do euttapproval from its lenders. As of
March 31, 2006, the Company has received lendeoappto use $3.5 million in cash to fund eCOSTaslke flow requirements. The Company
can provide no assurance that they will receiveh&urapproval from its lenders if additional finamgneeds are required by eCOST.

If eCOST is unable to meet its requirementeunrits debt obligations and bank facility, the igueees referred to above could be called
upon.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountason Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

The term “disclosure controls and procedureslefined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of3beurities Exchange Act of 1934, or the
Exchange Act. This term refers to the controls pratedures of a company that are designed to praeia@sonable assurance that information
required to be disclosed by a company in the regbet it files or submits under the Exchange Acgticorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified by tlee@Bities and Exchange Commission. Our managernmehiding our Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated theaifeness of our disclosure controls and procedases the end of the period covered by this
annual report. Based upon that evaluation, ourf@Ghiecutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer lregoncluded that our disclosure controls
and procedures were effective in all material retgpas of the end of the period covered by thisiahreport.

There were no changes to our internal comivel financial reporting during our last fiscal giea that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, our intekeantrol over financial reporting.

PART IlI

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

Reference is made to the information to bda# in the section entitled “Board of Directofid “Committees of the Board” in the
definitive proxy statement in connection with ounrual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Proxy Staterfjenthich section is incorporated her
by reference. Our Proxy Statement will be filedhathie Securities and Exchange Commission not fager 120 days after the last day of our
fiscal year ended December 31, 2005.

Item 11. Executive Compensation
Information required by Part 111, Item 11, idle included in the section entitled “Electionifectors” of our Proxy Statement relating to
our annual meeting of stockholders and is incongar&erein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners ahMbBnagement and Related Stockholder Matters

Information required by Part 111, Iltem 12, idile included in the Sections entitled “ElectionDifectors” and Security Ownership of Certa
Beneficial Owners and Management” of our Proxy &tent relating to our annual meeting of stockhaderd is incorporated herein by
reference.

The following table summarizes informationhwespect to equity compensation plans under widglity securities of the registrant are
authorized for issuance as of December 31, 2005:

Number of securities ~ Weighted-average Number of

to be issued upon exercise price of securities

exercise of outstanding remaining
outstanding options options and available for

Plan category (1) and warrants warrants future issuance

Equity compensation plans approved by securityérs| 4,947,95I $ 1.3C 2,942 44
Equity compensation plans not approved by sechdtgers 439,23! $ 0.9t —
Total 5,387,18! 2,942 44

(1) See Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statenfentaore detailed information regarding the remis’s equity compensation plar
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Item 13. Certain Relationship and Related Transactions

Information regarding certain of our relatibips and related transactions will be includechim $ection entitled “Certain Relationship and
Related Transactions” of our Proxy Statement medptd our annual meeting of stockholders and isriparated herein by reference.
Item 14. Principal Accountant and Fees and Services

Information required by Part I, Item 14, e included in the section entitled “RatificatiohAppointment of Independent Auditors” of
our Proxy Statement relating to our annual meeatingtockholders and is incorporated herein by esfee.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a) The following documents are filed as part of theEpart:
1. Financial Statement
PFSweb, Inc. and Subsidiari

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfimm

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ EquityGomprehensive Income (Loss)
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme

Financial Statement Schedul

Schedule | — Condensed Financial InformatibRegistrant
Schedule |- Valuation and Qualifying Accoun

All other schedules are omitted because the redjifermation is not present in amounts sufficientequire submission of the sched
or because the information required is includethefinancial statements or notes ther

2. Exhibits

Exhibit

Number Description of Exhibits
2.1(19) Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of Nover2®e2005, by and among PFSweb, Inc., Red Dog AttgrisCorp and

eCOST.com, Inc

3.1(2) Amended and Restated Certificate of IncorporatioRFESweb, Inc
3.1.1 (20 Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restatetificate of Incorporation of PFSweb, Ir
3.2(1) Amended and Restated Bylaws of PFSweb,
10.1 (17) PFSweb, Inc. 2005 Employee Stock and Incentive
10.2 (17) PFSweb, Inc. 2005 Employee Stock Purchase |
10.3 (18) Amendment 3 to Loan and Security Agreem
10.4 (18) Amendment 6 to Agreement for Inventory Financi
10.5 (18) Amendment 1 to First Amended and Restated LoarSaadrity Agreemen
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Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibits

10.6 (16) Amendment 5 to Amended and Restated Platinum P¢aaeinent

10.7 (16) Agreement for IBM Global Financing Platinum Plawdite Discounting Schedul

10.8 (16) Amendment No. 5 to Agreement for Inventory Finagc

10.9 (1) Industrial Lease Agreement between Shelby Drivgp@i@ation and Priority Fulfillment Services, Ir

10.10 (1) Lease Contract between Transports Weerts and tyrieulfillment Services Europe B.\

10.11 (2) Form of Change of Control Agreement between PFSimeband each of its executive office

10.12 (4) Ninth Amendment to Lease Agreement by and betweBBRI ATRIUM. L.P., and Priority Fulfillment ServiegInc.

10.13 (5) Agreement for Inventory Financing by and among Bess Supplies Distributors Holdings, LLC, SuppDastributors, Inc.
Priority Fulfillment Services, Inc., PFSweb, Inlnyentory Financing Partners, LLC and IBM Creditr@aration

10.14 (5) Amended and Restated Collateralized Guaranty bybatdeen Priority Fulfillment Services, Inc. andMECredit Corporatiol

10.15 (5) Amended and Restated Guaranty to IBM Credit Cotmmdy PFSweb, Inc

10.16 (5) Amended and Restated Notes Payable SubordinatiogefAwent by and between Priority Fulfillment Sersidac., Supplies
Distributors, Inc. and IBM Credit Corporatic

10.17 (5) Amended and Restated Platinum Plan Agreement (mithice Discounting) by and among Supplies Distitlos, S.A.,
Business Supplies Distributors Europe B.V., PFS®ah, and IBM Belgium Financial Services S.

10.18 (5) Amended and Restated Collateralized Guaranty betWweerity Fulfillment Services, Inc. and IBM Belgn Financial
Services S.A

10.19 (5) Amended and Restated Guaranty to IBM Belgium Fir@r8ervices S.A. by PFSweb, Ir

10.20 (5) Subordinated Demand Note by and between Suppl&silitors, Inc. and Priority Fulfillment Servicéac.

10.21 (5) Notes Payable Subordination Agreement between @sadfinancial Corporation (Southwest) and Pridtitifillment
Services, Inc

10.22 (5) Guarantee in favor of Congress Financial Corpomaf@outhwest) by Business Supplies Distributorsditgls, LLC, Priority
Fulfillment Services, Inc. and PFSweb, |

10.23 (5) General Security Agreement by Priority Fulfilme3grvices, Inc. in favor of Congress Financial Coation (Southwest

10.24 (5) Inducement Letter by Priority Fulfillment Servicdés¢. and PFSweb, Inc. in favor of Congress FiranCorporatior
(Southwest)

10.25 (6) Form of Executive Severance Agreement between tlep@ny and each of its executive office

10.26 (7) Amendment to Agreement for Inventory Financing hg among Business Supplies Distributors Holdings; L Supplies
Distributors, Inc., Priority Fulfillment Servicebc., PFSweb, Inc., Inventory Financing PartnetsCland IBM Credit
Corporation

10.27 (7) Amendment to Amended and Restated Platinum Plarekgent (with Invoice Discounting) by and among Siegp
Distributors, S.A., Business Supplies DistributBrtgope B.V., PFSweb B.V., and IBM Belgium Finan@arvices S.A

10.28 (7) Amended and Restated Notes Payable Subordinatiogeftgent by and between Priority Fulfillment Sersidac., Supplies
Distributors, Inc. and IBM Credit Corporatit

10.29 (7) Amendment to Factoring agreement dated March 282 P@tween Supplies Distributors S.A. and Fortim@ercial Finance

N.V.
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Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibits

10.30 (8) Loan and Security Agreement by and between Com8iack— California (‘Bank”) and Priority Fulfillment Services, In
(“Priority”) and Priority Fulfilment Services of Canada, Ir*Priority Canad”)

10.31 (8) Unconditional Guaranty of PFSweb, Inc. to ComeBeak- California

10.32 (8) Security Agreement of PFSweb, Inc. to Comerica E- California

10.33 (8) Intellectual Property Security Agreement betweenrRy Fulfillment Services, Inc. and Comerica Be- California

10.34 (8) Amendment 2 to Amended and Restated Platinum Pgaaeinent (with Invoice Discounting) by and amongSies
Distributors, S.A., Business Supplies DistributBr¥., PFSweb B.V., and IBM Belgium Financial SerscS.A.

10.35 (8) Amendment to Agreement for Inventory Financing bg among Business Supplies Distributors Holdinds L Supplies
Distributors, Inc., Priority Fulfilment Servicekic., PFSweb, Inc., and IBM Credit LL

10.36 (9) Amendment to factoring agreement dated April 3@3Between Supplies Distributors S.A. and Fortism@ercial Finance
N.V.

10.37 (9) Loan and Security Agreement by and between Conghiessicial Corporation (Southwest), as Lender amgp$es
Distributors, Inc., as Borrower dated March 29, 2(

10.38 (9) General Security Agreement — Business Suppliesibigors Holdings, LLC in favor of Congress FinaaldCorporation
(Southwest

10.39 (9) Stock Pledge Agreement between Supplies Distrisutac. and Congress Financial Corporation (Sousty

10.40 (9) First Amendment to General Security Agreement bgrRy Fulfillment Services, Inc. in favor of Conggs Financial
Corporation (Southwes

10.41 (10 First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement nesdef September 11, 2003 by and between Priouifiiiment
Services, Inc., Priority Fulfillment Services ofr@zala, Inc. and Comerica Bat

10.42 (11 Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of NovemI2803 between PFSweb, Inc. and the Purchasersdchidrarein

10.43 (11 Form of Four Year Warrant dated as of Novembei0®32ssued to each of the Purchasers pursuang t8aburities Purchase
Agreement

10.44 (12 Industrial Lease Agreement between New York Lifeuimnce Company and Daisytek, |

10.45 (12 First Amendment to Industrial Lease Agreement betwdew York Life Insurance Company, Daisytek, laed Priority
Fulfillment Services, Inc

10.46 (12 Second Amendment to Industrial Lease AgreementdmtiviProLogis North Carolina Limited Partnership Bmidrity
Fulfillment Services, Inc

10.47 (12 Modification, Ratification and Extension of LeasstWween Shelby Drive Corporation and Priority Fltfiint Services, Inc

10.48 (13 Amendment to Agreement for Inventory Financing hg among Business Supplies Distributors HoldingsZ L Supplies
Distributors, Inc., Priority Fulfillment Serviceb)c., PFSweb, Inc., and IBM Credit LL

10.49 (13 Amendment 4 to Amended and Restated Platinum Pgaaeinent (with Invoice Discounting) by and amongSies
Distributors, S.A., Business Supplies DistributBr¥., PFSweb B.V., and IBM Belgium Financial SerscS.A.

10.50 (13 Third Amended and Restated Notes Payable Suboimagreement by and between Priority Fulfillmertr3ces, Inc.
Supplies Distributors, Inc. and IBM Credit Corpaoat

10.51 (13 First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreementiny leetween Congress Financial Corporation (Southwes Lender ar
Supplies Distributors, Inc., as Borrow

10.52 (13 Form of Modification to Executive Severance Agreet

10.53 (14

Industrial Lease Agreement by and between Induddeaelopments International, Inc. and Priority fifimhent Services, Inc
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Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibits

10.54 (14) Guaranty by PFSweb, Inc. in favor of Industrial Bl®pments International, In

10.55 (14) Lease between Fleet National Bank and Priorityifiaként Services, Inc

10.56 (14) Guaranty by PFSweb, Inc. in favor of Fleet NatioBahk

10.57 (14) Amendment No. 3 to Lease dated as of March 3, b@@®een Fleet National Bank and Priority Fulfillm&ervices, Inc

10.58 (15) Loan Agreement between Mississippi Business Fin&@urporation and Priority Fulfillment Services, lnated as ¢
November 1, 200

10.59 (15) Placement Agreement between Priority Fulfillmentv@es, Inc., Comerica Securities and MississippsiBess Financ
Corporation

10.60 (15) Reimbursement Agreement between Priority Fulfillingervices, Inc. and Comerica Be

10.61 (15) First Amended and Restated Loan and Security Ageeeby and between Comerica Bank and Priority Hulént
Services, Inc

10.62 (15) Remarketing Agreement between Priority Fulfillm&etrvices, Inc. and Comerica Securi

10.63 (20) Amendment to factoring agreement dated Decembe2@5 between Supplies Distributors S.A. and F@tsmercial
Finance N.V.

21 (20) Subsidiary Listing

23.1 (20) Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent Registered Pukticounting Firm

31.1 (20) Certifications of Principal Executive Officer Puesu to 18 U.S.C. Section 13!

31.2 (20) Certifications of Principal Financial Officer Puesu to 18 U.S.C. Section 13!

32.1 (20) Certifications of Chief Executive Officer Pursuantl8 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuanétticd 906 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 200z

(1) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. Regfistn Statement on Forn-1 (Commission File No. 3:-87657).

(2) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2(

(3) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q/A for the quarterly period ended September 30

(4) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-K for the transition period ended December 31, 2

(5) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2

(6) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2

(7) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-K for the yealended December 31, 20

(8) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2

(9) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2

(10) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, !

(11) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. Repotfftorm K filed on November 10, 20C

(12) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-K for the year ended December 31, 2|

(13) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2

(14) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, :
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(15)
(16)
7)
(18)
(19)
(20)

Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-K for the year ended December 31, 2C
Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2(
Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. Repoiftorm K filed on June 14, 200!
Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2!
Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. CurRayport on Form-K filed on November 30, 200!
Filed herewitr

78




Table of Contents

SCHEDULE |
PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT
BALANCE SHEETS — PARENT COMPANY ONLY
(In thousands)
December 31 December 31
2005 2004
ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalel $ O $ 0
Receivable from Priority Fulfillment Services, It O 4,771
Investment in subsidiarie 36,53¢ 25,15¢
Total asset $ 36,563 $ 29,92¢
LIABILITIES:
Payable due to Priority Fulfillment Services, | $ 6,601 $ O
SHAREHOLDERYS EQUITY:
Preferred stoc O 0
Common stocl 23 22
Additional paic-in capital 58,73¢ 56,64t
Accumulated defici (29,829 (29,07°)
Accumulated other comprehensive inca 1,08¢ 2,421
Treasury stocl (89) (89
Total shareholde’ equity 29,93 29,92¢
Total liabilities and sharehold¢ equity $ 36,53 $ 29,92¢

The condensed financial statements should be reegnjunction with the consolidated financial stagsts and notes.
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PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS — PARENT COMPANY ONLY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
(In thousands)

2005 2004
EQUITY IN NET INCOME (LOSS) OF CONSOLIDATED SUBSIBRIES $ (749 $  22¢
NET INCOME (LOSS; $ (7149 $  22¢

The condensed financial statements should be reegnjunction with the consolidated financial stagsts and notes.
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SCHEDULE |
PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS — PARENT COMPANY ONLY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
(In thousands)
2005 2004 2003

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income (loss $ (747) $ 22¢ $ (3,74¢)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash plextiby operating activitie

Equity in net (income) loss of consolidated sulzsiés 747 (22€) 3,74¢
Change in operating as-investment in subsidiarie (13,44) — —
Net cash provided by operating activit (13,44) — —

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net proceeds from issuance of common s 2,07t 475 4,05¢
Net increase/(decrease) in balance with PrioritfilFaoent Services, Inc 11,37: (475 (4,08))
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activi 13,44 — (22)
NET DECREASE IN CASH — — (22)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of peric — — 22
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of perio $ = $ — $ —

The condensed financial statements should be reeshjunction with the consolidated financial staémts and notes.
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Year Ended December 31, 20(
Allowance for doubtful accoun
Allowance for slow moving inventor
Income tax valuation allowan

Year Ended December 31, 20(
Allowance for doubtful accoun
Allowance for slow moving inventor
Income tax valuation allowan

Year Ended December 31, 20(
Allowance for doubtful accoun
Allowance for slow moving inventor
Income tax valuation allowan

PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
(Amounts in thousands)

Balance at
Beginning
of Period

Additions

Charges to
Cost and Other
Expenses Accounts

$ 411
$ 142
$10,20:

$ 33¢
$ 1,31«
$11,40¢

$ 504

$ 2,47:
$12,22¢

82

351 —
1,98¢ =
1,19i —

28¢ —
1,20¢ —
34¢€ 47¢

40 —
(230) —
107 90

Charges to

Deductions

(429
(812)

(124)
(4%)

(6C)
(704)

SCHEDULE I

Balance at
End of

Period

$ 33¢
$ 1,31¢
$11,40¢

$ 504
$ 2,47
$12,22¢

$ 484
$ 1,53¢
$12,42;
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 185¢d) of the Securities Act of 1934, the Registtzat duly caused this report to be signed ¢
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authdrize

By: /s/ THOMAS J. MADDEN
Thomas J. Maddel
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial anddAmting Officel

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securtaf 1934, this report has been signed belowhieyfollowing persons on behalf of the
Registrant and in the capacities and on the datbsated.

Signature Title Date
/sl MARK C. LAYTON Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Exeeufificer March 31, 200¢
Mark C. Layton (Principal Executive Officer
/sl THOMAS J. MADDEN Executive Vice President and Chief Financial anddmting March 31, 200¢
Thomas J. Madde Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Offige
/s DR. NEIL JACOBS Director March 31, 200¢
Dr. Neil Jacob:
/s/ TIMOTHY M. MURRAY Director March 31, 200¢

Timothy M. Murray

/s/ JAMES F. REILLY Director March 31, 200¢
James F. Reill

/s/ DAVID |. BEATSON Director March 31, 200¢
David |. Beatsor
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EXHIBIT 3.1.1
CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT

OF
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION

OF

PFSWEB, INC.
It is hereby certified that:

1. The name of the corporation (heregéradalled the “corporation”) is PFSweb, Inc.

2. The certificate of incorporation oétborporation is hereby amended by striking oufitise paragraph of Article FOURTH thereof a
by substituting in lieu of said paragraph the falilog new paragraph:

“FOURTH: The total number of shares of stock whtish Corporation shall have authority to issue i®@6,000 shares, divided into
two classes as follows: (i) 1,000,000 shares ofdPred Stock, par value $1.00 per share (“Prefe®tedk”); and (ii) 75,000,000
shares of Common Stock, par value $.001 per sh@mr(mon Stock”).

3. The amendment of the certificate abimporation herein certified has been duly adoptedl approved by a majority of the outstanding
stock of the corporation entitled to vote theremadcordance with the provisions of Section 24thefGeneral Corporation Law of the State of
Delaware.

Dated: January 25, 2006
PFSWEB, INC.

By: /sl Mark C. Laytol

Name: Mark C. Layton
Title:  Chief Executive Office







EXHIBIT 10.63
ENDORSEMENT IX TO THE FACTORING AGREEMENT OF MARCBil st, 2002

Between,
Fortis Commercial Financial N.V.
located at Turnhout, Steenweg op Tielen 51

and Supplies Distributors S.A.
located at Grace-Hologne, rue Louis Bleriot 5

has been agreed to modify §1, §2 and 88 of thécBkt Conditions as follows:

8§ 1.COUNTRIES* : Belgium, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Austriajt3&rland, Denmark, Finland, Hungaria, Sweden, Ba\tica,
Germany, Spain, France, United Kingdom, Italy,drel, Portugal, Greece and Turkey.

If there are agreements with debtors, the clienblgged to submit them tot the fator for analysis.

Invoices related to prepayments are excluded flosmagreement as well as the following debtorsS MFeb and Supplies Distributors Inc.

* minimum assigned turnover per factoring year = 30,00,000 EUR
82. FACTOR COMMISSION 0.05 %

§8. INTEREST CONDITIONS

a. cash advance

Euribor + 0,60%

b. quarterly provision

A provision on the highest three monthly debit bak:0,14%

c. overdraw provision

A monthly provision of 1% on the highest amounthe overdraw.

Made out in duplicate at Turnhout on Decembei"12005

Supplies Distributors S./ Fortis Commercial Finance N.

Thierry Denaisse
Managing Director






Exhibit 21

Name Jurisdiction
Priority Fulfillment Services, Inc Delaware
Priority Fulfillment Services of Canada, Ir Ontario
PFSweb BV SPRL (f/k/a Priority Fulfillment ServicEsirope, B.V.) Belgium
Business Supplies Distributors Holdings, L Delaware
Supplies Distributors, Inc Delaware
Supplies Distributors of Canada, It Ontario
Supplies Distributors S./ Belgium
Business Supplies Distributors Europe B.V. (in liation) Netherland:
eCOST.com, Inc. Delaware

* As of February 1, 2006






EXHIBIT 23.1

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS CONSENT

The Board of Directors
PFSweb, Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference inrélggstration statements (Nos. 333-75764, 333-75332-40020, 333-42186 and 338096)
on Form S-8 and (No. 333-110853) on Form S-3 ofreport dated February 24, 2006, except for NotasdB4 as to which the date is

March 31, 2006, with respect to the consolidatddrize sheets of PFSweb, Inc. and subsidiaries Beaémber 31, 2005 and 2004, and the
related consolidated statements of operationsebbéters’ equity and comprehensive income(losg),cash flows for each of the years in the
three-year period ended December 31, 2005 andcttwerganying financial statement schedules as oéber 31, 2005 and 2004, and for
each of the years in the three-year period endegi@ber 31, 2005, which report appears in the DeeeBib, 2005, annual report on Form 10-
K of PFSweb, Inc.

Dallas, Texas
March 31, 2006






EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

I, Mark Layton, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of PEBwINnC.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or améitate a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeker which such statements were made, not misigadth respect to the periods covered
by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operation aagtt flows of the registrant as of, and for, thequ presented in this report;

4. The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contanld procedures (as definet
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) forelgestrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedures tlesigned under our supervisior
ensure that material information relating to thgisgrant, including its consolidated subsidiariesnade known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in whidfig report is being prepare

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sldgire controls and procedures and presentedsimeport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proces] as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation;

c¢) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmtsanternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the registrastmost recel
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal cpeain the case of an annual report) that has madlieaffected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registre’s internal control over financial reportir

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anbdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitiEregistrant’s board of directors (or persongquening the equivalent function):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contratiofmancial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize, and refpmahcial information; an

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmagement or other employees who have a significéain the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting

Date: March 31, 200¢

By: /s/ Mark C. Laytor
Chief Executive Office







EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

I, Tom Madden, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of PEBwINnC.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or améitate a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeker which such statements were made, not misigadth respect to the periods covered
by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operation aagtt flows of the registrant as of, and for, thequ presented in this report;

4. The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contanld procedures (as definet
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) forelgestrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedures tlesigned under our supervisior
ensure that material information relating to thgisgrant, including its consolidated subsidiariesnade known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in whidfig report is being prepare

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sldgire controls and procedures and presentedsimeport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proces] as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation;

c¢) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmtsanternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the registrastmost recel
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal cpeain the case of an annual report) that has madlieaffected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registre’s internal control over financial reportir

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anbdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitiEregistrant’s board of directors (or persongquening the equivalent function):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contratiofmancial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize, and refpmahcial information; an

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmagement or other employees who have a significéain the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting

Date: March 31, 200¢

By: /s/ Thomas J. Madde
Chief Financial Office!







EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-
OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to Section 906 of the SarbandeyCAct of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of Setti@50, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States
Code), each of the undersigned officers of PFSwveh (the “Company”), does hereby certify that:

The Annual Report on Form 10-K for thewyended December 31, 2005 (the “Form 10-K”) of@oenpany fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applécaif the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 andfi@mation contained in the Form 10-K
fairly presents, in all material respects, thefficial condition and results of operations of therpany as of, and for, the periods presented in
the Form 10-K.

March 31, 200¢ /s/ Mark C. Laytor

Mark C. Layton
Chief Executive Office

March 31, 200¢ /s/ Thomas J. Madde

Thomas J. Madde
Chief Financial Office

The foregoing certification is being furnished asexhibit to the Form 10-K pursuant to Item 60182)(of Regulation S-K and Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a)lndf Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, Udittates Code) and, accordingly, is not
being filed as part of the Form 10-K for purposéSection 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1@&4whether made before or after the date
hereof, regardless of any general incorporatiogdage in such filing.

A signed original of this written statement reqdil®y Section 906 has been provided to PFSwebaht will be retained by PFSweb, Inc. and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commissiats staff upon request.



